

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents A Synthesis of Research

Lisa A. Gennetian Greg J. Duncan Virginia W. Knox Wanda G. Vargas Elizabeth Clark-Kauffman Andrew S. London May 2002





The Next Generation Project

This report is part of the Next Generation, a project that examines the effects of welfare, antipoverty, and employment policies on children and families. Drawing on rich data from recent welfare reform evaluations, the project aims to inform the work of policymakers, practitioners, and researchers by identifying policy-relevant lessons that cut across evaluations.

Foundation partners

The Next Generation project is funded by the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, William T. Grant Foundation, and John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation.

Research partners

The project is a collaboration among researchers from MDRC, the University of Texas at Austin, Northwestern University, the University of California at Los Angeles, Kent State University, the University of Oregon, the University of Michigan, New York University, and the Social Research and Demonstration Corporation.

Project director

Virginia Knox, Senior Research Associate, MDRC, 16 East 34 St., New York, NY 10016 E-mail: virginia_knox@mdrc.org; phone: (212) 340-8678

www.mdrc.org/NextGeneration

Additional support for this document was provided by the Annie E. Casey Foundation.

Dissemination of MDRC publications is also supported by the following foundations that help finance MDRC's public policy outreach and expanding efforts to communicate the results and implications of our work to policymakers, practitioners, and others: The Atlantic Philanthropies; the Alcoa, Ambrose Monell, Ford, George Gund, Grable, New York Times Company, Starr, and Surdna Foundations; and the Open Society Institute.

For information about MDRC and copies of our publications, see our Web site: www.mdrc.org. MDRC[®] is a registered trademark of the Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.

Copyright © 2002 by the Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation. All rights reserved.

Overview

The federal law that overhauled the nation's welfare system in 1996 aimed to break the cycle of poverty through its effects not only on welfare recipients but also on their children. While it was feared that some of the policy changes might harm young children, it was generally believed that older children would benefit from new community norms and the presence of working parents as role models. But analyses from several MDRC studies released in recent years suggest that the new policies did not bring benefits to adolescents. With reauthorization of the 1996 law now under debate, the Next Generation project — an innovative collaboration among MDRC and other leading research institutions — has produced this research synthesis, the first comprehensive and systematic look at how welfare and work policies targeted at low-income parents have influenced their adolescent children. Using meta-analytic techniques, the work integrates survey data collected from parents in eight MDRC studies of 16 different welfare and employment programs, focusing on children aged 12 to 18 when the surveys were conducted; it also draws on ethnographic case studies to flesh out the quantitative findings.

In each study, some parents were randomly assigned to a program that included some combination of three key policies — mandatory employment activities, earnings supplements, and time limits on welfare receipt — while others were randomly assigned to a control group that was neither eligible for the program's services nor subject to its requirements. Random assignment ensures that any differences that emerged between the two groups — or their children — are attributable to the program. Although the studies examined programs that began operating before 1996, the three policies examined here have been adopted, in various combinations, in many states' programs since welfare reform was passed. Thus, this is the best body of evidence to date concerning how low-income adolescents fare as a result of policies aimed at increasing their parents' employment.

Key Findings

- When asked about their adolescent children, parents in the programs under study reported worse school performance, a higher rate of grade repetition, and more use of special educational services than did control group parents. On average, the programs did not, however, affect the proportion of adolescents who dropped out of, were suspended from, or completed school. There were likewise no overall differences between the program and control groups in the proportion of adolescents who had children. Girls and boys fared similarly on all the outcomes examined.
- No single one of the three policies under study could explain the programs' effects on adolescents. For instance, negative effects were observed both for the programs that required parents to work or to participate in work activities in order to receive welfare benefits and for the programs in which parents' work participation was purely voluntary.
- Adolescents with younger siblings experienced the most troubling effects. As well as showing larger unfavorable effects on school performance and receipt of special educational services than did the full sample, program group adolescents with younger siblings were more likely than their control group counterparts to be suspended or expelled from and to drop out of school — perhaps because they were also more likely to provide care for their siblings. Program group adolescents without younger siblings, in contrast, were more likely than their control group counterparts to participate in out-of-school activities and experienced few effects on school outcomes.

Together, the findings point to the challenges faced by low-income single parents who work — most of whom hold inflexible, unpredictable low-wage jobs — as well as the unmet child care needs associated with their employment. Possible strategies for mitigating the negative effects of welfare reform on adolescent children include reducing the need for them to assume adult responsibilities at home, ensuring that they have access to high-quality supervised activities outside school, and finding ways to resolve the conflicts that their low-income parents face in juggling parenthood and inflexible employment.

Contents

Overview	iii
List of Tables, Figures, and Boxes	vi
Preface	vii
Acknowledgments	ix
Introduction	1
How Welfare and Work Policies Can Affect Adolescents	3
The Studies	5
Experimental Studies	5
Ethnographic Study	11
The Effects of Welfare and Work Policies on Adolescents	12
Qualitative Findings from Interviews	12
Quantitative Findings from Surveys	15
Effects on Adolescents Entering Young Adulthood	23
 Why Do Welfare and Work Policies Affect Adolescents' School Outcomes? Do the effects depend on the policy approach? Do the effects depend on changes in maternal employment? What other family changes might influence the effects of maternal employment on adolescent children? Why do welfare and work policies affect adolescents differently than elementary school-aged children? 	24 25 28 30 44
Conclusions and Policy Implications	45
Appendixes	51
A. Adolescent Outcome Measures	53
B. Meta-Analytic Techniques	55
References	59
Recent Publications on MDRC Projects	64

Technical Resources

Amplifying on issues and findings in the report, the Technical Resources are available only on the Web at http://www.mdrc.org/Reports2002/ng_adolescent/ng_adolescent_tr.pdf

- Unit 1: Impacts on Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample
- Unit 2: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Gender
- Unit 3: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age
- Unit 4: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of a Younger Sibling in the Household
- Unit 5: Impacts on Parent and Family Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample

List of Tables, Figures, and Boxes

Table

1	Descriptions of the Studies and Programs	6
2	Overview of Average Effects on Adolescent Outcomes, Across Programs	16
3	Average Effects on School Performance, Grade Repetition, and Receipt of Special Educational Services, by Program and Across Programs	19
Figure	9	
1	Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, Across Programs	17
2	Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Key Policy Feature	26
3	Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Program Effect on Parental Income	33
4	Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of Younger Siblings in the Household	39
Box		
1	A Mother Juggles Her Aspirations to Work with a Need to Supervise Her Rebellious Daughter	31
2	A Mother's Stress from Work Breeds Resentment and Problem Behavior in Her Adolescents	35
3	Family Pressures Set Teen Sisters on Different Paths	37
4	As a Mother Joins the Work Force, Her Older Teen Faces His Own School and Work Choices	41

Preface

This document is part of the Next Generation project, a collaboration among researchers at MDRC and other leading research institutions that is aimed at building our understanding of how welfare, employment, and antipoverty policies affect low-income children and families. The benefits of the project's interdisciplinary approach, which integrates the work of social scientists and policy analysts from myriad fields, are apparent in the rich combination of quantitative and ethnographic analysis on display here.

The third in a series of research syntheses from the Next Generation project, this document provides the first comprehensive look at how welfare and work policies directed at increasing employment among low-income parents affect their adolescent children using data from several recent random assignment studies conducted by MDRC. The results have led to the surprising conclusion that, unlike elementary school-aged children, adolescents whose parents were subject to these policies fared worse than their control group counterparts. Although the effects were small when averaged across programs, all three policies examined in this document — mandatory employment services, earnings supplements, and welfare time limits — had negative effects on some adolescent school outcomes. A closer look reveals that the detrimental effects were concentrated among adolescents who had younger siblings, suggesting that the responsibilities adolescents face at home or even the size of their families may be important in determining how these effects play out.

This research synthesis demonstrates why social programs need rigorous evaluation and why evaluations should cast the net widely. Several years ago, state and federal officials and social scientists concerned with welfare reform's effects on children decided to emphasize studying younger children as opposed to adolescents. As it turns out, the results concerning both age groups have attracted keen interest, serving to inform policymakers and researchers alike.

The present findings underscore the importance of understanding the chain of effects connecting policies targeted at adults and the well-being of their children. The policy implications depend crucially on the reasons behind the negative adolescent effects. If a lack of maternal supervision is the main problem, then more access to high-quality structured activities for adolescents while mothers are working could help. If adolescents' responsibility for the care of younger siblings is the culprit, however, then younger children's needs would have to be addressed for teens to be able to take advantage of such positive opportunities. Finally, if the problem is that single mothers who work face job inflexibility that prevents them from keeping their children on track in school, then changes in the welfare system or in employers' policies may offer the best chance of a solution.

These are the kinds of complex issues that the Next Generation project's interdisciplinary approach allows us to address. As welfare and employment policies evolve at the federal, state, and local levels, we will continue to bring rigorous research evidence to bear on how these policies are shaping the lives of the next generation.

> Gordon Berlin Senior Vice President

Acknowledgments

Since its inception, the Next Generation project has benefited from the support and vision of its foundation funding partners — the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, the William T. Grant Foundation, and the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation. Support for this synthesis work on adolescents has also been provided by the Annie E. Casey Foundation.

The analyses underlying this document rely on data from program evaluations conducted by our colleagues at MDRC and their research collaborators. We are grateful to the studies' original sponsors for permitting us to analyze the data for the purpose of drawing crossstudy policy lessons. The underlying evaluations were supported by numerous federal agencies, state agencies, and foundations, which are acknowledged by name in the individual evaluation reports.

The Next Generation project is particularly indebted to officials at the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) and the Administration for Children and Families (ACF), both part of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, for the foresight and leadership they provided throughout the original evaluations. ASPE helped pioneer research on welfare and employment programs' effects on children by collecting information on children's outcomes in the National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies (NEWWS). ACF developed the Project on State-Level Child Outcomes, a current effort to include comparable measures of children's well-being in five state welfare reform studies.

At MDRC, Pamela Morris began the adolescent synthesis work presented here and provided advice throughout the course of its completion, while Howard Bloom provided invaluable guidance on our conceptualization of the meta-analytic work. Ellen Scott of Oregon State University and Kathryn Edin of Northwestern University contributed to the insights gleaned in the qualitative research, and Susan Clampet-Lundquist of the University of Pennsylvania and Kristy Harris of Kent State University prepared summaries of the qualitative case studies. A number of additional reviewers provided comments on earlier drafts of this report. Judith Gueron, Gordon Berlin, Charles Michalopoulos, and Gayle Hamilton of MDRC, Aletha Huston of the University of Texas, and Hirokazu Yoshikawa of New York University offered important feedback at various stages of the analysis and writing. Mark Lipsey of Vanderbilt University deserves special thanks for his willingness to offer his expert guidance on metaanalytic methods on short notice. We would also like to thank Howard Rolston of ACF, J. Lawrence Aber of Columbia University, Jennifer Brooks of Child Trends, Jodie Levin-Epstein of the Center for Law and Social Policy, and participants in a series of Washington, DC, briefings for their helpful perspectives on the results and their interpretation. John Wallace played a central role in disseminating this information to policymakers by spearheading the briefings.

We also gratefully acknowledge Chris Rodrigues of MDRC for his research assistance throughout the production of this synthesis and Jared Smith and Tracey Hoy of MDRC and Bessie Wilkerson of Northwestern University for their analytical assistance. Valerie M. Chase edited the document, and Stephanie Cowell did the word-processing.

The Authors

Introduction

Employment among low-income parents increased dramatically during the 1990s, fueled by trends such as the booming economy and passage in 1996 of the federal welfare reform law, the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation Act (PRWORA). Particularly in light of new welfare policies that encourage or require low-income single parents the large majority of whom are women — to work, there is keen interest in the question of whether and how children are affected by changes in maternal employment.¹

Most research on this question has focused on preschool- and elementary school-aged children because they are viewed as especially vulnerable to rises in maternal employment and drops in family income. The effects on adolescent children have received less attention. One reason may be that many policymakers assume that welfare reform's new work participation mandates, supports for working parents (such as earnings supplements and child care subsidies), and time limits on federal cash welfare receipt will, if anything, promote adolescents' development into healthy, productive adults. In particular, some have argued that as community norms change in response to welfare reform, adolescents will benefit from exposure to its strong messages regarding personal responsibility and to working parents as role models. But other possibilities lurk: Increased employment among low-income mothers could keep them from playing as much of a supervisory role in their children's lives and place excessive demands on adolescents at a crucial point in their development. It is difficult to predict how adolescents will respond to changes wrought by new welfare and work policies.

Congress is due to reauthorize the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) program — which PRWORA established in place of Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) — this year. With an eye to informing the debate about modifying the law, this research synthesis examines how welfare and employment policies have influenced recipients' adolescent children using data from eight studies of 16 different programs. The goal of this document is to use the best body of evidence available to address the following questions: What are the effects on adolescents of welfare and work policies designed to increase employment among their parents? Do the effects last into young adulthood? What drives the effects? What are the implications for policy?

Rounding out a series that began with analyses focused on adults and younger children,² this synthesis of findings on adolescents was produced as part of the Next Generation

¹Because most of these parents are women, they are sometimes referred to in this document as mothers or by using feminine pronouns.

²Bloom and Michalopoulos, 2001; Morris et al., 2001.

project, an innovative collaboration among researchers at the Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation (MDRC), several other leading research institutions, and the foundation funding partners. The aim of the Next Generation project is to understand the effects of welfare and employment policies on low-income children and families. Like the earlier work in this series, the present analysis stands on the shoulders of a uniquely rigorous and comprehensive set of experimental studies conducted by MDRC from the 1980s through the present.

All eight studies examined here used a random assignment research design, widely considered the best way to estimate the effects of social policies and programs. In each study, each parent was randomly assigned either to a program group, which was eligible for the services and subject to the requirements of the program under study, or to a control group, which was not. Assigning people to research groups by chance ensures that there are no differences, on average, between program group members and control group members — or the two groups' children — at the outset of the study. Therefore, any differences that subsequently emerge between the two groups — whether with respect to parents' earnings, children's social behavior, or any other outcome — can be confidently attributed to the program being tested rather than to demographic or other factors.

Since all the evaluations examined here began prior to the 1996 federal welfare reform legislation and the establishment of TANF, it is important to note that this document does not provide a summary of the effects of current TANF policies on adolescents. It does make an important contribution to welfare reform policy discussions and policymakers' understanding of how policies and programs targeted at low-income parents affect children and youth, however, because the evaluations looked at policies that have since been incorporated, in various combinations, into most state welfare programs. Moreover, thanks to their random assignment designs, these studies offer direct evidence about how particular policy interventions aimed at affecting parental employment, welfare use, and family income affect adolescent well-being.

To complement data from the experimental studies, this synthesis also draws on data gathered from interviews with low-income mothers conducted as part of MDRC's Project on Devolution and Urban Change, which examines how low-income urban families have fared since TANF's passage. The in-depth, open-ended interviews discussed in this document took place between 1997 and 2001 and included mothers in Cleveland and Philadelphia who received welfare and lived in high-poverty neighborhoods.

For low-income adolescents, the stakes in the welfare reform and other social policy debates are high. These youth are already less likely than their higher-income counterparts to complete high school and become successful young adults. It is clearly important to design policies that promote their development or — at a minimum — leave them no worse off.

How Welfare and Work Policies Can Affect Adolescents

In the literature, hypotheses abound about how welfare and work policies like those examined here, which are targeted at adults, can indirectly affect younger children.³ There is now considerable evidence that reforms that increase parents' economic security especially can have important positive consequences for their elementary school-aged children.⁴ Specifically, programs that increased family income (through higher employment) or increased stable employment improved outcomes such as school achievement for this group of children, perhaps owing to positive changes in the home environment or in child care experiences.⁵

One study of a program that encouraged employment among single-parent welfare recipients revealed — alongside benefits for elementary school-aged children — unexpected negative effects for adolescents; in particular, the adolescent children of parents in this program were more likely than their control group counterparts to engage in minor delinquency and to use tobacco, alcohol, or drugs.⁶ The results of this study were the first to highlight the potentially important role of age and stage of development in influencing the effects on children of welfare and work policies targeted at parents.

The key policies under examination here — mandatory employment services, earnings supplements, and welfare time limits, all described in more detail in the next section — are designed to raise maternal employment levels and family income and to reduce receipt of public assistance, and some are also designed to raise family income. As is the case for elementary school-aged children, adolescents might be affected by these policies through changes in families' financial resources, parental stress, the amount of time that parents spend away from the family, or exposure to new role models. Moreover, prior research has shown that adolescent outcomes are affected by changes in family structure⁷ and residential or school changes, ⁸ which in turn can be affected by welfare and work policies. Adolescence is a period of dramatic physical and emotional transition, marked by puberty and new expectations with regard to behavior, responsibility, self-awareness, and independence. It has been argued that learning to be productive and economically self-sufficient and to form healthy social relationships is central to successful adolescent development.⁹ The effects of welfare and work policies on adolescents are

³See, for example, Child Trends, 1999; Huston, 2002; and Morris et al., 2001.

⁴Morris et al., 2001; Zaslow et al., 2002.

⁵For further discussion on some of these possible pathways based on findings from the studies included in this synthesis, see Morris, Scott, and London (forthcoming) and Huston and Gennetian (forthcoming).

⁶Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000.

⁷Hill, Yeung, and Duncan, 2001.

⁸See www.mtoresearch.org.

⁹Connell, Aber, and Walker, 1995.

likely to hinge on the interaction between the changes in adolescents' lives caused by these policies and the developmental processes of adolescence.

It has been hypothesized that welfare and work policies might affect adolescents negatively if, as their mothers' work effort increases, they are more often left unsupervised or increasingly required to assume adult responsibilities such as being employed more than part time.¹⁰ Previous nonexperimental research has indeed found that greater parental monitoring of adolescent children is associated with less problem behavior,¹¹ lower levels of drug or alcohol abuse,¹² and higher levels of academic achievement.¹³ Furthermore, although adolescents may not benefit from all types of supervised out-of-school activities,¹⁴ participation in high-quality, structured activities outside school is associated with better adolescent outcomes.¹⁵

While taking on adult roles may afford adolescents greater autonomy and an improved self-image, it may also disrupt their schooling or encourage them to engage in delinquent behavior. Having paid employment, for example, may make adolescents more employable as adults, but it also increases the likelihood of their being exposed to and encouraged to engage in adult behaviors such as smoking, drinking, and drug use and of having conflicts or disagreements with their parents.¹⁶ The negative consequences have been found to be particularly pronounced among adolescents who work for pay more than 20 hours per week.¹⁷ In discussing two other studies that likewise revealed a pattern of negative effects on adolescents,¹⁸ one set of authors proposed that welfare and work policies not only might reduce the amount of supervision that adolescents receive and cause them to take on more adult responsibilities but also might decrease the quality of adolescent-parent interactions.¹⁹

In summary, findings of negative effects on adolescents from multiple program evaluations conducted in the past two years have generated a number of hypotheses about how adolescents might be affected by welfare and work policies. This document strives to provide comprehensive experimental evidence on the effects of welfare and work policies on adolescent outcomes and to test hypotheses about what drives the effects. A detailed presentation of the hy-

¹⁰Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000. These authors also found support for their hypothesis.

¹¹Patterson, Bank, and Stoolmiller, 1990.

¹²Chilcoat and Anthony, 1996.

¹³Baker and Stevenson, 1986.

¹⁴See, for example, Mahoney and Stattin, 2000; Mahoney, Stattin, and Magnusson, 2001.

¹⁵Pettit et al., 1999; Posner and Vandell, 1994, 1999.

¹⁶National Academy of Sciences, 1998.

¹⁷Mortimer et al., 1996; Steinberg and Dornbusch, 1991.

¹⁸One was a study of the Family Transition Program (Bloom et al., 2000), and the other was a study of the Minnesota Family Investment Program (Gennetian and Miller, 2000).

¹⁹Brooks, Hair, and Zaslow, 2001.

potheses examined in this report and an expanded discussion of the relevant literature are provided in the second half of this document.

The Studies

Experimental Studies

Table 1 provides a summary of the eight experimental studies examined in this paper. All begun in the early to mid-1990s, the studies were conducted to estimate the effects on lowincome families of programs designed primarily to increase parental employment. Many were pilot programs tested by individual states under waivers of AFDC program rules. Twelve of the programs required parents to work or to participate in work-related activities in order to receive welfare; eight offered earnings supplements to parents who worked (six of them while allowing parents to continue receiving welfare benefits); and two put time limits on the length of time that families could receive welfare. Table 1 highlights the key policy features tested in these studies and shows that some of the programs used more than one of the three key policies in combination. Each policy is now described in detail:

- Mandatory employment services. The programs with mandatory employment services required parents to work or to participate in an activity designed to enhance their employability, such as job search or education and training. To enforce the mandate to participate, the programs could use a sanction; that is, if a parent did not comply with work requirements, the program could reduce her family's welfare grant.²⁰ The goal of programs with participation mandates was to increase welfare recipients' employment and employability; raising their income was not an explicit goal.
- 2. Earnings supplements. The programs with earnings supplements tried to "make work pay" by providing extra income to parents who received welfare and who were or became voluntarily employed. These work incentives took the form of a cash supplement tied to full-time work (such as in the New Hope Project and the Self-Sufficiency Project) or an earned income disregard, that is, a reduction in the amount of a parent's earnings that was deducted from her family's welfare grant relative to the deduction required under AFDC rules (such as in the Minnesota Family Investment Program). These programs aimed explicitly to increase both employment and income.

²⁰In the programs discussed here, the sanction could take the form of a partial grant reduction, not a full-grant reduction as many states allow today.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 1

Descriptions of the Studies and Programs

		Key l	Policy Feature	es	_	When Study	Minimum	
Study	Program(s) Tested	Mandatory Employment Services	Earnings Supplement	Time s Limits	Site(s)	Began and Length of Follow-Up	Sample Size and Age Composition	Primary Source(s)
National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies (NEWWS)	Human Capital Development (HCD) and Labor Force Attachment (LFA)	✓			Atlanta, GA; Grand Rapids, MI; and Riverside, CA	1991 60 months	2,397 adolescents aged 15 to 18 at follow-up	Hamilton et al., 2002
	mixed initial activities	\checkmark			Portland, OR			
Los Angeles Jobs- First Greater Avenues for Independence (GAIN) Evaluation	Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	✓			Los Angeles County	1996 24 months	461 adolescents aged 12 to 18 at follow-up	Freedman et al., 2000
Minnesota Family Investment Program	Full MFIP for long-term recipients	\checkmark	√		Seven counties in Minnesota	1994 36 months	796 adolescents aged 13 to 18 at time of	Gennetian and Miller, 2000
(MFIP) Evaluation	Full MFIP for recent applicants	\checkmark	\checkmark					
	MFIP Incentives Only for long- term recipients		\checkmark				follow-up	
Self-Sufficiency Project (SSP) Evaluation	Self-Sufficiency Project		✓		Two Canadian provinces	1992 36 months	868 adolescents aged 13 to 18 at follow-up	Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000

6

(continued)

Table 1 (continued)

		Key	Policy Features	3		When Study	Minimum	
		Mandatory				Began and	Sample Size	
		Employment	t Earnings	Time		Length of	and Age	Primary
Study	Program(s) Tested	Services	Supplements	Limits	Site(s)	Follow-Up	Composition	Source(s)
New Hope Project	New Hope Demonstration		~		Milwaukee, WI	1994 24 months	274 adolescents aged 12 to 18 at follow-up	Bos et al., 1999; and Bos and Vargas, 2002
Welfare Restructuring	WRP Incentives Only		\checkmark		Six welfare districts in Vermont	1994	496	Bloom, Hendra,
Project (WRP) Evaluation	Full WRP	✓ ^a	~			42 months	adolescents aged 13.5 to 18 at follow- up	and Michalopoulos, 2000
Family Transition Program (FTP) Evaluation	Family Transition Program	✓	~	~	Escambia County, FL	1994 48 months	415 adolescents aged 14 to 18 at follow-up	Bloom et al., 2000
Jobs First Evaluation	Jobs First	~	4	✓	New Haven and Manchester, CT	1996 36 months	862 adolescents aged 13 to 18 at follow-up	Bloom et al., 2002

NOTE: ^aThis feature of Full WRP is more accurately described as a time-triggered work requirement.

3. **Time limits.** The programs that imposed time limits on cash assistance receipt aimed to make welfare receipt temporary, initially by encouraging families to leave welfare and eventually by requiring them to do so. PRWORA set a lifetime limit of five years on federally funded cash assistance receipt, but states may shorten or extend time limits as well as exempt certain families. All the programs with time limits also included mandatory employment services and earnings supplements.

As seen in Table 1, some of the studies generated multiple estimates of program effects because (1) they tested more than one program model or a single model that was implemented in more than one site or (2) they calculated results for subgroups of people in the studies rather than for the whole sample. The National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies (NEWWS), for example, looked at seven programs operated in four sites, while the Minnesota Family Investment Program (MFIP) evaluation examined two different programs, each of which was operated in several urban counties. One of the MFIP programs (MFIP Incentives Only) offered only an earnings supplement, while the other (Full MFIP) combined the earnings supplement offer with mandatory employment services; this document investigates the effects of Full MFIP on two groups of families — long-term welfare recipients and recent applicants (those who had received welfare for less than two years cumulatively before entering the study) — and the effects of MFIP Incentives Only on long-term recipients only.²¹ The Vermont Welfare Restructuring Project (WRP) also tested two programs, one that offered an earnings supplement alone (WRP Incentives Only) and another that combined an earnings supplement with a timetriggered work requirement (Full WRP); recipients in the latter program were required to work in order to remain eligible for welfare after receiving benefits for a certain period of time. Because each of these three studies yielded multiple estimates of effects, the analyses in this synthesis are based on up to 17 estimates per adolescent outcome — depending on data availability.

Sample. The present analysis looks at adolescents who were roughly 10 to 16 years old at the time their families entered the studies and 12 to 18 years old when the follow-up survey data used here were collected.²² By focusing on adolescents in this age range, this analysis maximizes the comparability of results across studies and minimizes the overlap between the samples examined here and the samples of elementary school-aged children whose results have been synthesized elsewhere.²³

²¹Miller et al., 2000.

²²Because the sample is limited to children who were 12 to 18 at the time of the survey interview, the results for individual evaluations presented here may differ from those presented in the individual evaluation reports.

²³See Morris et al. (2001), who examined children in the same studies who were aged roughly 2 to 9 at study entry.

Depending on the study, the length of the follow-up period ranges from 24 months to 60 months after random assignment and covers different stretches of the calendar period from 1991 to 1999. Thus, all the studies were conducted during a period of economic growth during which there was an unusual amount of public discussion about welfare reform and its new requirements. Because the age range of the adolescents included in the analysis varies with the length of follow-up (Table 1), not all the samples span the full age range of 10 to 16 at study entry. Nevertheless, all the adolescents examined here fell within this range. For example, because NEWWS had a five-year follow-up period, the sample of adolescents from that study who are included in this document is restricted to those who were 10 to 13 at study entry and therefore 15 to 18 at the study's five-year follow-up point.

Analyses were conducted for the full adolescent sample and separately for age and gender subgroups. Previous research has shown that the effects of key program-related events, such as the mother's entry into employment, can depend on when they occur in a child's life.²⁴ Research has also shown that many of the processes involved in normal adolescent development differ markedly between boys and girls.²⁵

Measures. All the studies collected follow-up data during in-home or telephone surveys that asked parents to provide information about a variety of family outcomes, from detailed employment histories to measures of material hardship, family composition, and child care. The percentage of sample members who responded to these follow-up surveys was generally about 80 percent. Although the child-related questions on the surveys focused on preschoolaged and elementary school-aged children, they also included some questions about all children in the family, including adolescents. Most pertained to children's school outcomes (such as school performance and grade repetition) and school-related behavior.²⁶ Although several studies measured teen parenting, only the Self-Sufficiency Project (SSP) collected additional information about adolescents' behavior outside school, such as smoking, drinking, and staying out late; and getting into fights.

In all the studies but SSP, which also included teacher reports, outcomes for adolescents were measured using maternal reports. At first, this may appear to be a problem because adolescents may not share information about all their activities with their parents, and parents may understand things differently than their adolescents do. Maternal misreporting is unlikely to compromise the experimental comparisons made here, however, because there is no reason to think the prevalence of misreporting differs between research groups; for example, even if mothers have a tendency to overestimate their children's school performance, as long as pro-

²⁴Graber and Brooks-Gunn, 1999; Sessa and Steinberg, 1991.

²⁵Eccles, 1999.

²⁶The present analysis excludes measures of health and safety because of limited data availability.

gram and control group mothers show this tendency to an equal extent, estimates of the program's effect on school performance will be unbiased. Moreover, most of the measures relate to important events or conditions in adolescents' lives (such as dropping out of school or repeating a grade) about which their parents are likely to know. Finally, for some outcomes, there is evidence that maternal reports are consistent with other measures. For example, in the SSP study, mothers' assessments of their adolescent children's school performance were moderately correlated with adolescents' actual performance on achievement tests (Appendix A).

Some aspects of adolescent well-being were assessed only at the time of the final (or, in the studies that are still under way, the most recent) follow-up point. Others, such as grade repetition, were assessed more than once during the last couple of years of the follow-up period. These and other details about the measures used in the present analysis are described in Appendix A.

Methods. As discussed in the first section, all eight studies used a random assignment research design. In each study, the heads of low-income households in a given location — most of them welfare recipients²⁷ — were randomly assigned to a program group or a control group. Whereas each program group was eligible for the services and subject to the requirements of the program under study, the control group was not; in most of the studies, control group members remained under the AFDC system. As pointed out earlier, when people are randomly assigned to research groups, any differences between them — or their children — that appear later can be confidently attributed to the fact that some of them were enrolled in the program while others were not. Based on this logic, the difference between the two groups with respect to an outcome (for instance, parents' average earnings or children's social behavior) is an estimate of the program's effect, or impact, on that outcome. To increase the precision of the estimates, the impacts were estimated in a regression framework, controlling for a variety of baseline characteristics, including the parent's age, education level, employment history, and family composition; adjustments were also made to the standard errors of the impact estimates to take account of the fact that some child in the sample.

All the program impacts were tested for statistical significance, as were some of the differences between subgroup impacts. In this document, an impact is considered statistically significant if, based on the results of a statistical test,²⁸ the probability that it occurred by chance is found to be less than 10 percent or less. Unless otherwise noted, all the impacts discussed in the text are statistically significant. In the figures and tables, asterisks or dagger symbols are used to flag the statistically significant impacts; the larger the number of symbols next to an impact, the less likely the impact is to be due to chance.

²⁷Most of the studies also included welfare applicants and/or other low-income families, but for simplicity sample members are often referred to as "welfare recipients" in this document.

²⁸In most cases, this was a two-tailed t-test.

To draw overall conclusions about the effects of welfare and work policies on adolescents, this research synthesis combines the results for individual programs using meta-analytic methods described in Appendix B. In brief, each program's impact on each measure was converted to an effect size — that is, divided by the control group standard deviation — and a weighted average of the effect sizes across programs was computed. This procedure yielded, for each measure, the average outcome for the program groups and the average outcome for the control groups. Each average effect size was tested for statistical significance and then converted back to the original metric — usually percentage points. To glean a better understanding of the factors that may account for the average impacts, the variation in impacts across different types of programs and different adolescent subgroups was also analyzed.

This meta-analytic approach is an improvement over that adopted in earlier, less systematic attempts to summarize results across these studies. It is important to keep in mind, however, that although the techniques used here allow for summarization and statistical testing of patterns of effects, they cannot attain the same level of rigor as would be possible if one large random assignment experiment were conducted.

Ethnographic Study

The ethnographic data included in this report reflect preliminary analyses aimed at understanding how adolescents fared as their mothers adjusted to the participation mandates, work incentives, and time limits introduced by welfare reform in 1996.²⁹ All the data were supplied by mothers; no children were interviewed directly. Although these data do not afford the kinds of quantitative impact estimates that the experimental studies do, they complement the findings from the meta-analysis by illustrating some of the dynamic processes that underlie both positive and negative outcomes among adolescents.³⁰

The ethnographic case studies were constructed using longitudinal data collected under the auspices of the Urban Change project in Cleveland and Philadelphia.³¹ At the initiation of that study, three neighborhoods that met specific poverty, welfare receipt, and racial composi-

²⁹Out of the 40 households in Cleveland that were still in the study at the second follow-up point, 13 had a child who was aged 12 to 17 at study entry; the total number of children in this age range was 17. In most cases, the adolescent was the oldest of several children still living in the household. In Philadelphia, eight households had a child aged 12 to 18 at study entry and were included in the sample for this analysis. Not all the data related to adolescents in the Urban Change sample have yet been analyzed.

³⁰For additional ethnographic studies of welfare reform's effects on children, see the Next Generation project's working papers series at www.mdrc.org/NextGeneration.

³¹Los Angeles and Miami are the other two counties included in the Urban Change project. For additional details on the study design, see Quint et al., 1999.

tion criteria were identified in each city.³² By posting flyers and going door to door in the neighborhoods as well as taking referrals from social service agencies, ethnographers in Cleveland and Philadelphia recruited approximately 15 welfare-reliant women from each neighborhood to participate in the study and completed multiple follow-up interviews with all 75 women. Over the period from late 1997 to late 2001, the women in Cleveland participated in four annual interviews, and the women in Philadelphia participated in three annual interviews. Shorter interim interviews were also conducted with the women in each site. All the interviews were tape-recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis.

The Effects of Welfare and Work Policies on Adolescents

Qualitative Findings from Interviews

To illustrate some of the processes by which adolescents may be affected by their mothers' transitions from welfare to work or longer work hours, this section starts by presenting three ethnographic case studies that provide rich, contextualized accounts of changes in mothers' and adolescents' lives.

The first case is Denise,³³ a 32-year-old African-American mother living in Philadelphia who had sons aged 9 and 12 when the interviews began. When she first enrolled in the study, Denise was working two part-time jobs without benefits during the school year — one at the school board and the other at a local university — and was unemployed during the summer. Denise stayed at these jobs for the first two years of the study, at which time she quit both for a full-time job with benefits. Around the same time, Denise married a man she had been living with for a while, so two incomes were supporting the household.

Denise felt positive about working because she felt she was setting an example for her sons. She believed her working would give them an incentive to work themselves when they became adults. In her words, "[They'll think,] 'Oh, well, she got up and she went out here, and she did what she had to do and . . . she's not out, hanging out, running the streets, you know, doing drugs and parties and all that." She also thought her sons felt "happy" because she felt good about herself when she worked. At the same time, Denise expressed concern throughout the study about how her working severely curtailed the amount of time she spent with her chil-

³²In each city, two neighborhoods where between 30 percent and 39 percent of families lived at or below the poverty level and at least 20 percent of families received welfare were identified — one that was predominantly white and one that was predominantly African-American; a third, predominantly African-American neighborhood where more than 40 percent of residents lived in poverty was also identified. For purposes of the study, neighborhoods were defined as one to four contiguous census tracts and therefore do not necessarily map onto neighborhoods as otherwise defined.

³³Pseudonyms are used in all the case studies presented in this document.

dren, saying that she would only "see them in passing." Moreover, her work schedule prevented her from attending parent-teacher conferences at her oldest son's school. She said: "A lot of times the meetings is at night, and I can't make them. Like, my older son, I haven't met his teachers yet. And I feel kinda bad about that." Additionally, she could not be with her children when they came home from school to help them with their homework.

Denise's shift at her new, full-time job, from 3:30 P.M. to 11:30 P.M., also affected her ability to monitor her sons in the neighborhood. She reported that when they returned home from school, her sons would hang out with their friends or go to their grandfather's house down the street. They were responsible for dinner preparation (unless they ate at their grandfather's), their homework, and other chores. Denise worried about negative activities that her sons could get involved in as a result of her not being around to monitor them: "By me working at night, a lot of things is happening out here and I have boys. You know, so I'm leery about that. . . . I worry at times when I be at work." Her concern seemed well founded, as she and her sons lived in an extremely poor neighborhood struggling with drug trafficking and violence. Ultimately, concern about her sons' hanging out on the corner convinced her to change her shift to 12 A.M. to 8 A.M., so that she could be around to monitor them more. Despite her concerns about monitoring, Denise claimed that working full time did not have as negative an impact on her sons as it might have had had her sons been younger.

Many aspects of Denise's case appear to confirm welfare reform proponents' positive expectations regarding how new work requirements would affect adolescent children. Like many other women in the ethnographic study, she subscribed to the idea that work enhanced her self-esteem and that by working she served as a positive role model for her children.³⁴ The time crunch she mentioned is familiar even to more advantaged parents, although in her case it resulted in a potentially risky amount of unsupervised time for her children and a lack of connection between her and her children's teachers. Still, Denise felt that her employment was not harming her sons overall.

Gayle, a 38-year-old white single mother living in Cleveland, was not happy with how her employment was influencing her only child, Jane. Although Gayle had as associate's degree in administrative assistance from a community college when she entered the Urban Change study, she was unable to find a job in that field and began working at a local thrift store for minimum wage between the first and second interviews. Gayle was not satisfied with this job but took it because of welfare reform's work requirements, and she later left welfare. Ultimately, she lost the job and cycled back onto welfare for a while.

³⁴Scott, Edin, London, and Mazelis, 2001; London, Scott, Edin, and Hunter, 2001.

During the fourth interview, Gayle indicated that Jane, who was 9 when her mother entered the study, was having serious problems in school — in particular, she was skipping school frequently. Formerly a student who got Cs or better, Jane was now getting Ds and Fs. Partly because Gayle had been working, she didn't know exactly how much school Jane had missed. Gayle was afraid to confront her daughter or ask the school about the problem: "It's all gonna come down on me and I'm not ready to deal with it. I don't think I should be punished for that." Gayle was also frustrated because she believed Jane would go to school every day if Gayle were home more often and were more available to monitor her daughter's whereabouts.

Unlike Denise, Gayle clearly felt that work interfered with her ability to parent. Whether work itself was really to blame for Jane's declining school performance is difficult to determine. Disengagement from school is widespread among adolescents in all social strata, and Jane might have started having problems in school even if her mother hadn't gone to work. Nevertheless, work most likely limited the amount of time Gayle could monitor her daughter's behavior and perhaps also Gayle's ability to seek help with Jane's problems in school.

The third case study features Tina, a 35-year-old African-American mother of six living in Philadelphia. Tina's experiences highlight a different set of employment-related problems encountered by parents who receive welfare. Because of Tina's work schedule, the three oldest of her children who were still living at home had to take care of her two youngest children. This added responsibility cut into her older children's free time and appeared to hurt the school performance of Tamara, her eldest daughter. Tamara was responsible for waiting with the younger children for the van that took them to their daycare center. Because the van typically came late, Tamara was usually 20 to 30 minutes late for school. As her mother put it: "She's late every day for her school, every day. And what the school says to me is . . . they gotta do what they, what's their policy. She's gotta stay after school, do her detention . . . or she'll lose her credit out of her, out of that morning class 'cause she didn't get there on time. So she feels sad and I feel bad because I gotta be at work at 7. She can't be at school by 7 — she can't. We all can't be at the same place at the same time." Tina suffered tremendous guilt for imposing on her older children a responsibility that she felt was properly her own.

These cases illustrate some of the myriad ways in which mothers' transitions to work and longer work hours in the wake of welfare reform might affect their adolescent children. Although Jane and Tamara both developed school attendance problems after their mothers became employed, for Jane the problem was her behavior, which may have worsened as a result of the reduction in her mother's time for parenting, whereas for Tamara new child care responsibilities got in the way. For Denise's sons, in contrast, the impacts of maternal employment seemed to be more positive than negative. The processes by which work demands translate into changes in adolescent well-being also appear to be diverse. For example, unlike the other two mothers, Denise pointed to the psychological benefits of work for herself and, through role modeling, for her two sons. And although all three mothers reported having less time to spend monitoring and supervising their children and connecting with their children's teachers, the consequences differed from family to family. For Tamara, unlike the children in the other two families, the decrease in her mother's free time meant taking on responsibilities that conflicted with school. Additional ethnographic data are introduced at various points in this document to further illustrate the processes by which the welfare and work programs under study might have affected adolescent outcomes.

With the context of these three case studies in mind, the following presentation of the data for the 16 programs included in the meta-analysis explores both the effects of the programs on adolescent outcomes and the processes that might have driven the effects.

Quantitative Findings from Surveys

Table 2 summarizes the impacts of the programs on adolescents' school outcomes, including school performance, grade repetition, high school dropout, receipt of special educational services,³⁵ and suspensions.³⁶ Most of this information is presented graphically in Figure 1. Not all the studies measured all the outcomes; the number of programs for which data were available for each outcome ranges from 9 to 15, giving rise to 10 to 16 program-control group comparisons — or impact estimates — per outcome. The total number of adolescents represented in each impact estimate varies, but it is at least several thousand in every case.

Noteworthy in Table 2 is the absence of favorable impacts across the school outcomes. The average outcomes for adolescents whose parents were in the programs were no better than those for control group adolescents on any of the available school measures. Instead, for five of the outcomes, three of which measure school performance, adolescents in the program groups performed significantly worse than adolescents in the control groups.

Reports of school performance, provided in most of the studies by mothers, show the largest and most consistent unfavorable effects. The school performance impact averaged across 10 programs was -0.12 points (on a scale ranging from 1 to 5, where 5 meant "very well" and 1 meant "not well at all"), corresponding to an effect size of -0.11 — or about one-tenth of a standard deviation. Further examination of the effects on the distribution of this measure shows that the programs reduced the percentage of mothers who reported that their adolescents had above-average school performance (from 56 percent in the control groups to 52 percent in the

³⁵This outcome was measured using mothers' responses to the following question: "Did your child attend a special class or special school or get special help in school for any physical, emotional, or mental condition?" Adolescents whose mothers responded affirmatively were considered to have received special educational services.

³⁶For detailed impacts, see the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 2

Overview of Average Effects on Adolescent Outcomes, Across Programs

					Standard Error of	Number of	
Outcome	Program Groups	Control Groups	Impact ^a	Effect Size	Effect Size	Estimates	
School performance ^b	3.58	3.71	-0.12 ***	-0.11	0.03	10	
Performed below average in school (%)	16.34	14.26	2.08 *	0.06	0.03	10	
Performed above average in school (%)	52.20	55.93	-3.72 ***	-0.08	0.03	10	
Repeated a grade (%)	19.15	17.09	2.07 **	0.06	0.03	15	
Received special educational services (%)	14.78	13.22	1.56 *	0.05	0.03	12	
Suspended or expelled (%)	28.38	28.89	-0.51	-0.01	0.03	13	
Dropped out (%)	9.79	9.13	0.66	0.02	0.02	16	
Had or fathered a baby (%)	8.63	8.80	-0.17	-0.01	0.03	11	

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

^aThe percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates.

^bSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescsents

Figure 1

Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, Across Programs



SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; *** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this figure.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

The percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates.

program groups) and slightly increased the percentage of mothers who reported that their adolescents had below-average school performance (from 14 percent in the control groups to 16 percent in the program groups).

Table 3 shows the overall average impacts (bottom row) and each individual program's impacts (preceding rows) on various measures of school progress.³⁷ Of the nine programs examined in the seven studies that measured adolescents' school performance, six lowered performance, although only three had statistically significant impacts on this outcome. To find out whether the average effect concealed differences across programs, a statistical procedure was used to test for homogeneity of effects;³⁸ the results of this test indicated that there is indeed a general pattern of negative impacts on adolescents' school performance (in other words, the average effect was not driven by just a couple of the programs).

The programs' average impacts on grade repetition and receipt of special educational services were also unfavorable. Table 3 shows that the impacts on grade repetition were unfavorable in nine of the 15 comparisons (three of the nine were statistically significant). The average effect size is a statistically significant 0.06, equivalent to a 2.1 percentage point increase in the percentage of adolescents who repeated a grade in the program groups relative to that in the control groups. For receipt of special services for an emotional, physical, or mental condition, the impacts were unfavorable in eight of the 12 comparisons (three of the eight were statistically significant), although in one case the impact was favorable. The overall impact had an 0.05 effect size, which corresponds to a 1.6 percentage point increase in the percentage of adolescents who were receiving special educational services in the program groups relative to that in the control groups. The results of the test for homogeneity of effects indicated that there is also a general pattern of negative impacts on grade repetition and receipt of special educational services.

In contrast, the programs did not, on average, affect the percentage of adolescents who were suspended or expelled from or dropped out of school. Nor did any of the individual prorams lead to statistically significant increases in the dropout rate among 12- to 18-year-olds.³⁹

³⁷For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

³⁸Because of the relatively small number of estimates, the power of this test (based on the Q statistic) to detect differences between impacts is relatively low; for details, see Appendix B.

³⁹In some of the surveys, school dropout data were collected in two different ways. One question generally asked whether any of the parent's children in a certain age range — for instance, those aged 10 or 12 and older — had dropped out of school. Another question asked about each child's current school status and, if the child was not in school, the reasons for not being in school. For most of the studies, a child was inferred to have dropped out of school when the parent responded "currently not in school because dropped out" to the latter survey question. See Appendix A for more information.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 3

Study	Program(s) Tested	Impact on School Performance ^a	Impact on Grade Repetition	Impact on Receipt of Special Educational Services
NEWWS			- F	
	Atlanta LFA		-0.51	0.47
	Atlanta HCD		-0.17	-0.63
	Grand Rapids LFA		5.32 *	5.53 *
	Grand Rapids HCD		5.70 *	4.95
	Riverside LFA		3.56	4.12 *
	Riverside HCD		3.89	5.13 *
	Portland		-2.07	0.21
Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	-0.04	-3.34	2.31
MFIP				
	Full MFIP for long-term recipients	0.03	-2.58	
	Full MFIP for recent applicants	-0.36 **	5.15	
	MFIP Incentives Only for long-term recipients	0.00	0.86	
SSP	SSP	-0.04	1.51	-0.03
New Hope	New Hope			
WRP	Demonstration	-0.23	18.58 ***	-6.72 *
W M	WRP Incentives Only	0.06	-1.22	2.43
	Full WRP	0.00	0.16	-1.93
				(continued)

Average Effects on School Performance, Grade Repetition, and Receipt of Special Educational Servivces, by Program and Across Programs

Table 3	(continued)
	(

Study	Program(s) Tested	Impact on School Performance ^a	Impact on Grade Repetition	Impact on Receipt of Special Educational Services
FTP	FTP	-0.25 **		
Jobs First	Jobs First	-0.28 ***		
All	All (average)	-0.12 ***	2.07 **	1.56 *

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

The percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates. "--" indicates that the outcome was not measured in this study.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

Only one out of 13 programs increased the rate of suspensions.⁴⁰

Table 2 also summarizes the evidence on teen parenting, an important behavioral indicator that was measured in more than half of the program evaluations by asking mothers whether their adolescents had had or fathered a baby. In contrast to the patterns that emerged for some of the school outcomes, the evidence here is neither negative nor positive. Rates of teen parenting — a behavior outcome explicitly targeted for reduction in the 1996 welfare reform legislation — were similar for adolescents in the program and control groups.⁴¹

When possible, the program effects were analyzed for male versus female adolescents and for younger versus older adolescents (aged 10 to 13 versus 14 to 16 at study entry). (Some studies did not collect information about children's gender, and, in some studies, it was not possible to isolate effects on younger versus older adolescents).⁴² Although there was no clear pattern of negative effects across the measured outcomes, the gender and age subgroup results revealed a few notable differences.⁴³ Whereas the programs had no effect on grade repetition for female adolescents, they decreased grade repetition among male adolescents, and the difference between the two impacts was statistically significant. For the age subgroups, the effects differed by outcome. Among younger adolescents, the programs lowered average school performance and increased grade repetition and receipt of special education services. Among older adolescents, the programs likewise had some unfavorable effects, but their size and the specific outcomes affected were different. Older adolescents in the program groups were more likely to be suspended or expelled and to drop out than were older adolescents in the control groups, and the differences between these impacts and those on the younger subgroup were statistically significant.⁴⁴ However, older adolescents were less likely than their control group counterparts to receive special educational services. Interestingly, as discussed in the next section, there were no effects on the rates of suspension or expulsion or dropping out among older adolescents who were young adults (aged 19 to 23) at the time of the follow-up survey. Further work is needed to elucidate the variation in program impacts on children of different ages.

⁴⁰For details, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁴¹As described in Appendix A, teen parenting was measured by asking mothers whether their child had given birth to or fathered a child.

⁴²For example, because NEWWS had a five-year follow-up period, it examined only adolescents who were 10 to 13 at study entry (15 to 18 at follow-up). As a result, the effects presented by gender and age do not reflect all the studies that are represented in the full sample estimates in Table 2.

⁴³See Units 2 and 3 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁴⁴Recall that many more programs were included in the calculation of the meta-analytic averages for younger adolescents than for older adolescents because of the long follow-up period in some of the studies (such as NEWWS) and the age criteria for the analysis. As a result, information about suspensions and expulsions for older adolescents was available for only four programs and about dropping out for only seven programs.

Because so few studies collected information on other behavioral measures, their effects were not averaged or presented in Table 2 or Figure 1. Of the six programs for which information about school behavior is available, two (MFIP Incentives Only for long-term recipients and Full MFIP for recent applicants) led to a statistically significant effect, namely, an increase in school behavior problems. The only program for which information about delinquent behavior and substance use is available (SSP) increased the frequency of minor delinquent activity (such as skipping school) and drinking once a week or more⁴⁵ and had no effects on major delinquent behavior such as drug use and use of weapons. However, as will be discussed below, these effects did not appear to translate into negative outcomes at a later follow-up point. Finally, of the three programs for which information about police involvement is available, one (WRP Incentives Only) increased involvement with the police.

In summary, there are worrisome detrimental impacts on some, but by no means all, of the adolescent outcomes measured in these studies. The negative effects on school outcomes are the most consistent. The sizes of the average effects are small, however, and many of the individual programs did not produce statistically significant impacts. The largest detrimental impact — one-tenth of a standard deviation — was on maternal reports of school performance.⁴⁶

Do any of the negative effects on school outcomes warrant attention from policymakers? As discussed earlier, adolescents in the program group scored .12 points (on a scale from 1 to 5) lower than control group adolescents on maternal reports of school performance. To put this effect size in perspective, an equivalent change in achievement test scores for adolescents in the control group who scored at the 25th percentile would place adolescents in the program group at the 21st percentile. The impacts on rates of grade repetition and receipt of special educational services are considerably smaller than this, each having been increased by roughly 2 percentage points by the programs relative to control group levels. However, because the effects on adolescent outcomes are not consistent across outcomes and do not seem to have led, for example, to higher rates of unfavorable outcomes such as school dropout or teen parenting, they are better seen as calling for more investigation than for an immediate policy response.

At the same time, the more that is understood both about the reasons for these negative effects and their long-term implications for adolescents' transitions into adulthood, the clearer the road map will be for further research and future policy. Based on the results presented

⁴⁵For further discussion of these effects, see Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000.

⁴⁶The following observation should help assuage fears that this impact is due to a bias in maternal reports. Several of the programs had positive impacts on younger children's school performances as measured by maternal reports (Morris et al., 2001). For the negative effects on adolescents' school performance discussed here to have been caused by reporting bias, program group mothers therefore would have had to be biased not only relative to control group mothers but in different directions in reporting the school performance of their younger as opposed to their older children.

above, it is possible that there will be negative repercussions as adolescents move toward adulthood. Alternatively, some of these effects could have positive long-term results. Decreases in adolescents' school progress, for example, could be a short-term side effect of moves to higherincome neighborhoods or higher-quality schools. As programs increase family income, mothers may invest in higher-quality, more competitive schools for their children; their children's academic performance may worsen in the short run but benefit in the long run. Similarly, an increase in receipt of special educational services could signal an increase in adolescents' behavior or learning problems or, alternatively, an increase in mothers' awareness about or access to resources available in the community to meet their adolescents' needs.

Clearly, understanding the reasons for and the long-term implications of the effects of welfare and work policies on adolescents will be critical to formulating a policy response. The next subsection addresses the latter issue using the few available long-term follow-up data on adolescent outcomes.

Effects on Adolescents Entering Young Adulthood

It is difficult to predict how children's transition from adolescence to young adulthood will be affected by the small declines in school performance and the small rises in grade repetition — both outcomes that may influence school completion — observed in the studies reviewed here. Any adverse effect on school performance is troubling, particularly when it is experienced by children who as a group are already faring poorly. It is important to find out to what extent these negative effects persist, since transitory impacts would be of less concern than permanent changes in the trajectory into adulthood.

With one exception, the studies did not measure outcomes for adolescents in the present sample (who were 10 to 16 years old at study entry) at more than one follow-up point. This exception, the SSP evaluation (which measured adolescent outcomes 36 months and 54 months after study entry), as well as NEWWS (which measured adolescent outcomes five years after study entry) provide some evidence on the effects of parents' participation in welfare and work programs on teens who became young adults during the follow-up period. For the purposes of this analysis, teens were defined as children who were 14 to 18 years old at study entry and therefore about 19 to 23 years old at the long-term follow-up point. The outcomes measured for this group in both studies include teen parenting, suspensions from school, and dropping out of school. In addition, the SSP study collected information about attending university or college, working, and being arrested.

No effects on school completion were found for teens who were 19 to 21 at follow-up or for those who were 22 to 23 at follow-up in either of these studies. The programs' effects on teen parenting were more mixed. Whereas one of the seven NEWWS programs (Riverside HCD) increased parenting among adolescents who were 14 to 16 at study entry, two other NEWWS programs (Atlanta LFA and Riverside HCD) decreased this outcome among adolescents who were 17 to 18 at study entry. Of the 10 outcomes examined in SSP's 54-month follow-up interviews, only teen parenting showed a statistically significant increase.⁴⁷

The only study that gathered data directly from adolescents at two points (36 months and 54 months) after their parents' entry into the study, SSP also provides evidence on the duration of adolescent impacts for the age group examined in the previous section. For children aged 16 to 18 at the 36-month point, SSP increased rates of engaging in minor delinquent behavior and alcohol use. Four-and-a-half years after study entry, however, the adolescent outcomes measured — high school completion, drug use, and employment — did not differ between the program and control groups.⁴⁸

These strands of evidence on adolescents' transitions into early adulthood suggest that welfare and employment programs directed at parents have few long-term impacts on older teen children, and the few effects (on teen parenting) found are mixed in direction. For conclusions to be drawn with any confidence, however, studies with longer follow-up periods and a broader range of measures (including, for instance, employment stability and poverty status) need to be conducted.

Why Do Welfare and Work Policies Affect Adolescents' School Outcomes?

The policies examined in this synthesis were designed to affect families' economic circumstances, including parental employment and earnings, total household income, and welfare receipt. Through their impacts on family resources and coping strategies (such as parenting), these policies may affect adolescents' development, ultimately influencing their academic and behavioral functioning. The rest of this document focuses on why.

None of the studies were designed to trace the chain of potential effects all the way from policies to parents' and families' economic outcomes to adolescents' environments to adolescents' well-being. In fact, because adolescents' lives were not a focus of these evaluations, only a few of the studies provide any information about how adolescents' environments may have changed as a result of the specific program approaches. Nevertheless, comparisons of the results across programs and program approaches, which are interspersed with ethnographic interview data throughout the rest of the section, offer one way to explore the pathways that may

⁴⁷Michalopoulos et al., 2002.

⁴⁸See Michalopoulos et al., 2002. Another experimental study — the New Hope Project in Milwaukee — will also provide longer-term follow-up data on adolescents.

have led to the observed effects. It is important to bear in mind, however, that these comparisons are nonexperimental. In other words, it is possible that differences between program impacts can be explained by factors other than a particular program or program approach (for instance, by differences between the sites or the populations included in the studies).

Do the effects depend on the policy approach?

The studies examined here were designed to test three key policies — mandatory employment services, earnings supplements, and time limits — alone or in combination. By calculating the average effects on adolescents by type of program, one can explore whether, on average, the approaches influenced adolescents differently. As shown in an earlier research synthesis from the Next Generation project,⁴⁹ the approaches had differential effects on elementary school-aged children: Whereas earnings supplement programs generally benefited their cognitive development, parents' participation in mandatory employment services generally had no effect on their cognitive developmental outcomes.

Figure 2 shows the programs' impacts on adolescents' school performance, grade repetition, receipt of special educational services, and rate of dropping out, each split by program type. The programs with mandatory employment services are the seven programs tested in NEWWS and Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN. The earnings supplement programs are Minnesota's Full MFIP and MFIP Incentives Only programs, Canada's SSP, and Milwaukee's New Hope Project. The time-limited programs are Connecticut's Jobs First and Florida's Family Transition Program (FTP). Vermont's WRP was excluded from these analyses because it could not be clearly categorized on the basis of the three key policy features. While each type of program had some negative effects on adolescents, the specific outcomes affected vary. The programs with earnings supplements led to higher rates of dropping out of school and grade repetition; the programs with mandatory employment services increased receipt of special educational services and grade repetition; and the programs with time limits markedly worsened school outcomes, increasing the percentage of adolescents who performed below average in school and the percentage who were suspended or expelled.⁵⁰ It is not surprising that each program type showed some evidence of having negative effects on adolescents, since effects on school performance or grade repetition were found for some individual programs of each type.

⁴⁹Morris et al., 2001.

⁵⁰Information on receipt of special educational services and grade repetition was not available for the two time-limited welfare programs.
How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Figure 2

Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Key Policy Feature



(continued)

Figure 2 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, and SSP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

WRP was excluded from this analysis because it cannot be clearly categorized on the basis of the three key policy features.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Chi-square tests were applied to differences between the impacts of the three types of programs. For the three measures for which data were available for only two of the three program types, two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between impacts. Statistical significance levels are indicated next to the outcome labels as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this figure.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

^aThe programs with mandatory employment services alone are all the NEWWS programs and Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN.

^bThe programs with earnings supplements are SSP, New Hope, Full MFIP, and MFIP Incentives Only.

^cThe programs with time limits are Jobs First and FTP.

These patterns suggest that the programs' detrimental effects on adolescents' school outcomes cannot be traced to any particular one of the policy features examined here.⁵¹ At least some programs with each feature — those that mandated work or participation in work activities, those that supplemented earnings, and those that imposed welfare time limits — had at least some negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes. It is interesting, however, that there was more consistency in specific effects within than across program types; although all the effects found concerned school outcomes, the programs that shared a policy approach tended to affect the same subset of school outcomes. This is a potential topic for further work.

Do the effects depend on changes in maternal employment?

Because negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes appear across program approaches, it seems likely that the effects arise from an impact on families caused by all the program approaches. Since the common goal was to raise maternal employment — and most of the programs succeeded in doing so — changes in employment levels likely drove the effects on adolescents. One way to find out whether this is true is to compare the variation in the programs' impacts on maternal employment with the variation in their impacts on adolescent outcomes. If negative effects are concentrated among programs that substantially increased employment, then maternal employment probably played an important role.

Increases in maternal employment could hurt adolescents in a number of ways. Most obvious, working parents may have less time and energy to spend with their children or to monitor their children's behavior than they would if they did not work. Parental employment may also increase the responsibilities of adolescents, especially responsibilities related to providing child care to their younger siblings. This may have benefits such as keeping them out of trouble but may also interfere with their schoolwork. From a developmental perspective, adolescence is a period during which youth form and cement their identities and make important decisions about their future. From the perspective of both the adolescent and the single mother, it may be a particularly difficult time for the mother to start a new job that likely affords her little control over time off or work hours.

To assess whether the programs' impacts on adolescents are associated with their economic effects on families, measures were constructed to make various aspects of parental employment comparable across studies. Employment was measured using administrative records from the unemployment insurance system in the states in which the eight studies under examination were conducted. (The records do not include self-employment, employment in the in-

⁵¹Only one cross-approach difference between impacts was statistically significant: Whereas the programs with mandatory employment services increased receipt of special educational services, the earnings supplement programs had no effect on this outcome.

formal sector, or employment outside the state in which the study occurred.) The programs were sorted by their impacts on employment and employment-related services, so that the impacts on adolescents for programs that increased parental employment or participation in employment-related services could be compared with those for programs that did not.⁵²

Most of the programs examined in this synthesis increased employment or participation in employment-related services.⁵³ On average, the programs also produced unfavorable effects on some adolescents' school outcomes. However, as shown in Table 3, the magnitudes of the unfavorable effects on school outcomes are very small for some programs, and, in some cases, there were no effects on school outcomes. In fact, even some of the programs that increased full-time employment among parents — such as Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN — produced no effects on measures of adolescents' school progress, while two of the three programs that had smaller effects on employment — FTP and Full MFIP for recent applicants — nonetheless affected adolescents negatively.⁵⁴ Moreover, none of the effects on any given adolescent outcome could be directly linked to programs that increased employment during every year of the follow-up period until adolescent outcomes were measured or to programs that had employment effects that were less extensive or restricted to the very early phase of the follow-up period.

In sum, nonexperimental research has revealed a relationship between program effects on maternal employment and program effects on adolescent outcomes, but the relationship does not seem to depend directly on the duration, extent, or timing of employment impacts as measured in the present studies. Why? One possibility is that job schedules, an aspect of employment that was not well measured in these studies, are important. Another explanation is raised in the ethnographic interviews: Employment poses new difficulties for parents and their children but also brings some benefits, and the balance between the two may depend on how the program is implemented, the circumstances of individual families, the community context, and other factors. In ethnographic interviews, parents often stated the belief that their employment benefited their older children, both because they felt they were setting a good example and because they felt better about themselves for being employed.⁵⁵ However, parents — sometimes the very same ones — acknowledged that they spent less time interacting or supervising their adolescent children after becoming employed. Parents who go to work or work longer hours in response to

⁵²For the effects of these programs on selected employment outcomes, see Unit 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁵³Two of the 16 programs — the Atlanta Labor Force Attachment (LFA) program studied in NEWWS and WRP Incentives Only — slightly decreased employment during part of the follow-up period.

⁵⁴FTP increased participation in employment-related activities such as job search and training programs, which could have some of the same effects on recipients' children as working at a job. And MFIP increased the proportion of recent applicants who were currently employed.

⁵⁵Scott et al., 2001; London et al., 2001.

welfare reform policies may no longer have time to help with homework or to attend parentteacher conferences and may lose touch with their children's academic progress, teachers, and schools.⁵⁶ These changes may be especially critical for adolescents, who are more likely to skip school and to engage in high-risk activities in the absence of parental monitoring. The case of Becky and her daughter provides a particularly vivid example of not only such problems but also a mother's struggle to balance her personal needs for achievement with the demands of parenting (Box 1).

What other family changes might influence the effects of maternal employment on adolescent children?

Clearly, factors other than maternal employment must be contributing to the impacts that the program interventions had on adolescents. This section examines how increases in employment might play out differently in different families or in different program models, possibly leading to variations in adolescent effects. As discussed earlier, published reports from the individual studies examined here, as well as the broader research literature, suggest that adolescent outcomes can be influenced by family income, supervision and monitoring by adults, adolescents' taking on increasingly adult roles, and other areas of family life. Some of the effects are direct; for instance, programs with earnings supplements have been found to increase family income. Others are indirect; for instance, programs that increase employment have been found to increase family income in this synthesis were not explicitly designed to measure multiple aspects of adolescents' lives, at least some of them afford data shedding light on each of these possibilities.⁵⁸

Income. The earnings gains caused by the programs did not necessarily lead to gains in income for the families of adolescents. Programs that offered generous earning supplements generally raised income, while those that provided no financial work incentives left family income unchanged or, in the case of one program, lower.

If used to pay for tutoring, out-of-school care, or relocation to a better neighborhood, income gains could help mitigate the potentially damaging effects of maternal employment. By the same reasoning, income losses could exacerbate some of the problems arising from maternal employment (such as lack of adult supervision or pressure on adolescents to work for pay) or even have direct adverse effects on school outcomes — for instance, if adolescents must go without school-related supplies or activities that promote academic achievement.

⁵⁶Kurz, 2002.

⁵⁷Crosby, Gennetian, and Huston, 2001.

⁵⁸For other possible explanations, see Brooks et al. (2001).

Box 1

A Mother Juggles Her Aspirations to Work with a Need to Supervise Her Rebellious Daughter

Becky, a 40-year-old white single mother with one child, 15-year-old Jill, hoped to take computer courses and had recently begun applying for jobs when she was first interviewed for the Urban Change study in Philadelphia. But when Jill started "going haywire," Becky felt that keeping her daughter safe was her priority. According to Becky, Jill ran with the wrong crowd, skipped school, and stayed away from home for days at a time. She believed her daughter's problems undermined her chances of keeping a job: "It is really hard to go out and work when your daughter is going [down] the wrong path. No employer is going to want somebody on the job when they are getting phone calls all day to come home or you got to get home. I mean, I will be fired like that." She looked to the police and other authorities for help with Jill, but the only assistance she found was from a support group for parents facing difficult situations with their own children.

Within two months of the initial interview, Becky took a cleaning job, but she was soon forced to quit because working all night and dealing with Jill's problems all day left her exhausted. A year later, she had secured work as a babysitter, but her cash assistance and medical benefits were cut off — a consequence, she says, of her daughter's delinquency: "I was telling my caseworker about my babysitting and how it was good that it was so close by. . . . I said that I was having trouble with my daughter going to school. Well, she goes and cuts my welfare because she [my daughter] is missing school." With help from a support group, Becky rearranged her commitments to work and caring for Jill, and she tried to set limits with her daughter. She told the interviewer: "If she wants to come in this house, then she has to follow the rules. That's it." Eventually, Becky found paid employment in a nursing home. When asked whether she could think of any reason why she might leave her job, she said: "Only if my daughter . . . don't wise the hell up and something pulls me away that she gets in trouble or something. That would be the only way."

Reflecting back on the past three years during her final interview, Becky said that she thought Jill's rebelliousness was a show of independence and concluded that her working had probably not affected her daughter's behavior. She had thought that Jill was of an age where Becky's working would have relatively little impact except to make her less available to monitor her daughter. In fact, her daughter's behaviors undermined Becky's ability to focus on her job because she was spending time and effort trying to chase Jill down.

To examine whether income influences the effects of employment on adolescents, a similar strategy to that described for the employment analysis above was used. Programs were sorted by whether they had effects on parental income, which was measured using administrative data and reflects welfare payments, Food Stamps, earnings, and earnings supplements (where applicable) combined.⁵⁹ Figure 3 shows the effects on school outcomes — averaged using meta-analytic techniques — separately for programs that increased income during the follow-up period or some part of it⁶⁰ and for programs that did not increase income at all (including one that actually decreased income).

The results do not give any clear indication that effects on adolescent outcomes vary systematically with effects on income. In other words, the impacts on adolescent outcomes of the programs that increased income are very similar in magnitude to (and not statistically different from) those of the programs that did not increase income. However, with the exception of a statistically significant increase in the rate of dropping out, many of the unfavorable effects that were observed were clustered among the programs that did not increase income. These programs reduced the proportion of adolescents who performed above average in school and increased their rates of grade repetition and receipt of special educational services. Thus, there is weak evidence suggesting that increased employment, when accompanied by increased income, plays a role in protecting adolescents from harmful effects of maternal employment. The lack of a more distinct pattern might be accounted for by either of the following explanations, both of which merit further examination: (1) The income increases achieved by these programs were not large enough to improve adolescent outcomes or even to fully buffer adolescents from negative effects; or (2) negative effects on adolescents are not worsened by unchanged or even decreased income.

Supervision, monitoring, and structured activities. When parents go to work — or increase their hours of work — they have less time for parenting. Supervision and monitoring are important during school hours, when parents may encourage school attendance and help adolescents stay engaged in positive activities and avoid risk-taking behavior. Closer parental monitoring of adolescents has been linked to better school outcomes and social functioning,⁶¹ and less parental monitoring has been linked to increases in problem behavior⁶² and juvenile

⁵⁹For the impacts on income across programs, see Unit 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁶⁰The Atlanta Human Capital Development (HCD) program in NEWWS, the New Hope Project, and Full WRP did not increase cumulative income when computed for the follow-up period as a whole but did so when it was computed for part of the follow-up period.

⁶¹Linver and Silverberg, 1997; Baumrind, 1989.

⁶²Mason, Cauce, Gonzales, and Hirage, 1996.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Figure 3

Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Program Effect on Parental Income



SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; ** = 1 percent.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the impacts of the programs that increased income and those that did not increase income. Statistical significance levels are indicated next to the outcome labels as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings. See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this figure.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 1 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

The programs that increased income are Jobs First, Full MFIP for long-term recipients, MFIP Incentives Only for long-term recipients, New Hope, Atlanta HCD (NEWWS), SSP, and Full WRP.

The programs that did not increase income are FTP, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, Full MFIP for recent applicants, Atlanta LFA (NEWWS), Grand Rapids LFA (NEWWS), Grand Rapids HCD (NEWWS), Riverside LFA (NEWWS), Riverside HCD (NEWWS), Portland (NEWWS), and WRP Incentives Only.

crime.⁶³ The case of Eileen illustrates the processes that might underlie changes in parenting and adolescent behavior in the wake of a mother's entry into employment (Box 2).

Measures of some important aspects of supervision — for example, generally knowing about their children's whereabouts during the day, including whom they are spending time with — were not measured for adolescents in these studies. However, for five of the 16 programs, information is available about the extent of adolescents' supervision by adults, that is, whether they received any out-of-school care or participated in structured extracurricular activities.⁶⁴ Two of these programs increased maternal employment or participation in employment-related activities and had negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes. In both cases, there was no evidence that program group adolescents participated in sports or other structured out-of-school activities at higher rates than their control group counterparts. In other words, their mothers were working more, but no structured activities took place of maternal supervision in the afternoon. (In contrast, for younger children, increases in maternal employment were typically accompanied by increases in the use of paid center care.) One of the two programs increased the use of child care provided by relatives, primarily grandmothers. It is an interesting question how care provided by relatives other than parents and care provided by after-school care providers differ from parental care with respect to monitoring, supervision, and structure. Two of the five programs increased maternal employment and had no effect on adolescents' school outcomes. One of them did not change adolescents' likelihood of receiving supervised care or participating in out-of-school activities but did somewhat increase the number of hours they spent in care, while the other led to a decrease in adolescents' participation in sports. The fifth program had no effect on parental employment or adolescent outcomes.

In summary, these findings suggest that, according to the measures available, adolescents' levels of participation in out-of-school care and structured activities did not change very much or in any consistent way with the increase in their mothers' employment. It is possible that a larger increase in such participation, particularly in a high-quality arrangement or activity, could have prevented some of the negative effects on adolescents that were observed.

Assuming adult roles and responsibilities. In addition to curbing opportunities for parents to monitor their children's activities and help them with schoolwork, spending less time at home may lead parents to expect adolescents to take on new "adult" tasks, such as caring for younger siblings, doing housework, shopping, cooking, or contributing to family income by working outside the home. Nonexperimental research has found that 14- to 17-year-olds in families where parents have recently left welfare for work are more likely to work than are teens

⁶³Patterson, 1999.

⁶⁴For the effects of these programs on adolescent out-of-school care and participation in extracurricular activities, see Unit 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

Box 2

A Mother's Stress from Work Breeds Resentment and Problem Behavior in Her Adolescents

Eileen, a white mother of six children living in Philadelphia, worried that the demands of work would not leave her with enough time to supervise her children. Eileen had cycled through a wide variety of jobs, including housecleaning, delivering pizza, babysitting, and factory work. When first interviewed, she said she wanted to participate in the training programs mandated by welfare reform but worried about how this might conflict with her children's needs: "I mean, I want to go through programs, but it takes so much time, and I don't have time when it comes to raising my kids. You know what I'm saying? So like, I'm caught in a . . . mix, like where it's very hard to balance two things at one time." It was not much later, however, that Eileen started working full time at a local Laundromat for \$5.15 per hour and part time at a Dunkin' Donuts nearby for \$4.75 per hour.

As work demands absorbed more and more of Eileen's time, two of her children began to act in an abusive manner toward her. Her 12-year-old daughter, Mary, particularly, frequently punched her hard enough to raise bruises. "My arms are, like, sore," Eileen said. "She punches on me big time. I have marks all over me. I still got some on my legs. I'd never thought I'd see my kids beat me up. And it's not that I'm being mean with them, it's, like, they have to understand my situation. They don't want to hear it." Eileen said her children would yell at her about never being home with them. Like her children, Eileen attributed the chaos at home to her work schedule: "It's just that I can't be in two places at one time. . . . I've been working a lot. I've been like working from twelve to ten at night. And by the time I get — go to home, I mean, it's, like, ten-thirty at night, and by the time, I . . . grab something to eat, I'm just so tired! I mean they have to realize . . . I work my butt."

Apart from some occasional help provided by an older son who did not live with her, Eileen did not feel she had anyone she could turn to for support. Public agencies were as likely as not to add to her pressures. The welfare office had cut off her cash assistance, Food Stamps, and Medicaid for two months because of paperwork problems and an altercation with her caseworker. Eileen was also once required to appear in court to explain Mary's truancy from school. She called on the local child welfare agency, but she thought that the caseworkers there criticized her parenting too much and made suggestions that were incompatible with the work requirements imposed by welfare reform. She told them: "I don't want youse coming in here telling me I don't prepare my food, or I'm never home. I'm working, I think more of my job, or, or, or telling me that I don't make my beds right." Asked how the caseworkers responded when she explained she couldn't be home much because she had to work to support her kids, Eileen said: "Well, that's a natural cause, but you still have to be with your children. . . . [They suggest that I] spread my time a little bit more. And I don't know how I can do that. I'm really stressed out." in welfare-reliant families and also work longer hours than teens in other income categories.⁶⁵ The assumption of adult roles by adolescents could lead to increased responsibility and better behavior, or it could lead to resentment, acting out, failure to complete unsupervised tasks (such as homework), and resistance to any kind of control imposed by an adult.⁶⁶

Home responsibilities. The case of Tina and her daughter, which was described in the section on qualitative findings, illustrates how time pressures on a parent can force an adolescent child to take on more child care responsibilities and in turn affect the child's school attendance. The case of Lisa (Box 3), however, shows that greater responsibilities need not hinder the academic progress of the children who assume them.

Quantitative analyses provide some evidence that the programs that increased maternal employment and had negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes were the same programs that increased adolescents' home responsibilities. Although most of the studies did not collect detailed information about older children's chores and other responsibilities, three studies did collect child care information for a subset of families who had elementary school-aged children. It is possible to examine whether welfare and work policies increased the proportion of adolescents in these families who were responsible for caring for their elementary school-aged siblings. Rates of sibling care — that is, care of an elementary school-aged child by an adolescent sibling (among families who had at least one child in both age groups) — in these three studies ranged from 14 percent to 28 percent at the time of the survey, with the adolescent being the primary source of care in 7 percent to 19 percent of cases. The majority of adolescents who provided sibling care were female (50 percent to 80 percent) and ranged in age from 14 to 18. On average, adolescents cared for their elementary school-aged siblings roughly 10 hours per week or less. In the two programs that increased maternal employment and participation in employment-related activities and negatively affected adolescents' school outcomes, elementary school-aged children in the program group were more likely than their control group counterparts to be cared for by an older sibling, suggesting that adolescents did take on some of the child care responsibilities in the home.⁶⁷ Furthermore, adolescents whose parents were in the third program, which did not adversely affect adolescents' school outcomes, were no more likely than their control group counterparts to care for their younger siblings.

⁶⁵Brown, 2001.

⁶⁶Burton, Brooks, and Clark, 2002; Grusec, Goodnow, and Cohen, 1996.

⁶⁷For impacts on care of elementary school-aged children by adolescent siblings, see Unit 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002). In brief, FTP increased the percentage of families who ever used sibling care during the follow-up period and during the month before the follow-up interview, and Jobs First increased use of sibling care during the month before the interview by 5.7 percentage points — a nearly statistically significant effect.

Box 3

Family Pressures Set Teen Sisters on Different Paths

When first interviewed, Lisa, a 31-year-old African-American mother of six living in Philadelphia, was addicted to crack and had none of her children living with her. Lisa's two oldest daughters, Tasha and Brianna, were living with her mother, and the four younger children were in foster care. Lisa was married to, but not living with, the father of her five youngest children, who was employed fairly steadily as a truck driver. When Lisa entered the Urban Change study, Tasha, 13, and Brianna, 12, were aware of their mother's addiction. They both did very well in school, regularly making the honor roll.

Within a year of entering the study, Lisa had checked herself into a drug rehabilitation program and kicked her crack habit. Her decision to get clean was motivated not only by the new training programs and work supports associated with welfare reform but also by her fear of losing her children permanently as a result of the Adoption and Safe Families Act, which placed limits on how long children could be in foster care. Lisa began volunteering at a church food pantry, and, with the support of the church pastor and her husband, whom she moved back in with, got her life back on track. Tasha and then Brianna moved back into the household. Lisa earned money from a variety of odd jobs while attending a job search program. Eventually, she became a certified nursing assistant and found a full-time position at a nursing home.

At the time of Lisa's last interview, her four youngest children had been placed back into her home, and the family developed daily routines for getting to school and work. Tasha and Brianna were expected to help the youngest children finish breakfast and ready themselves for school. Brianna was responsible for taking them to a neighbor's house so they could walk to school with the neighbor's children. But Lisa confessed that she had misgivings about leaving the younger children in Brianna's care, saying, "I don't know what kind of anger she has and might take out on them."

Tasha continued to follow a successful path throughout high school. She participated in a college readiness program, and she took part in a paid apprenticeship program tutoring younger children and visiting residents at a nursing home. Lisa expressed pride in her oldest daughter's accomplishments. As Tasha looked at colleges, she considered going to a nearby university because she wanted to remain with her mother and help out with the kids.

Brianna, in contrast, had a difficult time adjusting to the move back home and having to take on additional responsibilities. She expressed hostility toward her younger siblings, and after school she would often stay out until her curfew without letting anyone know where she was. During the last interview, Lisa reported that Brianna had tested into a magnet high school but was failing several classes and had not actively sought tutoring help.

If additional home responsibilities, particularly sibling care, are a primary route by which the programs adversely affected adolescents' school outcomes, then the effects should be most pronounced for those adolescents who have younger siblings. Although, on average, control group adolescents who had younger siblings at study entry fared similarly on most of the school outcomes and teen parenting as did control group adolescents who had no younger siblings at study entry, the detrimental effects of the programs were indeed larger and more consistent across outcomes in the former group than the latter — as shown in Figure 4.⁶⁸ Among adolescents with younger siblings, the programs reduced the percentage who performed above average in school and increased the percentages who received special educational services, were suspended, and dropped out of school. Among adolescents who did not have younger siblings, in contrast, the programs had no effect on receipt of special educational services or dropping out and actually decreased the rate of suspension by nearly 7 percentage points.⁶⁹ The exception to this pattern was grade repetition: The programs increased grade repetition among adolescents with younger siblings.⁷⁰

The reasons why adolescents without younger siblings fared better may be complex. Adolescents without younger siblings not only do not have the potential caretaking responsibility but, more generally, do not have to share family resources with as many siblings. As previously discussed, the programs examined here did not generally increase adolescents' participation in supervised activities. When impacts are examined separately for those with and without younger siblings, two of the four programs with the appropriate data increased the percentage of adolescents without younger siblings who received supervised care (for instance, in an afterschool program),⁷¹ even though the rates at which adolescents in the control groups received such care were roughly similar for the two subgroups. These two programs also had no effect on the latter group's school outcomes, and one actually decreased some aspects of minor delinquent behavior in the same subgroup. The fact that adolescents without younger siblings were necessarily the youngest child in the family or the only child in the household appears to have enabled them to participate in more structured, monitored activities after school, which might have helped mitigate negative effects of increased parental employment. They may have participated in these structured settings more because they were not needed at home or because their parents, with no younger children in the home, could invest more of their time and financial resources in their adolescent children's activities. Note that the latter hypothesis is also con-

⁶⁸For detailed impacts, see Unit 4 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁶⁹The difference between the impacts on suspensions in the two subgroups was statistically significant.

⁷⁰The difference between the impacts on grade repetition in the two subgroups was statistically significant.

⁷¹For adolescents without younger siblings, FTP increased the number of hours spent in care, and SSP increased the percentage who participated in supervised activities.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Figure 4

Average Effects on Selected Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of Younger Siblings in the Household



SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the programs' impacts on the two adolescent subgroups. Statistical significance levels are indicated next to the outcome labels as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this figure.

For detailed impacts on all the measures examined in each study, see Unit 4 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

sistent with the observed effects of programs that increased income; for instance, higher employment, when accompanied by higher income, would allow parents to invest financial resources in adolescents' activities, possibly protecting them from harmful effects of parental employment.

Paid work. Findings from SSP, the only study here that provides information on adolescent employment, indicate that the program increased the likelihood that adolescents were employed more than 20 hours per week. Thus, in this study, increases in maternal employment and the increases in adolescent employment that may be a result thereof may have increased delinquent behavior among adolescents but had no spillover effects on their school outcomes. (Note, however, as already discussed, that SSP did not appear to have any negative effects on measures of successful transitions into young adulthood.)⁷²

The ethnographic data illustrate how maternal work may indirectly encourage some teens to seek employment and income outside the home. This, in turn, may lead them to engage in more adult behaviors, such as smoking, drinking, or sexual activity. When their mothers earn more income, teens might be inclined to follow in their footsteps because of the short-term advantages of work over education. It is also possible that mothers encourage these additional responsibilities as a way of occupying their adolescents productively while they are at work themselves. Although it cannot be determined what caused her eldest son to shift his focus from education to employment, the story of Susan, a woman who had one of the best employment outcomes in the Urban Change ethnographic sample, illustrates this possibility (Box 4).

In summary, there is both quantitative and qualitative evidence to suggest that rises in maternal employment due to welfare and employment programs can cause adolescents to take on more adult responsibilities within and outside the home. There is also some evidence linking this finding to negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes, although the present analysis cannot rule out the possibility that greater responsibilities also have positive effects on adolescent behavior. Finally, in one study, increases in work were associated with minor delinquency and drinking, but these effects did not cause lasting problems in adulthood.

Other changes in family life. As already discussed, adolescents may be particularly vulnerable to disruptions in their lives as well as to the influence of peers as they begin to think and act autonomously and form a sense of self.⁷³ A variety of environmental disruptions have

 $^{^{72}}$ To learn about the impacts of SSP in detail, see Units 1 and 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

⁷³Erikson, 1950/1963.

Box 4

As a Mother Joins the Work Force, Her Older Teen Faces His Own School and Work Choices

At the time she entered the Urban Change study, Susan, a 36-year-old single white mother of two boys, was unemployed and studying toward a degree as a medical assistant. She and her sons, Dave, 17, and Joey, 14, lived in Cleveland in a house rented from the boys' paternal grandfather. About to enter his senior year, Dave was enrolled in his high school's ROTC program and, according to Susan, was unsure whether he would pursue a career in the military or go to college after graduation. Shortly after the first interview, Susan took a job at a local doctor's office that paid \$9.23 per hour and provided medical, dental, vacation, and retirement benefits. She continued to attend school, thinking she would like eventually to become a registered nurse.

At the time of the next interview, Dave was also making choices about his own schooling and employment. Susan remained employed and said she was satisfied with her job, but she reported that, although Dave was enrolled in his school's work-study program, he was no longer on track academically and would not graduate on time. However, Susan did not seem particularly concerned by this, saying that Dave could "really crack the books if he want[ed] to." She appeared to be proud of Dave, supportive of the choices he made, and optimistic about his future.

Susan reported that Dave covered most of his own expenses with the \$120 to \$150 he earned each week and contributed \$35 to help with the household — money that, without telling Dave, Susan put aside for his later use to pay for college, a car, or "something like that." She also noted that Dave occasionally smoked cigarettes, but that did not seem to upset her, perhaps because he could buy cigarettes legally by that time and or because she was a smoker herself. She also disclosed that Dave was sexually active and that he and his girlfriend used contraception.

At the next interview, Susan remained in the same job, and Dave, now a young adult, was still living with her. Dave had not finished high school and was working as a chef for a hotel. He was planning to enroll in a computer correspondence course that would allow him to get a GED.

Despite the choice that Dave made to work rather than finish his schooling, when asked how her working affected her sons, Susan said it had helped them feel better about themselves "because they [had] always felt left out" when she was on welfare. Thanks to her larger income, they were now able to afford more of the things they wanted to buy and to enjoy more recreational activities. She reported that both of her kids were doing well and helped with cooking, cleaning, and other house chores. Susan felt like she was very close to both her sons and that they could come to her with anything. been shown to have negative consequences for adolescents' self-esteem and school performance.⁷⁴ Those for which data are available here include marriage of the parent and other changes in family composition, moves to new neighborhoods, changes in neighborhood quality, andchanges in parenting.⁷⁵ Each of these aspects of family life was affected in at least one study in which negative effects on adolescents were observed.

Marriage and family composition. It is hard to predict whether marriage of the parent would affect adolescents positively or negatively. On the one hand, marriage could improve adolescents' school outcomes by giving them access to more financial or social resources than would be available with only one parent in the household. In addition, adolescents whose responsibilities for younger siblings interfere with their schooling might be liberated from those responsibilities to some extent when another adult joins the household. On the other hand, adolescents often find themselves in conflict with new stepparents, which could affect them adversely.

Information on family structure and other aspects of household composition was collected in the studies of all 16 programs. Most of the programs that had negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes did not affect whether the parent cohabited with an unrelated adult, marriage of the parent, or other aspects of household composition. However, one program that had negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes also decreased the likelihood that the mother was married at the time of the survey. Given the lack of clear expectations regarding how marriage of the parent would influence adolescent outcomes and, more important, the fact that few of the programs that worsened adolescents' school outcomes had any impact on family structure, it is unlikely that the effects on family structure were a driving force behind the negative effects on adolescents found in these studies.

Family moves and neighborhood quality. Family moves could affect adolescents positively or negatively, depending on factors such as the quality of the new neighborhood relative to that of the old one. Frequent moves, however, are likely to be detrimental.

Information about neighborhood quality was collected in seven studies, yielding data on nine programs. Three of the programs increased the percentage of parents who reported that they lived in a "poor quality" neighborhood. However, only two of these three programs affected adolescents' school outcomes negatively. (Note that the move itself is unlikely to have been a factor because these three programs did not affect families' likelihood of moving, suggesting that program group families were as likely as control group families to move but moved to neighborhoods of lower quality.) In addition, parents in a fourth program, one that had no effect

⁷⁴Simmons, Burgeson, Carlton-Ford, and Blyth, 1987.

⁷⁵For impacts on many of these outcomes, see Unit 5 of the Technical Resources for this report (Gennetian et al., 2002).

on adolescents' school outcomes, were more likely than control group parents to report that they were in a "safe" neighborhood. The other five programs had no effects on neighborhood quality.

Parenting. While one direct effect of increased maternal employment may be to reduce the amount of time that adolescents spend with their mothers, another effect may be to change the quality of the parenting that children receive. In interviews with mothers in the Urban Change ethnographic study who had recently become employed, mothers frequently talked about lacking energy for parenting and needing to accomplish household chores or to sleep while at home.⁷⁶

Direct information about parenting of adolescents was collected only in the SSP study, which found that adolescents in the program group were more likely to experience negative or harsh parenting than adolescents in the control group, although the groups' outcomes on a variety of other parenting measures (based on reports from adolescents as well as parents) did not differ.⁷⁷ SSP also increased maternal employment but produced no effect on adolescents' school outcomes. Thus, even though there could have been a link between increased employment and harsher parenting, the change in parenting did not produce negative effects on school outcomes.

Three of the studies, representing four programs, gathered information about mothers' psychological well-being and the quality of parenting for younger children with adolescent siblings; because the parenting measures focused on treatment of younger siblings, they can serve as indirect measures of parenting of adolescents. Two of the four programs examined in these studies produced negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes. And although none affected indicators of maternal depression, two had negative effects on parenting: One program decreased warm parenting, and one program increased aggravation.⁷⁸ Thus, in three of the five programs (including SSP) for which information about parenting in families of adolescents is available, increases in employment were accompanied by some indications of decreases in the quality of parenting. This evidence raises the possibility that harsher parenting is a link between higher maternal employment and worse school outcomes for adolescents. It is important to keep in mind, however, that out of the multiple measures of parenting quality used in each study, only one showed an unfavorable effect. Moreover, this kind of nonexperimental analysis does not allow conclusions about causality to be drawn with any confidence. It is possible, for example, that the causal arrow points the other way: Adolescents may respond negatively to maternal

⁷⁶London et al., 2001.

⁷⁷Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000.

⁷⁸Warm parenting was measured using maternal responses to questions about the number of times the mother gave her child physical affection or praise or "bragged about" her child. Aggravation was measured using maternal responses to questions including "Is your child much harder to care for than most?" and "Have you felt that your child does things that really bother you a lot?"

employment (because they feel their mothers are less available to them), and mothers in turn may respond with harsher parenting as they try to cope with changes in their adolescents' behavior.

Tina's case underscores the complexity and interrelatedness of employment, parenting, and family dynamics. As her case illustrates, calling on teens to provide more care for their younger siblings can raise tensions among siblings, which may in turn lead to harsher parenting and feelings of incompetence or frustration among older children. This suggests that, for younger children in particular, the effects of maternal employment on parenting must be construed broadly to include "parenting" provided by older children who take on new caretaking roles. Tina's experiences also highlight how the conflict between maternal employment and child care responsibilities can lead to far-reaching changes in the family.

In summary, none of the patterns of results concerning family structure, moves, or neighborhood appears to be consistent enough to account for the programs' negative effects on adolescents' school outcomes. Although much less information is available about parenting, parent-adolescent interactions remain a potential explanation for some of these negative effects.

The evidence available here most consistently points to two findings. First, unlike younger children, adolescents (particularly those with younger siblings) are not given additional structured activities or supervision as their mothers' employment increases. Second, they may be expected to take on more adult responsibilities — such as to provide care for their younger siblings or to work outside the home — than they would in the absence of these programs. In view of the limitations inherent in this analysis, however, there is an urgent need for further analysis of these data as well as for new studies that shed light on how to support the positive development of youth as maternal employment among low-income families increasingly becomes the norm.

Why do welfare and work policies affect adolescents differently than elementary school-aged children?

The evidence presented here suggests not only why some adolescents fare better than others under new welfare and work policies but also why the adolescent children of low-income parents have fared worse, on average, than their elementary school-aged counterparts with respect to school outcomes. This is an important question to address in order to advise policymakers and program operators about how they might tailor policies or program operations to the needs of children of different ages.⁷⁹

⁷⁹Of course, some parents in these samples had both young children and adolescent-aged children. Future work from the Next Generation project will seek to disentangle how the ages and number of siblings influence program effects.

One possibility is that parents of younger children respond differently to program interventions than do parents of adolescent children, leading to differences in economic impacts on families. For example, parents of younger children might be more uneasy about being required to work than are parents of adolescents, leading to smaller employment impacts for the former group. But examination of the economic effects of the programs discussed here suggests that, for each policy approach, families with adolescents experienced roughly similar changes in employment and other measures of economic and family well-being as did families with elementary school-aged children.

Second, parents of adolescents might have systematically different characteristics than parents of elementary school-aged children. For example, because parents of adolescent children are older and have received welfare longer, on average, they may feel more stressed than do parents of younger children about starting on a new employment path. In two of the studies examined here — the FTP and SSP evaluations — analyses were conducted to determine whether the substantial differences in the results for children of different ages could be explained by demographic differences in their families. These analyses turned up no evidence that differences in parents' characteristics caused the differences in effects on children.⁸⁰

The most likely possibility, then, is that children of different ages have different needs or, relatedly, that the environmental changes wrought by maternal employment are not equally successful at meeting the needs of children of different ages. As already mentioned, there is some evidence that the negative impacts for adolescents depend on changes in their home and out-of-home environments, such as less supervision by adults, greater responsibility for younger siblings, and more pressure to work long hours outside the home. In contrast, in many of these programs, there were increases in the use of child care for elementary school-aged children, suggesting that the ways in which families adapt to welfare and employment programs may be more supportive of younger children's than adolescents' development.

Conclusions and Policy Implications

• Adolescents' school progress is affected adversely by a variety of welfare and work policies targeted at single parents. Averaged across studies, the impacts are small, but any harm to these high-risk youth is noteworthy.

The average impacts on school outcomes include a reduction in school performance as well as increases in adolescents' grade repetition and receipt of special educational services. However, these policies did not increase the average rates of school dropout or suspensions, nor did they affect teen parenting. While a few of the studies revealed scattered negative effects on

⁸⁰Bloom et al., 2000; Morris and Michalopoulos, 2000.

minor delinquency, substance use, and police involvement, these outcomes were not measured in most of the studies, preventing systematic assessment across programs.

It is difficult to predict how the observed declines in school-related outcomes will play out for adolescents in the longer run. The average effects are small, and there are no average effects on some important outcomes. For the few programs for which appropriate data are available, there is some evidence that adolescents who were 16 to 18 at follow-up were more likely to drop out of school, but there is little evidence of long-term harm for those who were 19 to 23 at follow-up. At the same time, any worsening of outcomes for adolescents from low-income families is of concern because they are already severely disadvantaged; national data indicate, for instance, that they are more likely to skip school, repeat a grade, and drop out of school than are adolescents from higher-income families.⁸¹ Moreover, as discussed in more detail shortly, there is evidence of more troubling negative effects on a large segment of low-income adolescents, namely, those who have younger siblings.

• Adolescents who had younger siblings experienced the most pervasive and troubling negative effects as a result of the programs.

For most of the outcomes examined, the negative effects are concentrated among adolescents who had younger siblings. Of particular concern is the finding that program group adolescents with younger siblings were more likely than their control group counterparts to be suspended from and to drop out of school, although these effects were not observed for the full sample of adolescents. Program group adolescents with younger siblings were also less likely than their control group counterparts to participate in out-of-school activities, and there is some evidence that they were more likely than their control group counterparts to care for their elementary school-aged siblings. Adolescents who did not have younger siblings, in contrast, experienced more mixed effects — for instance, an increase in grade repetition and a decrease in suspensions from school. These findings suggest that the programs' detrimental effects on adolescents may result, at least in part, from the unmet child care needs associated with maternal employment.

Data from the handful of studies that examined adolescents' after-school activities suggest that adolescents with younger siblings faced extra challenges for three reasons. First, as a result of their parents' participation in a welfare or work program — unlike those without younger siblings — they did not receive more structured supervision or participate in more after-school activities than their control group counterparts. Second, they were more likely than their control group counterparts to provide care for their younger siblings. Finally, based on the only study that looked at adolescents' paid work, the programs increased the proportion who

⁸¹National Center for Education Statistics, 1995, 2000.

worked more than 20 hours per week among those with younger siblings but not among those without younger siblings.

 While the average effects are "best estimates" of how adolescents have responded to these changes in the welfare system, there is considerable variation in impacts across individual programs. At least some negative effects were found for all three key policies that form the foundation of most states' current welfare programs — mandatory employment services, earnings supplements, and time limits.

It is difficult to find any systematic distinctions between the programs that produced negative effects on adolescents and those that did not. Some individual programs had larger negative effects than the average effects across programs, while other programs had few or no negative effects. Importantly, however, the individual programs had very few positive effects on adolescent outcomes. For elementary school-aged children, policies that increased employment and income benefited elementary school-aged children, suggesting that income played an important role by mitigating negative effects or amplifying positive effects of employment in this age group. For adolescents, however, all three policy approaches, including those that increased both employment and family income, produced some negative effects.

There was little evidence that aspects of adolescents' lives that were affected by the welfare and work policies under study other than less supervision by adults and greater adult responsibilities — such as family structure and neighborhood quality — played an important role in mitigating or exacerbating the negative effects of maternal employment. Other possible influences, such as changes in parenting behavior, could not be assessed conclusively with the available data.

The challenges faced by adolescents whose parents were in these programs are probably representative of those faced by other low-income adolescents whose parents are not involved in the TANF system but who work. Two patterns in the analysis presented here support this conclusion. First, negative effects were observed not only for programs that mandated work or participation in work-related activities and but also for programs that provided incentives to work voluntarily. Second, the fact that negative effects on adolescents are associated with their taking on greater responsibilities for younger siblings suggests that the forces driving the effects have to do with problems raised by work, child care, and the resources available to balance the two, which are not unique to parents in the TANF system.

• The inflexibility of the jobs typically held by low-income workers exacerbates single parents' already difficult task of juggling work and family responsibilities. Ethnographic interviews make it clear that single parents often struggle to meet both the expectations of the welfare system and their employers on the one hand and the needs of their children on the other. Parents are often aware of difficulties their children are facing in school but find it nearly impossible to address the problems when they have jobs that provide no time off or do not offer flexible work schedules.

• The TANF system could work with parents who are making the transition into employment or stepping up their hours of employment to minimize potential negative effects on their children.

While the findings appear to have implications for youth policy in general, forging new paths within the TANF system could also be a useful way to target new programs to low-income adolescents, who are most at risk. Welfare programs could try to use parents' increased employment to create new positive trajectories for adolescents as their family circumstances change. Recommendations specific to the TANF system include:

- Develop two-generation service approaches that link families with extracurricular programs already in the community or build new direct services designed to meet the particular needs of TANF families. States have the flexibility to do this already, and the federal government could play a role by providing new resources for these efforts, support for evaluations to learn what works, or technical assistance aimed at encouraging the expansion of programs that have already shown promise. One of the challenges of this approach is to encourage the highest-risk youth to participate.
- 2. Provide counseling to parents of adolescents about the implications of their working (including their work hours and job choices) for their adolescents' well-being, and help them devise strategies for keeping their children on a positive track.
- 3. Educate parents about the potential risks for adolescents of responsibilities such as employment and caretaking of younger siblings. Also, provide adequate child care and other services for younger siblings in the family to give parents practical alternatives to asking their adolescent children to take on home responsibilities.
- Policymakers should place priority on understanding how adolescents are affected by maternal employment and on testing new approaches in programs for low-income youth and their families.

It would be premature to prescribe a nationwide response to the finding that welfare and work policies can have adverse effects on adolescent children's school outcomes given that the reasons are neither conclusively nor completely understood, the long-run implications are unclear, and, on average, the effects are small. At the same time, it is already known that lowincome adolescents are at a severe disadvantage relative to their national counterparts with respect to school completion and other outcomes that are important for the transition to young adulthood. With an increasing proportion of low-income mothers in the labor force — in part because of the welfare system's new requirements and in part because of broader societal and economic trends — these results underscore the need to learn more about what helps lowincome youth succeed. In particular, there is a need for large-scale studies both inside and outside the TANF system of new approaches for low-income youth and their families.

While much more work is needed to find out what works best for whom, there is evidence that the most promising programs are those that provide youth with consistent relationships with caring adults, afford new challenges and opportunities to build skills, and maintain contact with young people over a long period of time.⁸² Examples of programs with positive effects on adolescents, some of which have been rigorously evaluated, are well-structured mentoring programs such as Big Brothers Big Sisters, Conservation Corps, the Quantum Opportunities Program, and YouthBuild, all of which aim to develop adolescents' competencies with varying degrees of emphasis on academic achievement, life skills, work, and community service. One new study, the Enhanced Services for the Hard-to-Employ Demonstration and Evaluation Project, will test two-generation approaches to increasing employment among parents who face significant barriers to employment and to improving outcomes for their adolescents and young children. This study, which has been launched by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, is being evaluated by MDRC.

This research synthesis provides systematic evidence that welfare and work policies targeted at low-income parents can adversely affect adolescents' school outcomes. Negative effects were observed both for programs that required mothers to work or participate in employment-related activities and for programs that encouraged mothers to work voluntarily. This pattern suggests that the well-being of adolescents may be compromised as their single mothers negotiate the challenges of working in low-wage jobs, which often have unpredictable and non-traditional schedules, whether or not their mothers work because of TANF's requirements and incentives. In other words, the present findings have important implications not only for welfare-reliant families but also for working-poor families who have never received welfare.

The full story of why welfare reform policies affect some adolescents more adversely than others is likely to be complex. Although further research is needed before particular policy remedies can be recommended, the analysis in this document points to the potential benefits of limiting adolescents' home responsibilities when their single mothers work and ensuring that

⁸²Roth, Brooks-Gunn, Murray, and Foster, 1998.

adolescents themselves are supervised and have access to positive opportunities. The present work also raises questions about the long-term effects of welfare and work programs on adolescents' transition into adulthood, the potential role of family size and siblings' ages in explaining responses to maternal employment, and the relationship between children's ages and the timing of employment-related interventions in influencing the effects of these interventions on child and adolescent well-being.

Appendixes

Appendix A Adolescent Outcome Measures

The measures of adolescent well-being available in the eight studies examined in this document were collected at the time of the most recent follow-up survey. Nearly all the measures are based on maternal reports. In the FTP, Jobs First, and MFIP evaluations, some adolescent outcomes (for instance, grade repetition in the FTP evaluation) were measured only for the adolescent siblings of elementary school-aged children who were the focus of a more detailed survey; these data were excluded from the synthesis analysis because they are not representative of the full sample of adolescents in the studies.¹

School Outcomes

School performance (measured in the studies of FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, SSP, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal responses to the following question: "Based on your knowledge of your child's schoolwork, including report cards, how has your child been doing in school overall?" Mothers expressed their responses on a five-point scale ranging from "5 = very well" to "1 = not well at all." This interval scale was used both to calculate the average score and to create two dichotomous measures of school performance: (1) below-average school performance, coded as 1 if the mother gave the child a "1" or "2" and coded as 0 otherwise, and (2) above-average school performance, coded as 1 if the mother gave the child a "4" or "5" and coded as 0 otherwise. All the measures of school performance were assessed only for those children who were in school at the time of the follow-up survey. Children who were reported not to be in school at follow-up were coded as 0 on the dichotomous measures and excluded from the average school performance score. Based on data from the studies of New Hope and SSP, there is a statistically significant correlation between maternal reports and test assessments of children's school performance: .37 with math achievement scores for 12- to 14-year-olds, .24 with literacy scores for 15to 18-year-olds, and .26 with Woodcock-Johnson Letter-Word Identification scores for 12- to 16-year-olds. The SSP study also collected adolescents' ratings of their own school performance.

Grade repetition (measured in NEWWS and in the studies of Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, SSP, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal reports as to whether the child had repeated a grade at any point during the follow-up period.

Suspension and/or expulsion from school (measured in NEWWS and in the studies of FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, New Hope, and WRP). This outcome

¹Effects on these outcomes for adolescent-aged siblings in FTP and Jobs First can be found in Bloom et al. (2000) and Bloom et al. (2002), respectively. Comparable outcomes for adolescent-aged siblings were not analyzed in the MFIP evaluation because of the small sample size.

was measured using maternal reports as to whether the child had been suspended and/or expelled from school at any point during the follow-up period.

School dropout (measured in NEWWS and in the studies of FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, SSP, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal reports as to whether the child was in school and, if not, whether dropping out of school was the reason. In NEWWS, mothers were asked whether the child had dropped out of school at any point during the follow-up period; in the other studies, they were asked whether the child was not in school at the time of the follow-up interview because of school dropout.

Receipt of special educational services (measured in NEWWS and in the studies of Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, New Hope, SSP, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal reports as to whether a child went to a special class or school or received special help in school for any physical, emotional, or mental condition. In the New Hope and WRP evaluations, mothers were asked whether the child had received special educational services at any point during the follow-up period; in the other studies, they were asked whether the child had ever received special educational services.

Behavior

Teen parenting (measured in NEWWS and the studies of FTP, Jobs First, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal responses to the following questions: "Has your child had, or fathered, a baby?" and "How old was your child when he or she had his or her first baby?"

School behavior problems (measured in the studies of New Hope, MFIP, SSP, and WRP). This outcome was measured using maternal responses to the question "Since [random assignment], have you been contacted by your child's school regarding any behavioral problems your child may be having?"

Trouble with police (measured in the studies of FTP, SSP, and WRP). In the FTP and WRP evaluations, this outcome was measured using maternal responses to the question "Has your child ever been in trouble with the police since random assignment?" In the SSP evaluation, this outcome was measured using maternal responses to the item "[Indicate the] frequency [with which] your child was questioned by police."

Other delinquent behavior (measured in the SSP study).² The SSP study is the only one that collected in-depth information from parents and adolescents themselves on adolescents' minor and major delinquent behavior, including reports of the frequency with which they drank, used drugs, smoked, stayed out late, and skipped school.

²For more information about these measures, see Morris and Michalopoulos (2000).

Appendix B

Meta-Analytic Techniques

The set of programs examined in this document provides a unique opportunity to understand the average effects of welfare and work policies for parents on outcomes for their adolescent children. The average effects can help shed light on whether and to what extent the scattered negative effects found in various individual program evaluations recently conducted by MDRC are robust or due to chance. The methods used in the present analysis are more systematic than those previously used to evaluate the robustness of the adolescent findings, which involved tallying and comparing the numbers of positive and negative results.

The average effects presented in this synthesis reflect the results of a meta-analytic analysis conducted using techniques outlined in *Toolkit for Practical Meta-Analysis*.¹ A rigorous approach to discerning patterns across studies, meta-analysis can provide the statistical power to estimate a policy's overall effect. Traditionally used by psychologists, a meta-analysis is a systematic review of a population of studies that investigate a similar process or a similar type of outcome. In contrast to tallying methods, meta-analytic techniques produce weighted average effect sizes that take into account the different levels of confidence in each individual study's findings (these differences arise from differences in sample size or in sampling error across studies).

The studies examined here lend themselves to meta-analysis because, despite the relatively small numbers of impact estimates, they are of the same high methodological quality (all used random assignment and achieved high survey response rates), included commensurable measures, and applied similar statistical tests to detect effects. It is important to emphasize, however, that this synthesis does not include all experimental studies of welfare and employment policies ever conducted.

Effect sizes form the centerpiece of a meta-analysis, serving as a standardized measure that ensures comparability across studies. An effect size converts each program impact — that is, the difference between the program group outcome and the control group outcome on each measure — into standard deviation units, thus adjusting for any outcome differences arising from survey measurement (for instance, variations in the period of time that a measure covers). Assuming that samples from different studies are drawn from the same underlying population, effect sizes can be used as indicators of the underlying impacts on outcomes of interest.

¹Lipsey and Wilson, 1996. The authors of this synthesis thank Mark Lipsey for providing detailed comments and guidance on this analysis.

An average effect size across programs — hereafter referred to as the overall average effect size — was calculated for each outcome analyzed in this synthesis. As shown in equation 1, the effect size of each program's impact (d_i) is equal to the average program group outcome minus the average control group outcome, divided by the control group standard deviation.

$$d_i = \frac{(x_i^{e} - x_i^{e})}{\sigma_i^{e}} \tag{1}$$

Following standard meta-analytic procedures,² an inverse variance weight was created for each program's effect size, as shown in equation 2.

$$w_i = \frac{1}{v_i}$$
, where v_i is the variance of the effect size. (2)

The overall average effect size (ES) was calculated by multiplying each effect size by its weight, summing the weighted effect sizes, and dividing this sum by the sum of the weights, as shown in equation 3.

$$ES = \frac{\sum_{i} w_i(d_i)}{\sum_{i} w_i}$$
(3)

The overall average effect size thus represents the best estimate of the effect across studies.

Meta-analysis also allows for the construction of confidence intervals around the overall average effect size. As shown in equation 4, the variance of the overall average effect size equals the sum of the effect size weights, so its standard error (SEES) equals the square root of the sum of the weights.

$$SEES = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\sum_{i} w_{i}}}$$
(4)

For ease of presentation, the overall average effect sizes were converted back into the original metric of percentage point impacts. To do so, the overall average effect size was multiplied by the pooled standard deviation for the control group, which is defined in equation 5, to derive the percentage point impact. The pooled program group mean was computed by adding this impact to the pooled control group mean, which is defined in equation 6. Thus, the average

²Lipsey and Wilson, 1996.

percentage point impact provides the same information as the overall average effect size but expresses that information in the originally reported metric.

Pooled standard deviation for the control group =
$$\sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i} (n_i - 1)sd_i^2}{\sum_{i} (n_i - 1)}}$$
, (5)

where sd_i is the control group standard deviation.

Pooled control group mean =
$$\frac{\sum_{i} (n_i - 1)X_i}{\sum_{i} (n_i - 1)}$$
, (6)

where n_i is the control group sample size and X_i is the control group mean.

Whether effect sizes are similar across programs is an important consideration for an interpretation of the results of a meta-analysis. The techniques followed in this research synthesis assume that the studies all drew samples of adolescents from a single population with one "true" effect size. The homogeneity test — which is based on the Q statistic, shown in equation 7 allows one to determine whether the variability in observed effects is greater than that expected by chance in a set of estimates based on samples from the same underlying population.

$$Q = \sum_{i} (d_i - ES)^2 w_i \tag{7}$$

In the analyses presented in this document, on none of the adolescent measures examined was the homogeneity of the effect sizes across programs statistically significant.³ However, the homogeneity test has relatively low statistical power when applied to a small number of estimates (whereas many meta-analyses draw on more than 17 estimates, the present one had only nine estimates available for some outcomes and no more than 16 estimates for any outcome). When the Q statistic reveals a statistically significant level of heterogeneity, researchers may decide that there is systematic variation among the estimates and adopt "random" or "mixed effects" models. Because of the low power of the homogeneity test in the present context, however, possible explanations for systematic differences in effect sizes were explored using less

³The Q statistic follows a chi-square distribution with k - 1 degrees of freedom, where k is the number of effect sizes. The effect sizes for a given outcome were considered heterogenous if the statistical significance level was less than .10.

formal techniques. One such technique, which entails examining the meta-analytic averages by key policy approach, is presented and discussed in the body of this document.

One challenge to the application of the meta-analytic techniques used here is that some of the studies tested more than one program model in one site. In these studies, which used three-group research designs, the two program groups shared a control group, which means that the estimated effect sizes in each of these sites are correlated, thus violating the homogeneity test's independence assumption. For these cases (for example, the MFIP and WRP evaluations), the overall average effect sizes were also calculated using pooled within-study estimates to assess the robustness of the findings, and the results were no different from the homogeneity test results. Future work from the Next Generation project will investigate other weighting techniques that adjust for correlated effect sizes.

Another challenge in the application of the meta-analytic techniques in this synthesis is that some of the subgroup analyses do not adjust for the fact that the gender and age subgroup comparisons are not based on independent samples of adolescents. For example, a family can include both an adolescent female and an adolescent male. A preliminary investigation indicates, however, that only about 10 percent of families in the study samples included adolescents of both sexes or adolescents in both the adolescent age groups examined, suggesting that the results of the current analysis are unlikely to have been greatly affected by correlations between siblings in a family.

References

- Baker, C. O., and L. D. L. Stevenson. 1986. "Mothers' Strategies for Children's School Achievement: Managing the Transition to High School." *Sociology of Education*, 59: 156-166.
- Baumrind, D. 1989. "Rearing Competent Children." Pages 349-378 in W. Danon (ed.), *Child Development Today and Tomorrow*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Baumrind, D., J. Brooks-Gunn, R. M. Lerner, and A. C. Peterson. 1991. "Parenting Styles and Adolescent Development." In *The Encyclopedia of Adolescence*. New York: Garland.
- Bloom, D., R. Hendra, and C. Michalopoulos. 2000. *WRP: Key Findings from the Forty-Two-Month Client Survey*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Bloom, D., J. J. Kemple, P. Morris, S. Scrivener, N. Verma, and R. Hendra. 2000. *The Family Transition Program: Final Report on Florida's Initial Time-Limited Welfare Program*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Bloom, D., and C. Michalopoulos. 2001. *How Welfare and Work Policies Affect Employment and Income: A Synthesis of Research*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Bloom, D., S. Scrivener, C. Michalopoulos, P. Morris, R. Hendra, D. Adams-Ciardullo, and J. Walter. 2002. *Jobs First: Final Report on Connecticut's Welfare Reform Initiative*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Bos, J., A. Huston, R. Granger, G. Duncan, T. Brock, and V. McLoyd. 1999. *New Hope for People with Low Incomes: Two-Year Results of a Program to Reduce Poverty and Reform Welfare.* New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Bos, J., and W. Vargas. 2002. "Maternal Employment and Changes in Adolescent Outcomes: Evidence from Two Evaluations of Programs That Promote Work." Unpublished. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Brooks, J. L., E. C. Hair, and M. J. Zaslow. 2001. *Welfare Reform's Impacts on Adolescents: Early Warning Signs*. Child Trends Research Brief. Washington, DC: Child Trends.
- Brooks-Gunn, J., E. O. Reiter, S. S. Feldman, and G. R. Elliot. 1990. "The Role of Pubertal Processes." Pages 16-53 in *At the Threshold: The Developing Adolescent*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Brown, B. 2001. *Teens, Jobs, and Welfare: Implications for Social Policy*. Child Trends Research Brief. Washington, DC: Child Trends.
- Burton, L., Brooks, J. L., and Clark, J. 2002. Adultification in Childhood and Adolescence: A Conceptual Model. Working Paper. College Park: The Pennsylvania State University, Center for Human Development and Health Research in Diverse Contexts.
- Chilcoat, H. D., and J. C. Anthony. 1996. "Impact of Parental Monitoring on Initiation of Drug Use Through Late Childhood." *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35: 91-100.

- Child Trends. 1999. Children and Welfare Reform: A Guide to Evaluating the Effects of State Welfare Policies on Children. Washington, DC: Child Trends.
- Connell, J. P., J. L. Aber, and G. Walker. 1995. "How Do Urban Communities Affect Youth? Social Science Research to Inform the Design and Evaluation of Comprehensive Community Initiatives." In J. P. Connell et al. (eds.), New Approaches in Evaluating Community Initiatives. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute.
- Crosby, D. A., L. A. Gennetian, and A. C. Huston. 2001. "Does Child Care Assistance Matter? The Effects of Welfare and Employment Programs on Child Care for Preschool- and Young School-Aged Children." Next Generation Working Paper No. 3. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Eccles, J. S. 1999. "The Development of Children Ages 6 to 14." Future of Children, 9(2): 30-43.
- Flanagan, C. A., and J. S. Eccles. 1993. "Changes in Parents' Work Status and Adolescents' Adjustment at School." *Child Development*, 64(1): 246-257.
- Erikson, E. H. 1968. Identity: Youth and Crisis. New York: Norton.
- Erikson, E. H. 1950/1963. Childhood and Society. New York: Norton.
- Freedman, D., J. Knab, L. Gennetian, and D. Navarro. 2000. *The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN Evaluation: Final Report on a Work First Program in a Major Urban Center*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Gennetian, L. A., G. J. Duncan, V. W. Knox, W. G. Vargas, E. Clark-Kauffman, and A. S. London. 2002. How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents: A Synthesis of Research. Technical Resources. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation. http://www.mdrc.org/Reports2002/ng_adolescent/ng_adolescent_tr.pdf.
- Gennetian, L. A., and C. Miller. 2000. *Reforming Welfare and Rewarding Work: Final Report on the Minnesota Family Investment Program.* Volume 2: *Effects on Children.* New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Graber, J. A., and J. Brooks-Gunn. 1996. "Transitions and Turning Points: Navigating the Passage from Childhood Through Adolescence." *Developmental Psychology*, 32(4): 768-776.
- Graber, J. A., and J. Brooks-Gunn. 1999. "Sometimes I Think That You Don't Like Me: How Mothers and Daughters Negotiate the Transition into Adolescence." Pages 207-242 in M. J. Cox and J. Brooks-Gunn (eds.), *Conflict and Cohesion in Families: Causes and Consequences*. The Advances in Family Research Series. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Grusec, J. E., J. J. Goodnow, and L. Cohen. 1996. "Household Work and the Development of Concern for Others." *Developmental Psychology*, 32: 999-1007.
- Hamilton, G., S. Freedman, L. A. Gennetian, C. Michalopoulos, J. Walter, D. Adams-Ciardullo, and A. Gassman-Pines. 2002. *How Effective Are Different Welfare-to-Work Approaches? Five-Year Adult and Child Impacts for Eleven Programs*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Hill, M. S., W-J. Yeung, and G. J. Duncan. 2001. "Childhood Family Structure and Young Adult Behaviors." *Journal of Population Economics*, 14: 271-299.

- Huston, A. 2002. "Reforms and Child Development." In *Children and Welfare Reform. Future of Children, 12*(1). Los Altos, CA: David and Lucile Packard Foundation.
- Huston, A., and L. Gennetian. Forthcoming. "Parents' Coping Strategies and Child Well-Being." InL. Aber and F. Wuczyn (eds.), *Working Poor Families: Coping as Parents and Workers*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Kurz, D. 2002. "Poor Mothers and the Care of Teenage Children." In Francesca Cancian, D. Kurz, A. London, R. Reviere, and M. Tuominen (eds.), *Child Care and Inequality: Re-Thinking Carework for Children and Youth.* New York: Routledge.
- Linver, M. R., and S. B. Silverberg. 1997. "Maternal Predictors of Early Adolescent Achievement Related Outcomes: Adolescent Gender as Moderator." *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 17: 294-318.
- Lipsey, M., and D. B. Wilson. 1996. *Toolkit for Practical Meta-Analysis*. Contact the authors at 1207 18th Avenue South, Box 508, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN 37212.
- London, A. S., E. K. Scott, K. Edin, and V. Hunter. 2001. "Juggling Low-Wage Work and Family Life: What Mothers Say About Their Children's Well-Being in the Context of Welfare Reform." Next Generation Working Paper No. 6. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Ludwig, J., G. Duncan, and H. Ladd. 2001. "The Effect of MTO on Baltimore Children's Educational Outcomes." *Poverty Research News*, 5. Chicago: Joint Center for Poverty Research.
- Mahoney, J. L., and H. Stattin. 2000. "Leisure Time Activities and Adolescent Anti-Social Behavior: The Role of Structure and Social Context." *Journal of Adolescence*, 23: 113-127.
- Mahoney, J. L., H. Stattin, and D. Magnusson. 2001. "Youth Recreation Center Participation and Criminal Offending: A 20-Year Longitudinal Study of Swedish Boys." *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 25: 509-520.
- Mason, C. A., A. M. Cauce, N. Gonzales, and Y. Hirage. 1996. "Neither Too Sweet nor Too Sour: Problem Peers, Maternal Control, and Problem Behavior in African American Adolescents." *Child Development*, 67: 2115-2130.
- Michalopoulos, C., D. Tattrie, C. Miller, P. K. Robins, P. Morris, D. Gyarmati, C. Redcross, K. Foley, and R. Ford. 2002. Making Work Pay: Final Report on the Self-Sufficiency Project for Long-Term Welfare Recipients. Ottawa: Social Research and Demonstration Corporation.
- Miller, C., V. Knox, L. A. Gennetian, M. Dodoo, J. A. Hunter, and C. Redcross. 2000. *Reforming Welfare and Rewarding Work: Final Report on the Minnesota Family Investment Program.* Volume 1: *Effects on Adults.* New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Morris, P. A., A. C. Huston, G. J. Duncan, D. A. Crosby, and J. M. Bos. 2001. *How Welfare and Work Policies Affect Children*. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Morris, P., and C. Michalopoulos. 2000. *The Self-Sufficiency Project at 36 Months: Effects on Children of a Program That Increased Parental Employment and Income*. Ottawa: Social Research and Demonstration Corporation.
- Morris, P., E. Scott, and A. London. Forthcoming. "Effects on Children as Parents Transition from Welfare to Employment: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Research." In L. Aber and F. Wuczyn (eds.), Working Poor Families: Coping as Parents and Workers. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Mortimer, J. T., M. D. Finch, S. Ryu, M. J. Shanahan, and K. T. Call. 1996. "The Effects of Work Intensity on Adolescent Mental Health, Achievement, and Behavioral Adjustment: New Evidence from a Prospective Study." *Child Development*, 67(June): 1243-1261.
- National Academy of Sciences. 1998. Protecting Youth at Work: Health, Safety, and Development of Working Children and Adolescents in the United States. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- National Center for Education Statistics. 1995. "Dropout Rates in the United States." *Digest of Education Statistics*. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- National Center for Education Statistics. 2000. *Digest of Education Statistics*. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Patterson, G. R., L. Bank, and M. Stoolmiller. 1990. "The Preadolescent's Contributions to Disrupted Family Process." Pages 107-155 in R. Montemayor, G. R. Adams, and T. P. Gullotta, *From Childhood to Adolescence: A Transitional Period*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Patterson, G. R. 1999. "A Proposal Relating a Theory of Delinquency to Societal Rates of Juvenile Crime: Putting Humpty Dumpty Together Again." Pages 11-35 in M. J. Cox and J. Brooks-Gunn (eds.), *Conflict and Cohesion in Families: Causes and Consequences*. The Advances in Family Research Series. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Pettit, G. S., R. D. Laird, K. A. Dodge, J. E. Bates, and M. M. Criss. 1999. "Antecedents and Behavior-Problem Outcomes of Parental Monitoring and Psychological Control in Early Adolescence." *Child Development*, 72(2): 583-598.
- Posner, J. K., and D. L. Vandell. 1994. "Low-Income Children's After-School Care: Are There Beneficial Effects of After-School Programs?" *Child Development*, 65: 472-494.
- Posner, J. K., and D. L. Vandell. 1999. "After-School Activities and the Development of Low Income Urban Children: A Longitudinal Study." *Developmental Psychology*, 35(3): 868-879.
- Quint, J., K. Edin, M. L. Buck, B. Fink, Y. C. Padilla, O. Simmons-Hewitt, and M. E. Valmont. 1999. Big Cities and Welfare Reform: Early Implementation and Ethnographic Findings from the Project on Devolution and Urban Change. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Roth, J., J. Brooks-Gunn, L. Murray, and W. Foster. 1998. "Promoting Healthy Adolescents: Synthesis of Youth Development Program Evaluations." *Journal of Research on Adolescents*, 8(4): 423-459.
- Scott, E. K., K. Edin, A. London, and J. Mazelis. 2001. "My Children Come First: Welfare-Reliant Women's Post-TANF Views of Work-Family Tradeoffs and Marriage." In Greg J. Duncan and P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale (eds.), For Better and For Worse: Welfare Reform and the Well-Being of Children and Families. New York: Russell Sage.

- Scott, E. K., K. Edin, A. London, and R. J. Kissane. 2001. Unstable Work, Unstable Income: Implications for Family Well-being in the Era of Time-limited Welfare. New York: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.
- Sessa, F. M., and L. Steinberg. 1991. "Family Structure and Development of Autonomy During Adolescence." *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 11: 38-55.
- Shumow, L., D. L. Vandell, and J. K. Posner. 1998. "Harsh, Firm and Permissive Parenting in Low Income Families: Relations to Children's Academic Achievement and Behavior Adjustment." *Journal of Family Issues*, 19: 483-507.
- Simmons, R. G., and D. A. Blyth. 1987. *Moving into Adolescence: The Impact of Pubertal Change and School Context*. Hawthorne, NY: De Gruyter.
- Simmons, R. G., R. Burgeson, S. Carlton-Ford, and D. A. Blyth. 1987. "The Impact of Cumulative Change in Early Adolescence." *Child Development*, 5: 1220-1234.
- Steinberg, L., and S. M. Dornbusch. 1991. "Negative Correlates of Part-Time Employment During Adolescence: Replication and Elaboration." *Developmental Psychology*, 27(3): 304-313.
- Zaslow, M. J., K. A. Moore, J. L. Brooks, P. A. Morris, K. Tout, Z. A. Redd, and C. A. Emig. 2002.
 "Experimental Studies of Welfare Reform and Children." In *Children and Welfare Reform*. *Future of Children, 12*(1). Los Altos, CA: David and Lucile Packard Foundation.

Recent Publications on MDRC Projects

Note: For works not published by MDRC, the publisher's name is shown in parentheses. With a few exceptions, this list includes reports published by MDRC since 1999. A complete publications list is available from MDRC and on its Web site (www.mdrc.org), from which copies of MDRC's publications can also be downloaded.

Reforming Welfare and Making Work Pay

Next Generation Project

A collaboration among researchers at MDRC and several other leading research institutions focused on studying the effects of welfare, antipoverty, and employment policies on children and families.

- How Welfare and Work Policies Affect Children: A Synthesis of Research. 2001. Pamela Morris, Aletha Huston, Greg Duncan, Danielle Crosby, Johannes Bos.
- How Welfare and Work Policies Affect Employment and Income: A Synthesis of Research. 2001. Dan Bloom, Charles Michalopoulos.

ReWORKing Welfare: Technical Assistance for States and Localities

A multifaceted effort to assist states and localities in designing and implementing their welfare reform programs. The project includes a series of "how-to" guides, conferences, briefings, and customized, indepth technical assistance.

- After AFDC: Welfare-to-Work Choices and Challenges for States. 1997. Dan Bloom.
- Work First: How to Implement an Employment-Focused Approach to Welfare Reform. 1997. Amy Brown.
- Business Partnerships: How to Involve Employers in Welfare Reform. 1998. Amy Brown, Maria Buck, Erik Skinner.
- Promoting Participation: How to Increase Involvement in Welfare-to-Work Activities. 1999. Gayle Hamilton, Susan Scrivener.
- Encouraging Work, Reducing Poverty: The Impact of Work Incentive Programs. 2000. Gordon Berlin.
- Steady Work and Better Jobs: How to Help Low-Income Parents Sustain Employment and Advance in the Workforce. 2000. Julie Strawn, Karin Martinson.
- Beyond Work First: How to Help Hard-to-Employ Individuals Get Jobs and Succeed in the Workforce. 2001. Amy Brown.

Project on Devolution and Urban Change

A multi-year study in four major urban counties — Cuyahoga County, Ohio (which includes the city of Cleveland), Los Angeles, Miami-Dade, and Philadelphia — that examines how welfare reforms are being implemented and affect poor people, their neighborhoods, and the institutions that serve them.

- Big Cities and Welfare Reform: Early Implementation and Ethnographic Findings from the Project on Devolution and Urban Change. 1999. Janet Quint, Kathryn Edin, Maria Buck, Barbara Fink, Yolanda Padilla, Olis Simmons-Hewitt, Mary Valmont.
- Food Security and Hunger in Poor, Mother-Headed Families in Four U.S. Cities. 2000. Denise Polit, Andrew London, John Martinez.
- Assessing the Impact of Welfare Reform on Urban Communities: The Urban Change Project and Methodological Considerations. 2000. Charles Michalopoulos, Johannes Bos, Robert Lalonde, Nandita Verma.
- Post-TANF Food Stamp and Medicaid Benefits: Factors That Aid or Impede Their Receipt. 2001. Janet Quint, Rebecca Widom.
- Social Service Organizations and Welfare Reform. 2001. Barbara Fink, Rebecca Widom.
- Monitoring Outcomes for Cuyahoga County's Welfare Leavers: How Are They Faring? 2001. Nandita Verma, Claudia Coulton.
- The Health of Poor Urban Women: Findings from the Project on Devolution and Urban Change. 2001. Denise Polit, Andrew London, John Martinez.
- Is Work Enough? The Experiences of Current and Former Welfare Mothers Who Work. 2001. Denise Polit, Rebecca Widom, Kathryn Edin, Stan Bowie, Andrew London, Ellen Scott, Abel Valenzuela.
- Readying Welfare Recipients for Work: Lessons from Four Big Cities as They Implement Welfare Reform. 2002. Thomas Brock, Laura Nelson, Megan Reiter.

Wisconsin Works

This study examines how Wisconsin's welfare-towork program, one of the first to end welfare as an entitlement, is administered in Milwaukee.

- Complaint Resolution in the Context of Welfare Reform: How W-2 Settles Disputes. 2001. Suzanne Lynn.
- Exceptions to the Rule: The Implementation of 24-Month Time-Limit Extensions in W-2. 2001. Susan Gooden, Fred Doolittle.
- Matching Applicants with Services: Initial Assessments in the Milwaukee County W-2 Program. 2001. Susan Gooden, Fred Doolittle, Ben Glispie.

Time Limits

Florida's Family Transition Program

An evaluation of Florida's initial time-limited welfare program, which includes services, requirements, and financial work incentives intended to reduce long-term welfare receipt and help welfare recipients find and keep jobs.

The Family Transition Program: Implementation and Three-Year Impacts of Florida's Initial Time-Limited Welfare Program. 1999. Dan Bloom, Mary Farrell, James Kemple, Nandita Verma.

The Family Transition Program: Final Report on Florida's Initial Time-Limited Welfare Program. 2000. Dan Bloom, James Kemple, Pamela Morris, Susan Scrivener, Nandita Verma, Richard Hendra.

Cross-State Study of Time-Limited Welfare

An examination of the implementation of some of the first state-initiated time-limited welfare programs.

Welfare Time Limits: An Interim Report Card. 1999. Dan Bloom.

Connecticut's Jobs First Program

An evaluation of Connecticut's statewide timelimited welfare program, which includes financial work incentives and requirements to participate in employment-related services aimed at rapid job placement. This study provides some of the earliest information on the effects of time limits in major urban areas.

Connecticut Post-Time Limit Tracking Study: Six-Month Survey Results. 1999. Jo Anna Hunter-Manns, Dan Bloom.

Jobs First: Implementation and Early Impacts of Connecticut's Welfare Reform Initiative. 2000. Dan Bloom, Laura Melton, Charles Michalopoulos, Susan Scrivener, Johanna Walter. Connecticut's Jobs First Program: An Analysis of Welfare Leavers. 2000. Laura Melton, Dan Bloom.

Final Report on Connecticut's Welfare Reform Initiative. 2002. Dan Bloom, Susan Scrivener, Charles Michalopoulos, Pamela Morris, Richard Hendra, Diana Adams-Ciardullo, Johanna Walter.

Vermont's Welfare Restructuring Project

An evaluation of Vermont's statewide welfare reform program, which includes a work requirement after a certain period of welfare receipt, and financial work incentives.

- Forty-Two Month Impacts of Vermont's Welfare Restructuring Project. 1999. Richard Hendra, Charles Michalopoulos.
- WRP: Key Findings from the Forty-Two-Month Client Survey. 2000. Dan Bloom, Richard Hendra, Charles Michalopoulos.

Financial Incentives

Encouraging Work, Reducing Poverty: The Impact of Work Incentive Programs. 2000. Gordon Berlin.

Minnesota Family Investment Program

An evaluation of Minnesota's pilot welfare reform initiative, which aims to encourage work, alleviate poverty, and reduce welfare dependence.

Reforming Welfare and Rewarding Work: Final Report on the Minnesota Family Investment Program. 2000:

Volume 1: Effects on Adults. Cynthia Miller, Virginia Knox, Lisa Gennetian, Martey Dodoo, Jo Anna Hunter, Cindy Redcross. Volume 2: Effects on Children. Lisa Gennetian, Cynthia Miller.

- Reforming Welfare and Rewarding Work: A Summary of the Final Report on the Minnesota Family Investment Program. 2000. Virginia Knox, Cynthia Miller, Lisa Gennetian.
- Final Report on the Implementation and Impacts of the Minnesota Family Investment Program in Ramsey County. 2000. Patricia Auspos, Cynthia Miller, Jo Anna Hunter.

New Hope Project

A test of a community-based, work-focused antipoverty program and welfare alternative operating in Milwaukee.

New Hope for People with Low Incomes: Two-Year Results of a Program to Reduce Poverty and Reform Welfare. 1999. Johannes Bos, Aletha Huston, Robert Granger, Greg Duncan, Thomas Brock, Vonnie McLoyd.

Canada's Self-Sufficiency Project

A test of the effectiveness of a temporary earnings supplement on the employment and welfare receipt of public assistance recipients. Reports on the Self-Sufficiency Project are available from: Social Research and Demonstration Corporation (SRDC), 275 Slater St., Suite 900, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5H9, Canada. Tel.: 613-237-4311; Fax: 613-237-5045. In the United States, the reports are also available from MDRC.

- Does SSP Plus Increase Employment? The Effect of Adding Services to the Self-Sufficiency Project's Financial Incentives (SRDC). 1999. Gail Quets, Philip Robins, Elsie Pan, Charles Michalopoulos, David Card.
- When Financial Work Incentives Pay for Themselves: Early Findings from the Self-Sufficiency Project's Applicant Study (SRDC). 1999. Charles Michalopoulos, Philip Robins, David Card.
- The Self-Sufficiency Project at 36 Months: Effects of a Financial Work Incentive on Employment and Income (SRDC). 2000. Charles Michalopoulos, David Card, Lisa Gennetian, Kristen Harknett, Philip K. Robins.
- The Self-Sufficiency Project at 36 Months: Effects on Children of a Program That Increased Parental Employment and Income (SRDC). 2000. Pamela Morris, Charles Michalopoulos.
- When Financial Incentives Pay for Themselves: Interim Findings from the Self-Sufficiency Project's Applicant Study (SRDC). 2001. Charles Michalopoulos, Tracey Hoy.
- SSP Plus at 36 Months: Effects of Adding Employment Services to Financial Work Incentives (SRDC). 2001. Ying Lei, Charles Michalopoulos.

Mandatory Welfare Employment Programs

National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies

Conceived and sponsored by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), with support from the U.S. Department of Education (ED), this is the largest-scale evaluation ever conducted of different strategies for moving people from welfare to employment.

- Do Mandatory Welfare-to-Work Programs Affect the Well-Being of Children? A Synthesis of Child Research Conducted as Part of the National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies (HHS/ED). 2000. Gayle Hamilton.
- Evaluating Alternative Welfare-to-Work Approaches: Two-Year Impacts for Eleven Programs

(HHS/ED). 2000. Stephen Freedman, Daniel Friedlander, Gayle Hamilton, JoAnn Rock, Marisa Mitchell, Jodi Nudelman, Amanda Schweder, Laura Storto.

- Impacts on Young Children and Their Families Two Years After Enrollment: Findings from the Child Outcomes Study (HHS/ED). 2000. Sharon McGroder, Martha Zaslow, Kristin Moore, Suzanne LeMenestrel.
- What Works Best for Whom: Impacts of 20 Welfare-to-Work Programs by Subgroup (HHS/ED). 2000. Charles Michalopoulos, Christine Schwartz.
- Evaluating Two Approaches to Case Management: Implementation, Participation Patterns, Costs, and Three-Year Impacts of the Columbus Welfare-to-Work Program (HHS/ED). 2001. Susan Scrivener, Johanna Walter.
- How Effective Are Different Welfare-to-Work Approaches? Five-Year Adult and Child Impacts for Eleven Programs– Executive Summary (HHS/ED). 2001. Gayle Hamilton, Stephen Freedman, Lisa Gennetian, Charles Michalopoulos, Johanna Walter, Diana Adams-Ciardullo, Anna Gassman-Pines, Sharon McGroder, Martha Zaslow, Surjeet Ahluwalia, Jennifer Brooks.

Los Angeles's Jobs-First GAIN Program

An evaluation of Los Angeles's refocused GAIN (welfare-to-work) program, which emphasizes rapid employment. This is the first in-depth study of a fullscale "work first" program in one of the nation's largest urban areas.

- The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN Evaluation: First-Year Findings on Participation Patterns and Impacts. 1999. Stephen Freedman, Marisa Mitchell, David Navarro.
- The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN Evaluation: Final Report on a Work First Program in a Major Urban Center. 2000. Stephen Freedman, Jean Knab, Lisa Gennetian, David Navarro.

Teen Parents on Welfare

Teenage Parent Programs: A Synthesis of the Long-Term Effects of the New Chance Demonstration, Ohio's Learning, Earning, and Parenting (LEAP) Program, and the Teenage Parent Demonstration (TPD). 1998. Robert Granger, Rachel Cytron.

Ohio's LEAP Program

An evaluation of Ohio's Learning, Earning, and Parenting (LEAP) Program, which uses financial incentives to encourage teenage parents on welfare to stay in or return to school. LEAP: Final Report on Ohio's Welfare Initiative to Improve School Attendance Among Teenage Parents. 1997. Johannes Bos, Veronica Fellerath.

New Chance Demonstration

A test of a comprehensive program of services that seeks to improve the economic status and general well-being of a group of highly disadvantaged young women and their children.

- New Chance: Final Report on a Comprehensive Program for Young Mothers in Poverty and Their Children. 1997. Janet Quint, Johannes Bos, Denise Polit.
- Parenting Behavior in a Sample of Young Mothers in Poverty: Results of the New Chance Observational Study. 1998. Martha Zaslow, Carolyn Eldred, editors.

Focusing on Fathers

Parents' Fair Share Demonstration

A demonstration for unemployed noncustodial parents (usually fathers) of children on welfare. PFS aims to improve the men's employment and earnings, reduce child poverty by increasing child support payments, and assist the fathers in playing a broader constructive role in their children's lives.

- *Fathers' Fair Share: Helping Poor Men Manage Child Support and Fatherhood* (Russell Sage Foundation). 1999. Earl Johnson, Ann Levine, Fred Doolittle.
- Parenting and Providing: The Impact of Parents' Fair Share on Paternal Involvement. 2000. Virginia Knox, Cindy Redcross.
- Working and Earning: The Impact of Parents' Fair Share on Low-Income Fathers' Employment. 2000. John M. Martinez, Cynthia Miller.
- *The Responsible Fatherhood Curriculum.* 2000. Eileen Hayes, with Kay Sherwood.
- The Challenge of Helping Low-Income Fathers Support Their Children: Final Lessons from Parents' Fair Share. 2001. Cynthia Miller, Virginia Knox

Career Advancement and Wage Progression

Opening Doors to Earning Credentials

An exploration of strategies for increasing low-wage workers' access to and completion of community college programs.

Opening Doors: Expanding Educational Opportunities for Low-Income Workers. 2001. Susan Golonka, Lisa Matus-Grossman.

Education Reform

Accelerated Schools

This study examines the implementation and impacts on achievement of the Accelerated Schools model, a whole-school reform targeted at at-risk students.

Evaluating the Accelerated Schools Approach: A Look at Early Implementation and Impacts on Student Achievement in Eight Elementary Schools. 2001. Howard Bloom, Sandra Ham, Laura Melton, Julienne O'Brien.

Career Academies

The largest and most comprehensive evaluation of a school-to-work initiative, this study examines a promising approach to high school restructuring and the school-to-work transition.

- Career Academies: Building Career Awareness and Work-Based Learning Activities Through Employer Partnerships. 1999. James Kemple, Susan Poglinco, Jason Snipes.
- Career Academies: Impacts on Students' Engagement and Performance in High School. 2000. James Kemple, Jason Snipes.
- Career Academies: Impacts on Students' Initial Transitions to Post-Secondary Education and Employment. 2001. James Kemple.

First Things First

This demonstration and research project looks at First Things First, a whole-school reform that combines a variety of best practices aimed at raising achievement and graduation rates in both urban and rural settings.

Scaling Up First Things First: Site Selection and the Planning Year. 2002. Janet Quint.

Project GRAD

This evaluation examines Project GRAD, an education initiative targeted at urban schools and combining a number of proven or promising reforms.

Building the Foundation for Improved Student Performance: The Pre-Curricular Phase of Project GRAD Newark. 2000. Sandra Ham, Fred Doolittle, Glee Ivory Holton.

LILAA Initiative

This study of the Literacy in Libraries Across America (LILAA) initiative explores the efforts of five adult literacy programs in public libraries to improve learner persistence.

So I Made Up My Mind: Introducing a Study of Adult Learner Persistence in Library Literacy Programs. 2000. John T. Comings, Sondra Cuban.

"I Did It for Myself": Studying Efforts to Increase Adult Learner Persistence in Library Literacy *Programs*. 2001. John Comings, Sondra Cuban, Johannes Bos, Catherine Taylor.

Toyota Families in Schools

A discussion of the factors that determine whether an impact analysis of a social program is feasible and warranted, using an evaluation of a new family literacy initiative as a case study.

An Evaluability Assessment of the Toyota Families in Schools Program. 2001. Janet Quint.

Project Transition

A demonstration program that tested a combination of school-based strategies to facilitate students' transition from middle school to high school.

Project Transition: Testing an Intervention to Help High School Freshmen Succeed. 1999. Janet Quint, Cynthia Miller, Jennifer Pastor, Rachel Cytron.

Equity 2000

Equity 2000 is a nationwide initiative sponsored by the College Board to improve low-income students' access to college. The MDRC paper examines the implementation of Equity 2000 in Milwaukee Public Schools.

Getting to the Right Algebra: The Equity 2000 Initiative in Milwaukee Public Schools. 1999. Sandra Ham, Erica Walker.

School-to-Work Project

A study of innovative programs that help students make the transition from school to work or careers.

Home-Grown Lessons: Innovative Programs Linking School and Work (Jossey-Bass Publishers). 1995. Edward Pauly, Hilary Kopp, Joshua Haimson.

Home-Grown Progress: The Evolution of Innovative School-to-Work Programs. 1997. Rachel Pedraza, Edward Pauly, Hilary Kopp.

Employment and Community Initiatives

Jobs-Plus Initiative

A multi-site effort to greatly increase employment among public housing residents.

Mobilizing Public Housing Communities for Work: Origins and Early Accomplishments of the Jobs-Plus Demonstration. 1999. James Riccio.

Building a Convincing Test of a Public Housing Employment Program Using Non-Experimental Methods: Planning for the Jobs-Plus Demonstration. 1999. Howard Bloom. *Jobs-Plus Site-by-Site: An Early Look at Program Implementation.* 2000. Edited by Susan Philipson Bloom with Susan Blank.

Building New Partnerships for Employment: Collaboration Among Agencies and Public Housing Residents in the Jobs-Plus Demonstration. 2001. Linda Kato, James Riccio.

Neighborhood Jobs Initiative

An initiative to increase employment in a number of low-income communities.

The Neighborhood Jobs Initiative: An Early Report on the Vision and Challenges of Bringing an Employment Focus to a Community-Building Initiative. 2001. Frieda Molina, Laura Nelson.

Connections to Work Project

A study of local efforts to increase competition in the choice of providers of employment services for welfare recipients and other low-income populations. The project also provides assistance to cutting-edge local initiatives aimed at helping such people access and secure jobs.

Designing and Administering a Wage-Paying Community Service Employment Program Under TANF: Some Considerations and Choices. 1999. Kay Sherwood.

San Francisco Works: Toward an Employer-Led Approach to Welfare Reform and Workforce Development. 2000. Steven Bliss.

Canada's Earnings Supplement Project

A test of an innovative financial incentive intended to expedite the reemployment of displaced workers and encourage full-year work by seasonal or part-year workers, thereby also reducing receipt of Unemployment Insurance.

Testing a Re-employment Incentive for Displaced Workers: The Earnings Supplement Project. 1999. Howard Bloom, Saul Schwartz, Susanna Lui-Gurr, Suk-Won Lee.

MDRC Working Papers on Research Methodology

A new series of papers that explore alternative methods of examining the implementation and impacts of programs and policies.

Building a Convincing Test of a Public Housing Employment Program Using Non-Experimental Methods: Planning for the Jobs-Plus Demonstration. 1999. Howard Bloom. Estimating Program Impacts on Student Achievement Using "Short" Interrupted Time Series. 1999. Howard Bloom.

Using Cluster Random Assignment to Measure Program Impacts: Statistical Implications for the Evaluation of Education Programs. 1999. Howard Bloom, Johannes Bos, Suk-Won Lee.

- Measuring the Impacts of Whole School Reforms: Methodological Lessons from an Evaluation of Accelerated Schools. 2001. Howard Bloom.
- *The Politics of Random Assignment: Implementing Studies and Impacting Policy.* 2000. Judith Gueron.
- Modeling the Performance of Welfare-to-Work Programs: The Effects of Program Management and Services, Economic Environment, and Client Characteristics. 2001. Howard Bloom, Carolyn Hill, James Riccio.
- A Regression-Based Strategy for Defining Subgroups in a Social Experiment. 2001. James Kemple, Jason Snipes.
- Extending the Reach of Randomized Social Experiments: New Directions in Evaluations of American Welfare-to-Work and Employment Initiatives. 2001. James Riccio, Howard Bloom.

About MDRC

The Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation (MDRC) is a nonprofit, nonpartisan social policy research organization. We are dedicated to learning what works to improve the well-being of low-income people. Through our research and the active communication of our findings, we seek to enhance the effectiveness of social policies and programs. MDRC was founded in 1974 and is located in New York City and Oakland, California.

MDRC's current projects focus on welfare and economic security, education, and employment and community initiatives. Complementing our evaluations of a wide range of welfare reforms are new studies of supports for the working poor and emerging analyses of how programs affect children's development and their families' well-being. In the field of education, we are testing reforms aimed at improving the performance of public schools, especially in urban areas. Finally, our community projects are using innovative approaches to increase employment in low-income neighborhoods.

Our projects are a mix of demonstrations — field tests of promising program models — and evaluations of government and community initiatives, and we employ a wide range of methods to determine a program's effects, including large-scale studies, surveys, case studies, and ethnographies of individuals and families. We share the findings and lessons from our work — including best practices for program operators — with a broad audience within the policy and practitioner community, as well as the general public and the media.

Over the past quarter century, MDRC has worked in almost every state, all of the nation's largest cities, and Canada. We conduct our projects in partnership with state and local governments, the federal government, public school systems, community organizations, and numerous private philanthropies.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents: A Synthesis of Research

May 2002

Technical Resources

Unit 1: Impacts on Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample

Unit 2: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Gender

Unit 3: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age

Unit 4: Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of a Younger Sibling in the Household

Unit 5: Impacts on Parent and Family Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample

*Click the above links to access each unit

Contents

Unit 1	Impacts on Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample	1
Table 1.1	Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	2
Unit 2	Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Gender	11
Table 2.1	Summary of Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Gender	12
Table 2.2	Impacts on Outcomes for Male Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	14
Table 2.3	Impacts on Outcomes for Female Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	19
Unit 3	Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age	24
Table 3.1	Summary of Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age at Study Entry	25
Table 3.2	Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 10 to 13 at Study Entry, by Program	27
Table 3.3	Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 14 to 16 at Study Entry, by Program	36
Unit 4	Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of a Younger Sibling in the Household	40
Table 4.1	Summary of Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of a Younger Sibling in the Household at Study Entry	41
Table 4.2	Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up Who Had a Younger Sibling at Study Entry, by Program	43
Table 4.3	Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up Who Had No Younger Sibling at Study Entry, by Program	50
Unit 5	Impacts on Parent and Family Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample	57
Table 5.1	Impacts on Selected Measures of Employment, Income, and Family Composition for Parents of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	58
Table 5.2	Impacts on Residential Moves and Neighborhood Quality for Parents of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	60
Table 5.3	Impacts on Use of Child Care and After-School Activities for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	61
Table 5.4	Impacts on Care of an Elementary School-Aged Sibling for a Subset of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program	62

Unit 1

Impacts on Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 1.1

Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

				Jobs Fir	st						FTP			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.928	-0.276	-0.254	0.078	1.084	0.000 **	* 864	3.934	-0.253	-0.234	0.108	1.080	0.020 **	417
Performed above average in school	62.252	-5.731	-0.118	3.542	48.513	0.106	862	63.578	-9.643	-0.200	4.869	48.305	0.048 **	415
Performed below average in school	7.680	5.296	0.188	2.200	28.196	0.016 **	864	10.571	2.861	0.094	3.182	30.569	0.369	417
Currently in school	93.008	0.458	0.018	1.699	25.000	0.788	934	92.224	-0.003	0.000	2.449	27.080	0.999	450
Repeated a grade	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Dropped out	3.317	0.402	0.023	1.265	17.689	0.751	934	1.976	0.049	0.003	1.164	14.709	0.966	450
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Suspended or expelled	28.369	0.404	0.009	3.133	44.929	0.898	962	33.746	12.070	0.253	4.580	47.697	0.009 ***	448
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Had or fathered a baby	3.550	0.966	0.052	1.421	18.559	0.497	909	5.000	-0.916	-0.042	1.894	21.844	0.629	440
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-

				SSP							New Ho	ре		
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a Performed above average in school Performed below average in school	3.576 53.317 9.026	-0.044 -2.884 1.898	-0.044 -0.058 0.066	0.065 3.395 1.999	0.988 49.951 28.690	0.499 0.396 0.343	947 868 896	3.816 62.583 11.455	-0.229 -9.206 7.251	-0.218 -0.189 0.233	0.141 6.188 4.198	1.053 48.649 31.119	0.106 0.138 0.085 *	274 274 274
Currently in school	86.933	-1.663	-0.049	2.029	33.735	0.413	1161	93.733	0.834	0.040	0.883	20.612	0.346	292
Repeated a grade Dropped out Received special educational	39.154 8.709	1.512 2.544	0.031 0.090	2.898 2.223	48.854 28.239	0.602 0.253	1143 723	13.419 -	18.580 -	0.516 -	5.127	35.992	0.000 ***	° 287
services Suspended or expelled	18.450 -	-0.029	-0.001 -	2.291 -	38.825	0.990	1149 -	15.271 40.993	-6.715 -0.829	-0.178 -0.017	3.666 5.730	37.624 49.259	0.068 * 0.885	291 291
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police School behavior problems Frequency of delinguent activity.	24.623 26.384	2.101 3.337	0.049 0.076	2.981 2.648	43.136 44.112	0.481 0.208	861 1150	- 44.250	-3.067	-0.062	- 5.971	- 49.836	0.608	- 291
aged 13-14 Frequency of delinquent activity,	1.482	-0.058	-0.107	0.057	0.546	0.307	345	-	-	-	-	-		-
aged 15-18	1.340	0.065	0.207	0.029	0.316	0.025 **	511	-	-	-	-	-		-
Had or fathered a baby Any smoking Any drug use Drinks once a week or more	- 27.179 17.618 5.656	- 4.768 4.084 4.997	- 0.107 0.107 0.216	- 3.136 2.686 1.855	- 44.546 38.145 23.129	0.129 0.129 0.007 ***	- 846 872 ≰ 848	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -		- - -

 Table 1.1 (continued)

							Full	ull MFIP							
-			Lon	g-term reo	cipients					Re	ecent appl	icants			
-	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.557	0.027	0.021	0.152	1.322	0.857	296	3.735	-0.357	-0.287	0.140	1.243	0.011 **	324	
Performed above average in school	48.119	4.361	0.087	5.842	50.112	0.456	308	52.588	-12.513	-0.250	5.344	50.078	0.020 **	354	
Performed below average in school	23.272	-3.863	-0.093	4.743	41.364	0.416	310	14.849	8.288	0.225	4.296	36.820	0.054 *	355	
Currently in school	96.537	-1.407	-0.067	2.166	21.029	0.516	312	91.221	-0.564	-0.021	2.670	27.175	0.833	356	
Repeated a grade	16.940	-2.584	-0.070	4.305	37.094	0.549	313	11.429	5.146	0.163	3.850	31.610	0.182	354	
Dropped out	2.325	2.106	0.118	1.928	17.895	0.275	312	3.793	1.182	0.076	1.726	15.566	0.494	355	
Received special educational															
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Suspended of expended	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Behavior															
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
School behavior problems	38.369	5.162	0.106	5.618	48.507	0.359	314	31.574	13.932	0.297	5.159	46.907	0.007 ***	354	
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Any ampling	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Ally drug use Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
Dimks once a week of more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	

4

Table 1.1 (continued)

Table 1.1 (co	ontinued)
---------------	-----------

			MFL	P Incentiv	es Only										
			Lon	g-term rec	ripients]	Los Ang	eles Jobs-	First GAI	N		
-	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-valu	e	
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.557	0.000	0.000	0.144	1.322	0.998	318	3.708	-0.035	-0.032	0.111	1.112	0.751		461
Performed above average in school	48.119	-0.529	-0.011	5.474	50.112	0.923	340	56.600	0.266	0.005	4.948	49.669	0.957		461
Performed below average in school	23.272	-3.717	-0.090	4.452	41.364	0.404	341	13.428	2.423	0.071	3.604	34.370	0.502		461
Currently in school	96.537	-3.916	-0.186	2.237	21.029	0.081 *	341	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	16.940	0.863	0.023	4.024	37.094	0.830	339	7.316	-3.339	-0.136	2.371	24.570	0.160		461
Dropped out	2.325	3.167	0.177	2.017	17.895	0.117	341	4.697	-0.515	-0.025	1.868	20.590	0.783		461
Received special educational								0 169	2 2 1 2	0.000	2 175	20.012	0 167		461
services	-	-	-	-	-	-		9.108	2.312	0.080	3.1/3	29.015	0.467		401
Suspended of expended	-	-	-	-	-	-		21.111	-3./09	-0.095	4.000	40.430	0.555		401
<u>Behavior</u>															
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	38.369	11.208	0.231	5.221	48.507	0.032 **	339	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
Had or fathered a haby	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	_	_	-	-	-	_	_	_	_	-	-	_	2	
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	_	-	-	-	_	_

Ϋ́

 Table 1.1 (continued)

	WRP													
-				Full WF	Rb.					WR	P Incentiv	es Only		
	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>														
School performance ^a	3.539	-0.002	-0.002	0.145	1.312	0.988	332	3.539	0.057	0.043	0.152	1.312	0.708	324
Performed above average in school	52.487	-0.789	-0.016	5.617	50.122	0.888	332	52.487	1.843	0.037	5.659	50.122	0.745	324
Performed below average in school	24.940	-2.306	-0.053	4.708	43.437	0.625	332	24.940	-4.717	-0.109	4.832	43.437	0.330	324
Currently in school	87.073	4.650	0.140	2.731	33.240	0.089 *	370	87.073	8.958	0.270	2.748	33.240	0.001 ***	356
Repeated a grade	13.091	0.156	0.004	3.682	35.009	0.966	368	13.091	-1.220	-0.035	3.802	35.009	0.749	356
Dropped out	6.667	-1.119	-0.045	2.247	24.821	0.619	370	6.667	-4.109	-0.166	2.189	24.821	0.061 *	356
Received special educational														
services	28.265	-1.929	-0.042	4.676	45.806	0.680	366	28.265	2.429	0.053	5.005	45.806	0.628	355
Suspended or expelled	31.657	-3.250	-0.070	4.696	46.656	0.489	368	31.657	0.433	0.009	5.222	46.656	0.934	356
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	17.011	4.839	0.125	4.108	38.802	0.239	367	17.011	9.879	0.255	4.699	38.802	0.036 **	353
School behavior problems	35.753	-0.401	-0.008	4.876	47.819	0.935	367	35.753	-0.565	-0.012	5.209	47.819	0.914	355
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-		· -	-	-	-	-	-		-
aged 15-18	-	_	_	_	_			-	-	_	_	-		-
Had or fathered a baby	1.566	-0.354	-0.028	1.121	12.803	0.752	367	1.566	0.695	0.054	1.538	12.803	0.651	354
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		-

 Table 1.1 (continued)

| | |
 | Atlanta L
 | FA
 | |
 | | | | | Atlanta H | CD
 | | | |
|---------|-----------------
--

--
--
--|---
--|--|---|--|---|---
--|--|---|--|
| Control | Impact | Effect
 | Standard
 | Standard
 | p-val | ue
 | Sample | Control | Impact | Effect | Standard | Standard
 | p-valı | ie S | Sample |
| Mean | | Size
 | Error
 | Deviation
 | |
 | Size | Mean | | Size | Error | Deviation
 | | | Size |
| | |
 |
 |
 | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| 20.042 | -0.512 | -0.012
 | 3.697
 | 40.575
 | 0.890 |
 | 492 | 20.042 | -0.170 | -0.004 | 3.719 | 40.575
 | 0.964 | | 552 |
| 13.756 | 2.117 | 0.057
 | 3.202
 | 35.059
 | 0.509 |
 | 493 | 13.756 | 2.591 | 0.070 | 3.063 | 35.059
 | 0.398 | | 552 |
| | |
 |
 |
 | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | |
| 6.260 | 0.466 | 0.018
 | 2.435
 | 21.601
 | 0.848 |
 | 492 | 6.260 | -0.629 | -0.024 | 2.374 | 21.601
 | 0.791 | | 552 |
| 28.466 | -4.086 | -0.084
 | 4.283
 | 44.895
 | 0.340 |
 | 493 | 28.466 | -0.861 | -0.018 | 4.112 | 44.895
 | 0.834 | | 551 |
| | |
 |
 |
 | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| | |
 |
 |
 | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| | |
 |
 |
 | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| 14.301 | -3.458 | -0.093
 | 3.010
 | 34.328
 | 0.251 |
 | 490 | 14.301 | -0.316 | -0.009 | 3.270 | 34.328
 | 0.923 | | 551 |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| - | - | -
 | -
 | -
 | - | -
 | - | - | - | - | - | -
 | - | - | - |
| | Control
Mean | Control
Mean Impact - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 13.756 2.117 6.260 0.466 28.466 -4.086 - - </td <td>Control
Mean Impact
Size Effect
Size - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 13.756 2.117 0.057 6.260 0.466 0.018 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <td< td=""><td>Control
Mean Impact
Impact
Size Effect
Standard
Error - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -<td>Control
Mean Impact
Effect
Size Standard
Error Standard
Deviation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 - - - - - - - - -</td><td>Control
Mean Impact
Impact Effect
Size Standard
Error Deviation p-value
p-value -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Product -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size - - - - - - Size -<td>Atlanta LFA Sample Control Mean Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size Control Mean - - - - - - - Mean - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 0.890 492 20.042 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 0.509 493 13.756 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 0.848 492 6.260 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 0.340 493 28.466 - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 0.251</td><td>Vilanta LFA Sample Sample Size Control Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Sample Size Control Mean Impact Mean Mean Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Mean -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Size Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Size -
 - -</td></td></td></td<><td>VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Impact Impact Effect Standard Deviation Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Effect Standard</td><td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean -<</td><td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample -</td></td> | Control
Mean Impact
Size Effect
Size - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 13.756 2.117 0.057 6.260 0.466 0.018 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <td< td=""><td>Control
Mean Impact
Impact
Size Effect
Standard
Error - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -<td>Control
Mean Impact
Effect
Size Standard
Error Standard
Deviation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 - - - - - - - - -</td><td>Control
Mean Impact
Impact Effect
Size Standard
Error Deviation p-value
p-value -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Product -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size
 - - - - - - Size -<td>Atlanta LFA Sample Control Mean Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size Control Mean - - - - - - - Mean - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 0.890 492 20.042 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 0.509 493 13.756 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 0.848 492 6.260 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 0.340 493 28.466 - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 0.251</td><td>Vilanta LFA Sample Sample Size Control Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Sample Size Control Mean Impact Mean Mean Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Mean -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Size Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Size -</td></td></td></td<> <td>VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Impact Impact Effect Standard Deviation Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Effect Standard</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean -<</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size -</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample -</td> | Control
Mean Impact
Impact
Size Effect
Standard
Error - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <td>Control
Mean Impact
Effect
Size Standard
Error Standard
Deviation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575
 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 - - - - - - - - -</td> <td>Control
Mean Impact
Impact Effect
Size Standard
Error Deviation p-value
p-value -</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Product -</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size - - - - - - Size -<td>Atlanta LFA Sample Control Mean Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size Control Mean - - - - - - - Mean - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 0.890 492 20.042 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 0.509 493 13.756 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 0.848 492 6.260 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 0.340 493 28.466 - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 0.251</td><td>Vilanta LFA Sample Sample Size Control Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Sample Size Control Mean Impact Mean Mean Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Mean -</td><td>Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Size Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Size -</td></td> | Control
Mean Impact
Effect
Size Standard
Error Standard
Deviation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 - - - - - - - - - | Control
Mean Impact
Impact Effect
Size Standard
Error Deviation p-value
p-value - | Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Product -
 - - | Atlanta LFA Control Mean Impact Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size - - - - - - Size - <td>Atlanta LFA Sample Control Mean Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size Control Mean - - - - - - - Mean - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 0.890 492 20.042 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 0.509 493 13.756 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 0.848 492 6.260 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 0.340 493 28.466 - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 0.251</td> <td>Vilanta LFA Sample Sample Size Control Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Sample Size Control Mean Impact Mean Mean Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Mean -</td> <td>Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Size Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Size -</td> | Atlanta LFA Sample Control Mean Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Error Deviation p-value Sample Size Control Mean - - - - - - - Mean - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20.042 -0.512 -0.012 3.697 40.575 0.890 492 20.042 13.756 2.117 0.057 3.202 35.059 0.509 493 13.756 6.260 0.466 0.018 2.435 21.601 0.848 492 6.260 28.466 -4.086 -0.084 4.283 44.895 0.340 493 28.466 - - - - - - - - - 14.301 -3.458 -0.093 3.010 34.328 0.251 | Vilanta LFA Sample Sample Size Control Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Sample Size Control Mean Impact Mean Mean Impact Size Size Size Control Mean Impact Mean - | Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Size Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Size - | VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX VIEWAILEX Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Mean Impact Effect Standard Deviation p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Impact Impact Effect Standard Deviation Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Impact Effect Standard | Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard Mean -< | Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Mean
 Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Effect Standard Standard Standard Error Deviation p-value Size Control Mean Impact Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size Size Standard Standard Standard Standard Mean p-value Size - | Atlanta LFA Atlanta LFA Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Sample - |

NEWWS

 Table 1.1 (continued)

			Gr	and Rapic	ls LFA						Gr	and Rapic	ls HCD		
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	e S	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Repeated a grade	12.164	5.316	0.165	3.221	31.277	0.099 *		501	12.164	5.701	0.177	3.093	31.277	0.066 *	540
Dropped out	17.822	1.503	0.040	3.539	36.660	0.671		508	17.822	0.757	0.020	3.328	36.660	0.820	547
Received special educational															
services	12.440	5.531	0.168	3.274	33.813	0.092 *		503	12.440	4.953	0.151	3.125	33.813	0.113	544
Suspended or expelled	30.839	0.911	0.020	4.225	45.995	0.829		503	30.839	-2.412	-0.052	4.103	45.995	0.557	542
Behavior															
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	15.322	-1.702	-0.048	2.996	36.421	0.570		506	15.322	-1.702	-0.048	2.992	36.421	0.570	545
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		· -

-8-

NEWWS

 Table 1.1 (continued)

	NEWWS															
-			F	Riverside I	LFA						Ri	verside H	CD			
- Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	e Sa	ample Size
School Outcomes																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	6.059	3.558	0.153	2.169	26.716	0.101		627	6.484	3.891	0.175	3.041	24.913	0.201		371
Dropped out	12.129	-1.918	-0.060	2.452	32.937	0.434		628	11.902	2.158	0.073	3.471	32.664	0.534		373
Received special educational																
services	6.621	4.122	0.170	2.346	24.152	0.079 *	*	628	5.537	5.130	0.247	3.049	25.444	0.093 *		372
Suspended or expelled	22.993	-1.351	-0.034	3.487	44.356	0.698		621	26.632	-3.599	-0.092	4.652	41.873	0.440		367
<u>Behavior</u>																
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	/.311	2.252	0.090	2.257	27.580	0.318		627	/.590	3.538	0.148	2.910	26.436	0.225		312
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks ones a weak or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dimks once a week of more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

-9-

Table 1.1 (continued)

				NEWWS	8			
-				Portland	1			
-	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-val	ue	Sample
Outcome	Mean	•	Size	Error	Deviation	•		Size
School Outcomes								
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	8.179	-2.066	-0.086	3.825	24.700	0.590		205
Dropped out	19.770	6.921	0.197	6.396	37.946	0.281		205
Received special educational								
services	10.676	0.210	0.008	4.877	32.469	0.966		205
Suspended or expelled	26.022	-0.538	-0.015	6.515	43.212	0.934		198
Behavior .								
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,								
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,								
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	11.091	-5.345	-0.189	4.365	31.296	0.222		203
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

Unit 2

Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Gender

	Summary of I	Impacts on Adolesco	ent Outcomes, by	y Gender		
Orteams	Dro group Crown	Control Crowns	Iad	Effect Size	Standard Error of	Number of Estimates
Males	Program Group	Control Groups	Impact	Effect Size	Effect Size	Represented
School performance ^b	3.42	3.53	-0.11 **	-0.09	0.05	9
Performed below average in school (%)	19.46	17.31	2.15	0.06	0.05	9
Performed above average in school (%)	46.05	47.68	-1.63	-0.03	0.05	9
Repeated a grade ^{††} (%)	23.50	27.16	-3.66 *	-0.09	0.05	7
Received special educational services (%)	24.20	24.99	-0.79	-0.02	0.06	4
Suspended or expelled (%)	37.70	35.43	2.27	0.05	0.06	5
Dropped out (%)	5.70	5.86	-0.16	-0.01	0.04	9
Had or fathered a baby (%)	2.35	1.49	0.86	0.07	0.06	4
Females School performance ^b	3.76	3.86	-0.09 *	-0.08	0.05	9
Performed below average in school (%)	12.22	11.66	0.56	0.02	0.05	9
Performed above average in school (%)	58.87	62.51	-3.64	-0.08	0.05	9
Repeated a grade ^{††} (%)	19.56	17.02	2.54	0.07	0.06	7
Received special educational services (%)	15.13	13.51	1.63	0.05	0.07	4
Suspended or expelled (%)	22.07	22.08	-0.01	0.00	0.06	5
Dropped out (%)	4.02	3.48	0.54	0.03	0.05	9
Had or fathered a baby (%)	3.80	4.74	-0.94	-0.04	0.07	4

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents Table 2.1

Table 2.1 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at followup (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

New Hope and NEWWS were excluded from calculations because gender information was not available in these studies.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; ** = 1 percent.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the programs' impacts on the two adolescent subgroups. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

Note that certain measures are not available in some studies. The availability of measure within studies can be seen in Tables 2.2 and 2.3.

^aThe percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates.

^bSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 2.2

Impacts on Outcomes for Male Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

				Jobs Firs	t						FTP			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes School performance ^a Performed above average in school Performed below average in school Currently in school Repeated a grade	3.836 57.971 8.097 92.382	-0.286 -6.662 6.717 3.558	-0.268 -0.135 0.238 0.141	0.106 5.020 3.001 2.152	1.068 49.382 28.271 25.193	0.007 *** 0.185 0.026 ** 0.099 *	429 428 429 461	3.860 59.010 9.105 91.723	-0.385 -13.062 7.820 -1.009	-0.355 -0.265 0.277 -0.035	0.161 7.251 5.046 3.741	1.084 49.302 28.192 28.632	0.018 ** 0.073 * 0.123 0.788	198 197 198 216
 Dropped out Received special educational services Suspended or expelled 	3.919 	-1.344 - 2.197	-0.070 _ 0.047	1.750 - 4.737	19.193 - 46.986	0.443	461 473	2.333 - 41.688	-0.036 - 12.514	-0.002 - 0.252	1.400 - 6.858	17.061 - 49.674	0.980 - 0.069 *	216 214
Behavior Trouble with the police School behavior problems Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14 Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 15-18	- -	- -	-	- -	- -				- -	- - -	- -	- -		
Had or fathered a baby Any smoking Any drug use Drinks once a week or more	1.943 - -	0.124 - -	0.008	1.394 - -	14.646 - -	0.929	449	2.162	1.351 - - -	0.095	2.062	14.284 - -	0.513	210

							F	ull MF	IP						
			Long	g-term rec	ipients						Rec	ent applica	ants		
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	s Sa	ample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean	-	Size	Error	Deviation			Size	Mean	_	Size	Error	Deviation	_	Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.334	0.039	0.031	0.208	1.278	0.852		157	3.543	-0.258	-0.199	0.202	1.299	0.202	153
Performed above average in school	38.007	7.580	0.154	7.974	49.132	0.343		165	43.962	-8.123	-0.162	7.583	50.175	0.285	169
Performed below average in school	25.250	-1.951	-0.046	6.937	42.670	0.779		167	18.344	4.352	0.107	5.946	40.839	0.465	170
Currently in school	95.521	-3.027	-0.142	3.296	21.302	0.359		168	85.196	6.248	0.192	4.178	32.525	0.136	169
Repeated a grade	23.403	-7.477	-0.183	6.094	40.920	0.221		170	15.130	3.535	0.103	6.005	34.222	0.557	168
Dropped out	3.419	3.834	0.207	3.054	18.562	0.210		168	6.114	0.157	0.010	2.876	16.219	0.957	168
Received special educational															
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
<u>Behavior</u>															
다. Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	44.145	5.177	0.104	7.674	49.952	0.501		170	31.925	17.544	0.370	7.565	47.458	0.021 **	168
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2.2 (continued)

			MFIP	Incentive	s Only									
			Long	-term reci	pients					Los An	geles Jobs	-First GAIN	1	
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-val	ue Sample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean	_	Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean	-	Size	Error	Deviation	_	Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.334	-0.058	-0.045	0.201	1.278	0.774	168	3.529	-0.164	-0.138	0.213	1.189	0.443	238
Performed above average in school	38.007	0.292	0.006	7.559	49.132	0.969	181	48.495	-1.742	-0.035	9.532	50.181	0.855	238
Performed below average in school	25.250	0.970	0.023	6.909	42.670	0.888	182	19.375	1.170	0.029	7.701	40.272	0.879	238
Currently in school	95.521	-3.731	-0.175	3.213	21.302	0.247	182							
Repeated a grade	23.403	-4.336	-0.106	5.843	40.920	0.459	183	8.679	-5.094	-0.186	4.765	27.459	0.286	238
Dropped out	3.419	2.842	0.153	3.078	18.562	0.357	182	3.498	3.285	0.193	3.685	17.019	0.374	238
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12.478	4.216	0.124	7.126	34.120	0.555	238
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	29.206	-4.765	-0.105	8.722	45.493	0.586	238
Behavior								-	-	-	-	-		
$\stackrel{1}{\uparrow}$ Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	44.145	15.859	0.318	7.301	49.952	0.031	** 182	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2.2 (continued)

							W	RP						
				Full WR	P					WR	P Incentiv	es Only		
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard p	-value	Sample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.368	0.020	0.015	0.210	1.329	0.924	177	3.368	0.161	0.121	0.217	1.329	0.457	169
Performed above average in school	43.468	5.037	0.101	7.934	49.784	0.526	177	43.468	8.739	0.176	8.430	49.784	0.301	169
Performed below average in school	30.884	-4.820	-0.103	7.058	46.983	0.495	177	30.884	-7.570	-0.161	7.465	46.983	0.311	169
Currently in school	86.284	4.103	0.117	3.809	35.173	0.282	203	86.284	6.533	0.186	3.870	35.173	0.092 *	188
Repeated a grade	17.528	-4.410	-0.116	5.525	38.060	0.425	201	17.528	-8.295	-0.218	5.743	38.060	0.150	188
Dropped out	8.941	-2.144	-0.074	3.242	29.028	0.509	203	8.941	-5.494	-0.189	3.181	29.028	0.085 *	188
Received special educational														
services	33.774	3.609	0.074	6.847	48.727	0.599	200	33.774	-1.807	-0.037	7.408	48.727	0.807	188
Suspended or expelled	37.528	-2.108	-0.043	6.850	49.199	0.758	201	37.528	-0.039	-0.001	7.920	49.199	0.996	188
<u>Behavior</u>														
$\frac{1}{2}$ Trouble with the police	21.101	9.931	0.232	6.120	42.907	0.106	201	21.101	19.077	0.445	7.057	42.907	0.007 ***	186
School behavior problems	48.208	-6.093	-0.122	7.070	50.089	0.389	201	48.208	-6.209	-0.124	7.971	50.089	0.437	187
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	0.604	1.818	0.179	1.222	10.153	0.138	201	0.604	0.392	0.039	0.982	10.153	0.690	187
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-				
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2.2 (continued)

Table 2.2 (continued)

				SSP			
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean	Ŷ	Size	Error	Deviation	^	Size
School Outcomes							
School performance ^a	3.363	0.038	0.039	0.088	0.966	0.667	486
Performed above average in school	44.554	0.607	0.012	4.713	49.826	0.898	449
Performed below average in school	11.765	0.884	0.027	3.075	32.298	0.774	456
Currently in school	84.932	0.129	0.004	2.874	35.836	0.964	619
Repeated a grade	45.833	-1.355	-0.027	4.024	49.913	0.736	613
Dropped out	10.556	2.971	0.096	3.301	30.813	0.369	386
Received special educational							
services	24.296	-2.715	-0.063	3.409	42.963	0.426	612
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-		
Behavior							
Trouble with the police	36.898	-0.217	-0.004	4.753	48.383	0.964	415
School behavior problems	36.842	0.240	0.005	3.906	48.322	0.951	613
Frequency of delinquent activity,							
aged 13-14	1.587	-0.181	-0.296	0.085	0.612	0.034 **	164
Frequency of delinquent activity,							
aged 15-18	1.401	0.053	0.150	0.046	0.354	0.247	248
Ever had a baby	-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	24.022	5.624	0.131	4.407	42.842	0.203	404
Any drug use	17.895	4.519	0.118	3.902	38.432	0.248	421
Drinks once a week or more	7.263	3.310	0.127	2.816	26.025	0.240	405

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Gender information was not available in the New Hope and NEWWS studies.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 2.3

Impacts on Outcomes for Female Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

				Jobs Firs	t						FTP			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.992	-0.213	-0.193	0.111	1.098	0.057 *	434	3.883	0.090	0.082	0.154	1.095	0.560	190
Performed above average in school	65.831	-3.594	-0.076	5.082	47.204	0.480	433	63.197	2.835	0.059	7.155	48.317	0.692	189
Performed below average in school	8.021	2.453	0.087	3.042	28.184	0.420	434	13.827	-4.711	-0.141	4.440	33.371	0.290	190
Currently in school	93.761	-2.388	-0.096	2.607	24.831	0.360	472	94.332	-1.541	-0.063	3.442	24.628	0.655	203
Repeated a grade	-	_	-	_	_			_	-	-	_	-		
- Dropped out	2.797	1.748	0.111	1.814	15.729	0.336	472	1.037	0.924	0.097	1.907	9.578	0.628	203
• Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-		100	-	-	-	-	-		• • •
Suspended or expelled	24.655	-4.340	-0.104	3.996	41.788	0.278	488	24.592	12.466	0.284	6.363	43.893	0.051 *	203
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Ever had a baby	4.080	3.474	0.156	2.625	22.278	0.186	459	8.940	-3.990	-0.142	3.235	28.007	0.219	199
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2.3	(continued)	
-----------	-------------	--

							Full M	FIP						
-			Long	g-term rec	ipients					Rec	cent appli	cants		
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.741	0.153	0.114	0.227	1.340	0.502	139	3.961	-0.552	-0.471	0.196	1.173	0.005 ***	171
Performed above average in school	55.691	7.696	0.155	8.382	49.694	0.360	143	61.186	-19.534	-0.395	7.533	49.507	0.010 **	185
Performed below average in school	22.583	-9.717	-0.244	6.643	39.844	0.145	143	9.530	14.745	0.455	5.927	32.410	0.014 **	185
Currently in school	96.440	1.892	0.091	2.864	20.837	0.510	144	96.042	-5.707	-0.271	3.467	21.065	0.101	187
Repeated a grade	11.607	-1.199	-0.039	5.819	30.819	0.837	143	10.057	3.497	0.120	4.897	29.217	0.476	186
Dropped out	2.100	-0.456	-0.027	2.290	17.146	0.842	144	2.777	0.367	0.024	2.034	15.074	0.857	187
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- 1	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	30.597	5.376	0.118	8.377	45.414	0.522	144	30.728	9.606	0.206	7.093	46.682	0.177	186
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Ever had a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		

			MFIP	⁹ Incentive	es Only									
			Long	-term rec	ipients					Los An	igeles Jobs	-First GAI	N	
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.741	0.092	0.069	0.201	1.340	0.649	150	3.894	0.103	0.106	0.172	0.973	0.549	223
Performed above average in school	55.691	2.475	0.050	7.944	49.694	0.756	159	64.302	4.286	0.090	7.753	47.583	0.581	223
Performed below average in school	22.583	-9.441	-0.237	5.561	39.844	0.091 *	159	5.638	6.226	0.268	4.966	23.218	0.212	223
Currently in school	96.440	-2.233	-0.107	2.781	20.837	0.423	159							
Repeated a grade	11.607	4.476	0.145	5.187	30.819	0.389	156	5.940	-1.797	-0.087	3.448	20.569	0.603	223
Dropped out	2.100	1.517	0.089	2.228	17.146	0.497	159	6.027	-4.153	-0.172	3.012	24.113	0.170	223
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-		-	3.301	4.960	0.241	3.940	20.569	0.210	223
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-		-	11.469	-1.602	-0.052	5.430	30.825	0.768	223
Behavior								-	-	-	-	-		
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	30.597	9.182	0.202	7.339	45.414	0.212	157	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Ever had a baby	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2.3 (continued)

							WF	RP						
-				Full WF	ŧР					WR	P Incentiv	es Only		1
	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard p Deviation	o-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>														
School performance ^a	3.777	-0.147	-0.116	0.204	1.269	0.471	155	3.777	-0.071	-0.056	0.217	1.269	0.744	154
Performed above average in school	64.340	-13.932	-0.285	8.077	48.900	0.086 *	155	64.340	-3.726	-0.076	8.060	48.900	0.644	154
Performed below average in school	17.849	-0.384	-0.010	6.020	37.906	0.949	155	17.849	0.916	0.024	6.507	37.906	0.888	154
Currently in school	89.520	4.320	0.140	3.513	30.951	0.220	167	89.520	7.991	0.258	4.053	30.951	0.050 **	167
Repeated a grade	9.883	4.658	0.151	5.245	30.951	0.375	167	9.883	0.697	0.023	5.326	30.951	0.896	167
Dropped out	2.797	0.984	0.053	2.660	18.562	0.712	167	2.797	0.280	0.015	2.760	18.562	0.919	167
Received special educational														I
services	22.784	-8.250	-0.204	6.438	40.419	0.201	166	22.784	2.758	0.068	6.951	40.419	0.692	166
Suspended or expelled	23.860	-1.660	-0.040	6.728	41.908	0.805	167	23.860	1.158	0.028	6.935	41.908	0.868	167
<u>, Behavior</u>														
^P Trouble with the police	13.316	-5.236	-0.161	5.184	32.579	0.314	166	13.316	-0.892	-0.027	5.784	32.579	0.878	166
School behavior problems	24.957	-1.513	-0.036	6.545	41.908	0.817	166	24.957	2.845	0.068	6.537	41.908	0.664	167
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-10	-	-	-	-	-		166	-	-	-	-	-		166
Any smoking	5.145	-3.037	-0.199	2.107	13.337	0.104	100	3.143	-0.340	-0.025	2.034	13.337	0.902	100
	-	-	-	-	-			-	_	-	_	_		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		_
Drinks once a week of more	_	_	_	_	-			_	_	_	_	-		

Table 2.3 (continued)

Table 2.3 (continued)

				SSP			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes							
School performance ^a	3.781	-0.098	-0.101	0.093	0.966	0.295	460
Performed above average in school	61.951	-5.409	-0.111	4.794	48.670	0.260	418
Performed below average in school	6.452	2.517	0.102	2.538	24.624	0.322	439
Currently in school	89.189	-3.677	-0.118	2.846	31.112	0.197	541
Repeated a grade	31.641	4.491	0.096	4.107	46.598	0.275	529
Dropped out	6.536	2.160	0.087	2.882	24.797	0.454	336
Received special educational	12.016	2 (90	0.000	2 0 2 1	22 579	0.2(1	520
Supported on ownallad	12.016	2.680	0.082	2.931	32.378	0.361	530
Suspended of expended	-	-	-	-	-		
Behavior							
Trouble with the police	13.744	3.277	0.095	3.410	34.513	0.337	445
School behavior problems	14.786	6.285	0.177	3.293	35.565	0.057 *	536
Frequency of delinquent activity,							100
aged 13-14	1.394	0.047	0.101	0.077	0.469	0.542	180
aged 15-18	1 283	0.073	0 274	0.035	0 265	0.038 **	262
Ever had a baby	-	-	-	-	-		202
Any smoking	29.858	4.341	0.095	4.435	45.872	0.328	441
Any drug use	17.371	3.638	0.096	3.703	37.975	0.326	450
Drinks once a week or more	4.286	6.444	0.317	2.463	20.302	0.009 ***	442

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Gender information was not available in the New Hope and NEWWS studies.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

Unit 3

Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age

Summary of Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Age at Study Entry												
Outcome	Program Group	Control Group	Impact ^a	Effect Size	Standard Error of Effect Size	Number of Estimates Represented						
Aged 10 to 13	r togram oroup	Control Group	Impact	Effect Size	Effect Size	Represented						
School performance ^b	3.55	3.68	-0.13 ***	-0.11	0.03	10						
Performed below average in school (%)	17.62	14.99	2.63 **	0.08	0.04	10						
Performed above average in school (%)	52.07	55.45	-3.38 **	-0.07	0.03	10						
Repeated a grade (%)	17.67	15.53	2.15 **	0.06	0.03	15						
Received special educational services ††† (%)	15.07	12.92	2.14 **	0.07	0.03	12						
Suspended or expelled † (%)	28.13	29.25	-1.12	-0.03	0.03	13						
Dropped out †† (%)	8.33	8.48	-0.15	-0.01	0.03	16						
Had or fathered a baby (%)	8.60	8.83	-0.23	-0.01	0.03	11						
Aged 14 to 16 School performance ^b	3.72	3.81	-0.09	-0.08	0.08	8						
Performed below average in school (%)	9.65	8.73	0.93	0.03	0.08	8						
Performed above average in school (%)	51.83	56.40	-4.57	-0.09	0.08	8						
Repeated a grade (%)	30.48	32.21	-1.72	-0.04	0.08	7						
Received special educational services ††† (%)	12.88	18.84	-5.96 **	-0.16	0.08	4						
Suspended or expelled † (%)	34.96	27.30	7.65 *	0.17	0.10	4						
Dropped out †† (%)	17.94	12.29	5.65 **	0.16	0.08	7						
Had or fathered a baby (%)	8.35	6.63	1.73	0.07	0.13	3						

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents Table 3.1

-25-
Table 3.1 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations for the 10-13 year old subgroup based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP. MDRC calculations for the 14-16 year old subgroup based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: Jobs First, MFIP, New Hope, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at followup (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

The FTP and NEWWS studies were excluded from calculations for the 14-16 year old subgroup because information was not available for this age group.

The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN study was excluded from calculations for the 16-18 year old subgroup because the sample was too small for analysis.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; ** = 1 percent.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the programs' impacts on the two adolescent subgroups. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

Note that certain measures are not available in some studies. The availability of measure within studies can be seen in Tables 3.2 and 3.3.

^aThe percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates.

^bSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 3.2

Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 10 to 13 at Study Entry, by Program

					Jobs Fir	st					N	ew Hope			
Outcome		Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a		3.930	-0.263	-0.243	0.082	1.083	0.001 ***	740	3.920	-0.264	-0.250	0.167	0.988	0.116	186
Performed above ave	rage in school	61.450	-3.888	-0.080	3.817	48.568	0.309	738	68.178	-13.898	-0.286	7.490	47.785	0.065 *	186
Performed below ave	rage in school	7.303	5.744	0.209	2.231	27.420	0.010 **	740	8.773	8.737	0.281	4.947	30.168	0.079 *	186
Currently in school	-	96.834	1.263	0.080	1.321	15.763	0.339	765	97.741	0.288	0.014	1.079	10.483	0.790	190
Repeated a grade		-	-	-	-	-			12.216	14.368	0.399	6.087	34.683	0.019 **	186
b Dropped out		1.162	-0.216	-0.024	0.926	0.092	0.816	765	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
[→] Received special edu	cational														
services		-	-	-	-	-			18.407	-9.826	-0.261	4.860	40.055	0.045 **	190
Suspended or expelle	ed	30.088	-1.528	-0.033	3.548	45.680	0.667	786	45.131	-8.619	-0.175	7.513	49.908	0.253	190
Behavior															
Trouble with the pol	ce	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior prol	olems	-	-	-	-	-			49.731	-6.392	-0.128	7.656	50.274	0.405	190
Frequency of delinqu	ent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinqu	ent activity,														
aged 15-18		-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a bal	ру	1.838	0.574	0.044	0.985	13.129	0.560	745	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any smoking		-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use		-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week	or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				SSP							FTP			
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error I	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.560	-0.068	-0.069	0.073	0.986	0.351	752	3.934	-0.253	-0.234	0.108	1.080	0.020 **	417
Performed above average in school	53.079	-4.431	-0.089	3.749	49.978	0.238	710	63.578	-9.643	-0.200	4.869	48.305	0.048 **	415
Performed below average in school	9.621	3.013	0.102	2.346	29.531	0.199	714	10.571	2.861	0.094	3.182	30.569	0.369	417
Currently in school	92.417	1.305	0.049	1.726	26.504	0.450	867	92.224	-0.003	0.000	2.449	27.080	0.999	450
Repeated a grade	33.732	3.797	0.080	3.273	47.336	0.246	854	-	_	-	-	-		-
, Dropped out	6.863	-0.226	-0.009	2.424	25.344	0.926	429	1.976	0.049	0.003	1.164	14.709	0.966	450
Received special educational														
services	19.194	0.189	0.005	2.668	39.430	0.944	875		-	-	-	-		-
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-			33.746	12.070	0.253	4.580	47.697	0.009 ***	* 448
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	25.796	2.650	0.060	3.473	43.821	0.446	654	-	-	-	-	-		-
School behavior problems	27.014	4.195	0.094	3.064	44.456	0.171	876	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	1.482	-0.058	-0.107	0.057	0.546	0.307	345	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	1.304	0.059	0.203	0.035	0.293	0.092 *	304	-	-	-	-	-		-
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-			5.000	-0.916	-0.042	1.894	21.844	0.629	440
Any smoking	24.262	2.384	0.056	3.446	42.937	0.489	638	-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	14.921	3.975	0.111	2.913	35.686	0.173	658	-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	4.934	1.911	0.088	1.855	21.694	0.303	639	-	-	-	-	-		-

Table 3.2 (continued)

								Full	MFIP						
			Long	g-term rec	ipients						Rec	ent applic	ants		
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	e 5	Sample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.461	0.046	0.034	0.174	1.329	0.794		235	3.766	-0.422	-0.348	0.151	1.215	0.005 ***	263
Performed above average in school	46.224	4.196	0.084	6.787	50.061	0.537		234	56.189	-13.097	-0.263	6.108	49.850	0.033 **	265
Performed below average in school	26.862	-5.073	-0.118	5.662	42.966	0.371		236	13.835	14.890	0.411	5.069	36.235	0.004 ***	266
Currently in school	100.139	-0.910	•	0.839	0.000	0.279		236	97.791	1.608	0.124	1.349	13.018	0.234	266
Repeated a grade	14.164	0.890	0.025	5.030	35.019	0.860		237	9.940	7.119	0.243	4.369	29.311	0.104	266
b Dropped out	-0.139	0.910		0.839	0.000	0.279		236	0.488	0.142		0.643	0.000	0.825	266
• Received special educational															
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
<u>Behavior</u>															
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	43.799	2.474	0.050	6.787	49.508	0.716		238	31.390	16.694	0.353	5.964	47.343	0.005 ***	266
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		

Table 3.2 (continued)

Table 3.2 (co	ontinu	ed)
---------------	--------	-----

			MFIP	Incentive	es Only											
			Long	-term reci	ipients						Los An	geles Jobs	-First GAI	N		
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-valu	ie Samj	ple	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	S	ample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Si	ize	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size
School Outcomes																
School performance ^a	3.461	0.051	0.038	0.169	1.329	0.763	2	58	3.667	0.099	0.089	0.143	1.109	0.492		309
Performed above average in school	46.224	3.223	0.064	6.430	50.061	0.617	2	60	53.847	6.754	0.135	6.369	49.901	0.290		309
Performed below average in school	26.862	-4.783	-0.111	5.375	42.966	0.374	2	61	13.269	1.822	0.051	4.595	35.380	0.692		309
Currently in school	100.139	-1.615 .		1.070	0.000	0.132	2	61								
Repeated a grade	14.164	1.131	0.032	4.456	35.019	0.800	2	59	6.034	-4.563	-0.197	2.485	23.181	0.068	*	309
Dropped out	-0.139	1.615 .		1.070	0.000	0.132	2	61	0.848	0.868	0.078	1.524	11.180	0.569		309
Received special educational																
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		11.550	2.971	0.093	4.478	31.785	0.508		309
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		20.788	-6.002	-0.148	5.188	40.683	0.248		309
ப் <u>Behavior</u>									-	-	-	-	-			
$\hat{\mathbf{P}}$ Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	
School behavior problems	43.799	6.658	0.135	6.052	49.508	0.272	2	59	-	-	-	-	-			
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-			

							W	RP						
				Full WR	P					WR	P Incentiv	es Only		
	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.387	0.032	0.024	0.163	1.325	0.845	276	3.387	0.152	0.114	0.175	1.325	0.388	257
Performed above average in school	48.625	-0.396	-0.008	6.136	50.143	0.949	276	48.625	2.817	0.056	6.480	50.143	0.664	257
Performed below average in school	29.008	-3.067	-0.068	5.401	45.356	0.571	276	29.008	-7.987	-0.176	5.602	45.356	0.155	257
Currently in school	94.989	3.654	0.175	1.950	20.909	0.062 *	285	94.989	4.778	0.229	1.831	20.909	0.009 ***	264
Repeated a grade	15.003	-0.764	-0.020	4.242	37.410	0.857	285	15.003	-4.085	-0.109	4.484	37.410	0.363	264
Dropped out	2.535	-1.850	-0.124	1.422	14.960	0.194	285	2.535	-2.077	-0.139	1.161	14.960	0.074 *	264
Received special educational														
services	28.508	1.446	0.031	5.553	46.450	0.795	284	28.508	6.978	0.150	6.107	46.450	0.254	264
Suspended or expelled	32.134	-4.816	-0.103	5.293	46.754	0.363	285	32.134	0.281	0.006	6.003	46.754	0.963	264
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	16.944	0.094	0.002	4.478	38.949	0.983	283	16.944	6.468	0.166	5.146	38.949	0.209	262
School behavior problems	39.548	-0.626	-0.013	5.691	49.048	0.913	284	39.548	-1.658	-0.034	6.241	49.048	0.791	263
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	0.252	0.142		0.330	0.000	0.667	284	0.252	1.315		0.924	0.000	0.155	263
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			-		-				
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		

Table 3.2 (continued)

Table 3.2	(continue	Ч)
1 abic 3.2	Continue	ju j

								NEWWS	5							
				Atlanta L	FA						A	Atlanta LF	Ά			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-va	lue	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	S	ample Size
School Outcomes																~
School performance ^a	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	_	-	-	-
Performed above average in school Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade Dropped out	20.042 13.756	-0.512 2.117	-0.012 0.057	3.697 3.202	40.575 35.059	0.890 0.509		492 493	20.042 13.756	-0.170 2.591	-0.004 0.070	3.719 3.063	40.575 35.059	0.964 0.398		552 552
services Suspended or expelled	6.260 28.466	0.466 -4.086	0.018 -0.084	2.435 4.283	21.601 44.895	0.848 0.340		492 493	6.260 28.466	-0.629 -0.861	-0.024 -0.018	2.374 4.112	21.601 44.895	0.791 0.834		552 551
<u>Behavior</u>																
Trouble with the police School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- -	-
Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
aged 15-18	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-
Had or fathered a baby	14.301	-3.458	-0.093	3.010	34.328	0.251		490	14.301	-0.316	-0.009	3.270	34.328	0.923		551
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

1 abic J.2 (continucu)

								NE	WWS							
-			R	Riverside L	JFA						Ri	verside H	CD			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	S	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-va	lue	Sample Size
School Outcomes																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	6.059	3.558	0.153	2.169	26.716	0.101		627	6.484	3.891	0.175	3.041	24.913	0.201		371
Dropped out	12.129	-1.918	-0.060	2.452	32.937	0.434		628	11.902	2.158	0.073	3.471	32.664	0.534		373
Received special educational																
services	6.621	4.122	0.170	2.346	24.152	0.079 *		628	5.537	5.130	0.247	3.049	25.444	0.093	*	372
Suspended or expelled	22.993	-1.351	-0.034	3.487	44.356	0.698		621	26.632	-3.599	-0.092	4.652	41.873	0.440		367
Behavior																
للله Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-
Frequency of delinquent activity.																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	7.311	2.252	0.090	2.257	27.580	0.318		627	7.590	3.538	0.148	2.910	26.436	0.225		372
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.2	(continued)
1 abic 5.2	(continucu)

								NEV	WWS							
			Gra	nd Rapids	s LFA						Gi	rand Rapio	ds HCD			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	e S	ample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	ıe	Sample Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	12.164	5.316	0.165	3.221	31.277	0.099 *		501	12.164	5.701	0.177	3.093	31.277	0.066	*	540
Dropped out	17.822	1.503	0.040	3.539	36.660	0.671		508	17.822	0.757	0.020	3.328	36.660	0.820		547
Received special educational																
services	12.440	5.531	0.168	3.274	33.813	0.092 *		503	12.440	4.953	0.151	3.125	33.813	0.113		544
Suspended or expelled	30.839	0.911	0.020	4.225	45.995	0.829		503	30.839	-2.412	-0.052	4.103	45.995	0.557		542
<u>Behavior</u>																
S Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	15.322	-1.702	-0.048	2.996	36.421	0.570		506	15.322	-1.702	-0.048	2.992	36.421	0.570		545
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.2 (continued)

				NEWW	S			
				Portlan	d			
	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	;	Sample Size
School Outcomes	meun		5120	Liitii	Deviation			0120
School performance ^a	_	_	-	_	-	_	_	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	8.179	-2.066	-0.086	3.825	24,700	0.590		205
Dropped out	19.770	6.921	0.197	6.396	37.946	0.281		205
Received special educational								
services	10.676	0.210	0.008	4.877	32.469	0.966		205
Suspended or expelled	26.022	-0.538	-0.015	6.515	43.212	0.934		198
Behavior								
Trouble with the police	_	-	-	_	_	-	_	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	-
Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14	_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_
Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 15-18	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Had or fathered a haby	11 091	-5 345	-0 189	4 365	31 296	0 222	-	203
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-
Any drug use	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Drinks once a week or more	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

The FTP and NEWWS results for adolescents who were 10 to 13 at study entry are identical to the results for the full sample. Adolescents who were 14 to 16 at study entry were excluded from the full sample because they had already turned 18 by the follow-point, which was four years later in FTP and five years later in NEWWS.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 3.3Impacts on Outcomes for AdolescentsAged 14 to 16 at Study Entry, by Program

Т

				Jobs First	J					Ne	w Норе			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	e Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error 1	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.924	-0.346	-0.316	0.243	1.095	0.157	96	3.597	-0.160	-0.152	0.293	1.193	0.587	88
Performed above average in school	63.689	-15.887	-0.322	10.988	49.344	0.152	96	50.975	0.302	0.006	11.386	50.383	0.979	88
Performed below average in school	5.975	10.273	0.326	7.377	31.470	0.167	96	18.848	0.881	0.028	8.764	33.493	0.920	88
Currently in school	76.261	-6.236	-0.138	8.296	45.316	0.454	133	86.197	1.981	0.096	1.413	31.782	0.164	102
Repeated a grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	14.863	27.777	0.772	9.425	38.665	0.004 ***	101
Dropped out	14.171	0.215	0.006	6.044	36.596	0.972	133	-	-	-	-	-		
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.316	-0.757	-0.020	4.831	31.782	0.876	101
لي Suspended or expelled	22.097	4.759	0.121	7.379	39.340	0.520	138	33.003	14.209	0.288	8.716	47.673	0.106	101
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	36.164	-0.975	-0.020	8.362	46.818	0.907	101
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	8.272	7.561	0.254	6.820	29.806	0.270	130	-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		

							Fu	ıll N	MFIP						
-			Long	g-term rec	ipients						Reco	ent applica	ants		
	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sampl	e	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Siz	e	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>															
School performance ^a	3.973	0.374	0.294	0.477	1.271	0.437	4	2	3.766	-0.076	-0.074	0.300	1.024	0.801	41
Performed above average in school	50.678	26.762	0.526	15.925	50.839	0.097	* 5	2	42.916	-15.569	-0.307	11.689	50.800	0.187	66
Performed below average in school	6.464	-2.765	-0.075	9.544	36.795	0.773	5	2	4.353	-4.012	-0.161	5.105	24.973	0.434	66
Currently in school	81.819	1.175	0.029	13.596	40.192	0.931	5	3	67.919	-11.101	-0.243	11.603	45.680	0.342	67
Repeated a grade	16.679	-7.223	-0.180	9.217	40.192	0.435	5	3	21.415	-10.123	-0.293	9.279	34.575	0.279	65
Dropped out	3.931	16.071	0.493	10.158	32.581	0.117	5	3	12.459	10.880	0.362	8.091	30.054	0.183	66
Received special educational															
services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
<u>Behavior</u>															
ن Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	25.347	-2.901	-0.062	13.614	47.068	0.832	5	3	31.700	-9.544	-0.235	12.429	40.684	0.445	65
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		

Table 3.3 (continued)

		<u> </u>	MFIP	· Incentive								I		
			Long	,-term reci	pients						SSP			
-	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impacts	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>														
School performance ^a	3.973	-0.803	-0.632	0.391	1.271	0.044 **	42	3.646	0.026	0.026	0.145	0.998	0.857	194
Performed above average in school	50.678	-32.326	-0.636	15.100	50.839	0.035 **	57	54.545	3.063	0.061	8.007	50.175	0.703	157
Performed below average in school	6.464	17.271	0.469	7.807	36.795	0.030 **	57	6.410	-1.603	-0.065	3.477	24.652	0.645	181
Currently in school	81.819	-13.050	-0.325	13.805	40.192	0.347	57	68.992	-6.568	-0.141	5.550	46.433	0.238	293
Repeated a grade	16.679	19.161	0.477	11.256	40.192	0.092 *	57	57.143	-8.063	-0.162	5.896	49.685	0.173	288
Dropped out	3.931	20.511	0.630	10.832	32.581	0.062 *	57	11.628	5.948	0.185	4.092	32.181	0.147	293
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-			15.833	-0.249	-0.007	4.433	36.658	0.955	273
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-			20.238	1.713	0.042	5.757	40.419	0.766	206
School behavior problems	25.347	33.844	0.719	13.151	47.068	0.012 **	57	24.167	1.158	0.027	5.249	42.989	0.826	273
[°] Frequency of delinquent activity,														I
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		I
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-			1.401	0.059	0.172	0.049	0.345	0.229	206
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			37.647	8.694	0.178	6.916	48.738	0.210	207
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			27.273	2.092	0.047	6.245	44.791	0.738	213
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			8.235	12.732	0.460	4.717	27.653	0.008 ***	208

Table 3.3 (continued)

							WF	R P						
				Full WR	P					WR	P Incentive	es Only		
	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard p Deviation)-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impacts	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	4.016	0.645	0.581	0.327	1.111	0.051 *	56	4.016	-0.322	-0.289	0.277	1.111	0.249	67
Performed above average in school	69.269	14.475	0.305	16.746	47.486	0.390	56	69.269	-11.617	-0.245	11.687	47.486	0.323	67
Performed below average in school	11.404	-7.758	-0.237	7.914	32.703	0.330	56	11.404	1.688	0.052	7.681	32.703	0.827	67
Currently in school	63.861	0.490	0.010	11.077	47.610	0.965	85	63.861	20.411	0.429	9.274	47.610	0.030 **	92
Repeated a grade	14.546	-8.087	-0.298	7.519	27.152	0.284	83	14.546	-5.974	-0.220	7.499	27.152	0.427	92
Dropped out	17.069	9.781	0.254	8.855	38.501	0.271	85	17.069	-6.910	-0.180	8.258	38.501	0.404	92
Received special educational														
services	29.197	-17.993	-0.406	7.465	44.309	0.017 **	82	29.197	-17.451	-0.394	8.109	44.309	0.033 **	91
Suspended or expelled	28.131	6.057	0.129	10.834	46.862	0.577	83	28.131	5.316	0.113	10.015	46.862	0.597	92
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	15.929	21.072	0.543	11.335	38.809	0.065 *	84	15.929	29.083	0.749	10.442	38.809	0.006 ***	* 91
School behavior problems Frequency of delinguent activity.	27.724	-4.112	-0.096	10.398	42.840	0.693	83	27.724	-7.469	-0.174	9.975	42.840	0.455	92
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		l
L Frequency of delinquent activity,														
9 aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		I
Had or fathered a baby	5.391	0.425	0.018	4.679	23.990	0.928	83	5.391	-2.011	-0.084	5.993	23.990	0.738	91
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-			-		-				
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-		

 Table 3.3 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: Jobs First, MFIP, New Hope, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Results from the FTP and NEWWS studies are not shown for the older adolescent subgroup. Adolescents in these studies who were 14 to 16 at study entry were excluded from the full sample because they had already turned 18 by the follow-point, which was four years later in FTP and five years later in NEWWS.

The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN study was excluded from calculations for the 16-18 year old subgroup because the sample was too small for analysis.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

Unit 4

Impacts on Adolescent Outcomes, by Presence of a Younger Sibling in the Household

Outcome	Program Group	Control Group	Impact ^a	Effect Size	Standard Error of Effect Size	Number of Estimates Represented
Adolescents with a younger sibling		Control Group	impact	Effect Size	Effect Size	Representeu
School performance ^b	3.60	3.77	-0.17 ***	-0.15	0.04	6
Performed below average						
in school (%)	15.48	13.01	2.47	0.07	0.05	6
Performed above average						
in school (%)	51.85	56.49	-4.64 **	-0.09	0.04	6
Repeated a grade [†] (%)	16.71	16.85	-0.14	0.00	0.03	12
Received special educational						
services (%)	12.51	9.73	2.78 **	0.10	0.04	9
Suspended or expelled +++ (%)	28.02	24.74	3.28 **	0.08	0.04	10
Dropped out (%)	10.77	9.06	1.71 **	0.06	0.03	14
Had or fathered a baby (%)	8.95	9.77	-0.82	-0.03	0.04	9
Adolescents with no younger siblir	ıg					
School performance ^b	3.52	3.66	-0.14 **	-0.13	0.06	6
Performed below average						
in school (%)	13.31	11.14	2.17	0.07	0.06	6
Performed above average						
in school (%)	49.85	54.12	-4.28	-0.09	0.06	6
Repeated a grade† (%)	24.54	20.92	3.62 *	0.10	0.05	11
Received special educational						
services (%)	13.68	12.75	0.93	0.03	0.05	8
Suspended or expelled [†] † [†] (%)	27.21	33.73	-6.51 ***	-0.14	0.05	9
Dropped out (%)	10.01	10.43	-0.42	-0.01	0.04	13
Had or fathered a baby (%)	9.71	10.58	-0.88	-0.03	0.05	9

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents Table 4.1

Table 4.1 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations for the subgroup of adolescents with a younger sibling at study entry based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, NEWWS, and SSP. MDRC calculations for the subgroup of adolescents with no younger sibling at study entry based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, MFIP, NEWWS, and SSP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at followup (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Current analyses excluded the New Hope and WRP studies from calculations because the age and composition of siblings could not be precisely determined.

The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN studies were excluded from calculations for the subgroup of adolescents with no younger sibling at study entry because the sample was too small for analysis.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes, averaged across programs. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; ** = 1 percent.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the programs' impacts on the two adolescent subgroups. Statistical significance levels are indicated as: $\dagger = 10$ percent; $\dagger \dagger = 5$ percent; $\dagger \dagger \dagger = 1$ percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

Note that certain measures are not available in some studies. The availability of measure within studies can be seen in Tables 4.2 and 4.3.

^aThe percentage point impact estimates shown here are calculated from the meta-analytic effect size estimates.

^bSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 4.2

Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up Who Had a Younger Sibling at Study Entry, by Program

				Jobs Fir	st						FTP			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.939	-0.241	-0.222	0.087	1.127	0.006 ***	* 613	3.982	-0.324	-0.300	0.147	1.094	0.028 **	263
Performed above average in school	63.027	-4.957	-0.102	4.080	48.256	0.225	613	65.143	-12.832	-0.266	6.207	48.221	0.040 **	262
Performed below average in school	9.273	2.472	0.088	2.469	29.823	0.317	613	10.525	4.845	0.159	4.505	30.846	0.283	263
Currently in school	93.262	0.208	0.008	1.935	23.810	0.914	664	95.915	-6.064	-0.224	2.656	19.920	0.023 **	282
Repeated a grade	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Dropped out	3.552	0.116	0.007	1.539	17.533	0.940	664	1.864	1.247	0.085	1.535	14.235	0.417	282
Received special educational														
services	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		- k 201
Suspended of expended	23.332	1.762	0.1/3	3.344	45.095	0.029	0/8	51.592	18.505	0.388	5.915	47.222	0.002	281
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Any emploine	3.833	-0.537	-0.029	1.382	19.412	0.734	645	2.730	1./21	0.079	1.927	10.547	0.372	277
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-

							Full	MFIP						
-			Long	g-term rec	ipients					Rec	ent applic	ants		
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.664	-0.023	-0.018	0.171	1.309	0.893	241	3.735	-0.230	-0.186	0.158	1.237	0.146	245
Performed above average in school	52.263	2.578	0.051	6.431	50.190	0.689	252	51.499	-6.845	-0.137	6.025	50.143	0.257	267
Performed below average in school	21.557	-0.846	-0.021	5.366	40.873	0.875	254	14.487	4.279	0.117	4.757	36.570	0.369	268
Currently in school	96.772	-2.934	-0.136	2.503	21.545	0.242	256	89.741	1.757	0.062	3.126	28.137	0.574	269
Repeated a grade	17.584	-5.961	-0.156	4.553	38.235	0.191	257	12.407	1.624	0.052	4.217	31.552	0.700	267
Dropped out	2.624	2.789	0.141	2.385	19.751	0.243	256	3.261	1.460	0.117	1.979	12.499	0.461	268
Received special educational														
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	_	
School behavior problems	34.397	9.371	0.199	6.222	47.137	0.133	258	30.713	10.068	0.215	6.026	46.735	0.096 *	267
Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14	_	_	-	_	_	_		_	_	_	-	-	_	
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
								I						

 Table 4.2 (continued)

Table 4.2 (continued)

			MFIF	P Incentive	es Only										
			Long	-term rec	ipients					L	los Ange	eles Jobs-F	irst GAIN	[
-	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-val	ue S	ample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.664	-0.086	-0.066	0.158	1.309	0.587		267	3.665	-0.001	-0.001	0.111	1.155	0.993	358
Performed above average in school	52.263	-3.814	-0.076	6.004	50.190	0.526		286	55.794	0.250	0.005	5.739	49.692	0.965	358
Performed below average in school	21.557	-2.327	-0.057	4.892	40.873	0.635		287	16.118	0.481	0.013	4.446	36.137	0.914	358
Currently in school	96.772	-4.051	-0.188	2.540	21.545	0.112		287	-	-	-	-	-		-
Repeated a grade	17.584	0.850	0.022	4.413	38.235	0.847		286	8.962	-5.164	-0.196	2.995	26.344	0.086 *	358
Dropped out	2.624	2.653	0.134	2.363	19.751	0.262		287	3.697	0.395	0.021	2.063	18.380	0.848	358
Received special educational									0.254	0.055	0.002	2 000	28 (25	0.000	250
Supported or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.554	-0.055	-0.002	5.880 4.825	28.023	0.988	558 259
Suspended of expended	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	20.370	-2.930	-0.074	4.023	39.044	0.343	550
Behavior															
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
School behavior problems	34.397	12.350	0.262	5.720	47.137	0.031	**	285	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
ageu 15-18 Had ar fatharad a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Dimks once a week of more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-

-45-

											NEWW	/S		
				SSP							Portlar	ıd		
	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.551	-0.059	-0.058	0.093	1.014	0.523	467	-	-	-	-	-		
Performed above average in school	50.251	-2.632	-0.053	4.833	50.126	0.586	429	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Performed below average in school	8.333	3.801	0.137	2.865	27.707	0.185	442	-	-	-	-	-		
Currently in school	86.989	-2.022	-0.060	2.895	33.705	0.485	574	-	-	-	-	-		
Repeated a grade	37.687	1.240	0.026	4.092	48.551	0.762	565	7.348	-0.235	-0.010	3.979	24.462	0.953	121
Dropped out	8.075	4.170	0.153	3.177	27.329	0.190	356	21.449	6.372	0.189	7.866	37.662	0.420	121
Received special educational														
services	17.669	2.530	0.066	3.287	38.213	0.442	567	8.648	-0.452	-0.019	6.046	30.871	0.941	121
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-		-	24.975	-0.057	-0.002	7.488	43.127	0.994	119
<u>Behavior</u>														
Trouble with the police	25.683	-1.482	-0.034	4.337	43.808	0.733	401	-	-	-	-	-		
School behavior problems	26.415	0.918	0.021	3.736	44.171	0.806	564	-	-	-	-	-		· -
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	1.440	-0.030	-0.063	0.080	0.478	0.707	155	-	-	-	-	-		
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	1.334	0.068	0.216	0.042	0.316	0.104	245	-	-	-	-	-		
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-		-	9.709	-6.452	-0.243	4.854	30.871	0.186	121
Any smoking	23.729	7.753	0.182	4.496	42.663	0.085 *	392	-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	15.847	4.781	0.131	3.825	36.618	0.212	405	-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	4.494	7.543	0.363	2.704	20.777	0.006 ***	• 393	-	-	-	-	-		-

Table 4.2 (continued)

 Table 4.2 (continued)

				Atlanta L	FA							Atlanta H	ICD			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	ie S	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue	Sample Size
<u>School Outcomes</u> School performance ^a Performed above average in school Performed below average in school Currently in school	- - -	- - -	- - - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - - -	- - -	- - - -	- - -	- - - -	- - - -
Repeated a grade Dropped out Received special educational services Suspended or expelled	20.777 12.303 3.072 25.911	-7.666 4.290 4.756 -4.057	-0.183 0.121 0.248 -0.091	4.227 3.915 2.917 4.954	41.489 35.597 15.807 43.703	0.070 * 0.274 0.104 0.413		344 345 345 345	20.777 12.303 3.072 25.911	-3.809 3.106 1.817 -1.759	-0.091 0.087 0.095 -0.040	4.296 3.657 2.426 4.697	41.489 35.597 15.807 43.703	0.376 0.396 0.454 0.708		390 390 390 390 389
Behavior Trouble with the police School behavior problems Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14 Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 15-18 Had or fathered a baby Any smoking Any drug use Drinks once a week or more	- - 14.767 -	-5.316	-0.143	- - 3.634 -	35.673	- - 0.144 - -		- - 344 - -	- - 14.767 -	- - -1.557 -	-0.042	- - 4.001 - -	35.673	- - - 0.697 - -		- - 389 - -

NEWWS

 Table 4.2 (continued)

_																
			R	iverside L	.FA						R	iverside H	ICD			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue S	Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	e Sa	ample Size
School Outcomes																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	7.691	0.701	0.028	2.853	28.849	0.806		388	8.556	3.170	0.133	3.900	27.108	0.417		256
Dropped out	13.553	-2.482	-0.075	3.166	34.806	0.433		388	14.681	0.667	0.021	4.385	34.125	0.879		257
Received special educational																
services	5.527	5.944	0.267	3.042	24.370	0.051	*	388	5.563	5.135	0.251	3.855	24.304	0.184		257
Suspended or expelled	22.523	3.047	0.077	4.588	44.528	0.507		384	26.513	-6.516	-0.169	5.402	42.096	0.229		253
Behavior																
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	7.633	0.740	0.030	2.829	27.824	0.794		387	7.603	5.377	0.228	3.620	27.160	0.138		257
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

NEWWS

								NEV	WWS							
-			Gr	and Rapid	s LFA						Gr	and Rapid	s HCD			
	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-val	lue	Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-valu	e Sa	ample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size
School Outcomes																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	10.380	10.118	0.350	4.014	28.915	0.012	**	316	10.380	6.387	0.221	3.720	28.915	0.087 *		337
Dropped out	18.065	3.657	0.099	4.359	35.785	0.402		321	18.065	-0.233	-0.006	4.046	35.785	0.954		339
Received special educational																
services	14.856	4.642	0.134	4.289	36.055	0.280		316	14.856	-1.729	-0.050	3.884	36.055	0.656		336
Suspended or expelled	24.661	12.520	0.285	5.184	43.781	0.016	**	318	24.661	3.928	0.090	5.049	43.781	0.437		337
Behavior																
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	15.045	-3.674	-0.103	3.624	35.874	0.311		320	15.045	-0.637	-0.018	3.900	35.874	0.870		339
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.2 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, NEWWS, and SSP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Current analyses excluded the New Hope and WRP studies from calculations because the age and composition of siblings could not be precisely determined.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 4.3

Impacts on Outcomes for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up Who Had No Younger Sibling at Study Entry, by Program

Jobs First Control Impact Effect Standard Standard p-value Same									FTP					
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	e Sample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.842	-0.234	-0.216	0.134	0.961	0.083 *	250	3.861	-0.151	-0.140	0.157	1.057	0.338	154
Performed above average in school	57.188	-1.368	-0.028	6.137	49.335	0.824	248	61.910	-6.224	-0.129	8.063	48.814	0.441	153
Performed below average in school	5.947	7.531	0.267	3.877	23.013	0.053 *	250	10.362	0.057	0.002	4.381	30.217	0.990	154
Currently in school	92.098	1.558	0.062	3.031	27.969	0.608	269	86.126	9.971	0.368	4.155	35.746	0.018 **	• 168
Repeated a grade	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Dropped out	3.162	0.342	0.019	2.054	18.174	0.868	269	2.078	-1.788	-0.122	1.274	15.615	0.162	168
Received special educational														
Suspended or expelled	- 37.773	-13.722	-0.305	- 5.659	- 48.448	0.016 *	* 283	37.057	2.553	0.054	7.383	48.718	0.730	 167
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	_	-	-	_	-		-	_	_	-	-	-	
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Had or fathered a baby	4.231	2.030	0.109	2.611	16.078	0.438	263	8.834	-5.441	-0.249	3.608	28.936	0.133	163
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	

										NEWW	S				
				SSP							Portlan	d			
	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-valu	e Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-val	ie Sa	mple
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation			Size
School Outcomes															
School performance ^a	3.600	-0.027	-0.028	0.091	0.964	0.763	479	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	56.250	-3.003	-0.060	4.755	49.728	0.528	438	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	9.677	0.027	0.001	2.779	29.633	0.992	453	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	86.879	-1.306	-0.039	2.844	33.823	0.646	586	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	40.580	1.804	0.037	4.102	49.194	0.660	577	9.245	-5.286	-0.214	5.801	25.226	0.825		84
Dropped out	9.302	0.954	0.033	3.102	29.131	0.759	366	19.405	4.156	0.113	10.042	38.665	0.940		84
Received special educational															
services	19.203	-2.536	-0.064	3.188	39.461	0.427	581	12.556	3.444	0.110	8.425	34.378	0.946		84
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-		18.447	14.252	0.348	9.404	43.853	0.815		79
<u>Behavior</u>															
Trouble with the police	23.721	5.259	0.123	4.101	42.636	0.200	459	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	26.354	5.685	0.129	3.749	44.135	0.130	585	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 13-14	1.515	-0.080	-0.135	0.080	0.595	0.319	189	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,															
aged 15-18	1.345	0.063	0.198	0.040	0.317	0.120	265	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-		12.447	-1.897	-0.062	8.138	32.104	0.972		82
Any smoking	30.047	2.318	0.050	4.353	45.954	0.595	453	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	19.091	3.581	0.091	3.758	39.391	0.341	466	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	6.635	2.791	0.112	2.537	24.949	0.272	454	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4.3 (continued)

 Table 4.3 (continued)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				Atlanta L	FA							Atlanta H	CD			
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue S	ample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-valu	ie Sa	umple Size
<u>School Outcomes</u>																
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade	19.386	8.333	0.179	7.079	37.960	0.240		148	19.386	5.199	0.111	7.252	37.960	0.474		162
Dropped out	15.290	-0.366	-0.009	5.375	33.714	0.946		148	15.290	3.408	0.082	5.694	33.714	0.550		162
Received special educational																Í
services	12.752	-7.330	-0.187	4.758	32.046	0.125		147	12.752	-6.632	-0.169	5.022	32.046	0.188		162
Suspended or expelled	35.292	-8.684	-0.149	8.363	47.809	0.300		148	35.292	-2.935	-0.050	8.176	47.809	0.720		162
Behavior																
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
School behavior problems	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																Í
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Frequency of delinquent activity,																
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	12.025	1.906	0.052	5.505	30.217	0.729		146	12.025	3.446	0.093	6.150	30.217	0.576		162
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

NEWWS

 Table 4.3 (continued)

								NEV	vws							
-			Gra	and Rapid	s LFA						Gra	ind Rapid	s HCD			
- Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue S	ample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-val	ue Sa	ample Size
School Outcomes	Moun		0120	Liiti	Deviation			0120	IVICUII		0120	Liiti	Deviation			DILC
School performance ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Performed above average in school Performed below average in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Currently in school	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Repeated a grade Dropped out	15.688 19.467	-4.631 -6.157	-0.126 -0.161	5.368 5.734	34.727 38.162	0.389 0.284		185 187	15.688 19.467	4.494 -0.006	0.122 0.000	5.493 5.517	34.727 38.162	0.414 0.999		203 208
services Suspended or expelled	9.268 40.659	5.720 -17.821	0.193 -0.360	5.309 7.231	29.752 48.686	0.282 0.014	**	187 185	9.268 40.659	14.997 -13.086	0.506 -0.264	5.225 6.944	29.752 48.686	0.004 0.061	*** *	208 205
Behavior Trouble with the police School behavior problems	-	- -	- -	-	- -	-	-	-	- -	- -	-	-	- -	-	- -	-
aged 13-14 Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Had or fathered a baby	16.105	0.245	0.007	5.241	37.452	0.963	_	186	16.105	-3.160	-0.088	4.540	37.452	0.487	_	206
Any smoking Any drug use Drinks once a week or more	- - -	-	- -	-	- - -	-	-	- -	- - -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

 Table 4.3 (continued)

-			R	liverside L	.FA						F	Riverside H	ICD		
Outcome	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-va	lue S	ample Size	Control Mean	Impact	Effect Size	Standard Error	Standard Deviation	p-value	Sample Size
<u>School Outcomes</u> School performance ^a Performed above average in school Performed below average in school Currently in school	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -		- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -		
Repeated a grade Dropped out Received special educational services Suspended or expelled	2.505 9.341 7.149 22.553	9.147 -0.872 3.512 -6.329	0.497 -0.029 0.124 -0.155	3.079 4.074 3.980 5.368	19.418 26.907 23.764 44.309	0.003 0.831 0.378 0.238	***	239 240 240 237	1.275 7.708 3.740 24.552	5.513 5.192 6.930 5.761	0.321 0.207 0.319 0.139	4.662 5.629 5.921 7.739	18.973 29.121 27.886 41.558	0.238 0.357 0.243 0.458	115 116 115 114
Behavior Trouble with the police School behavior problems Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 13-14 Frequency of delinquent activity, aged 15-18 Had or fathered a baby Any smoking Any drug use Drinks once a week or more	- - 8.161 -	- - 0.783 -	- - 0.031	- - 3.843 -	- - 27.152 -			240	- - 8.665 -	- - 2.102 -	- - 0.085 -	- - 4.840 -	- - 24.843 -	0.665	 115

NEWWS

Table 4.3 (continued)

							Full I	MFIP						
-			Long	g-term rec	ipients					Re	cent appli	cants		
-	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-valu	e Sample	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample
Outcome	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size	Mean		Size	Error	Deviation		Size
School Outcomes														
School performance ^a	3.063	0.315	0.238	0.359	1.322	0.384	55	3.843	-0.838	-0.654	0.239	1.281	0.001 ***	79
Performed above average in school	21.810	23.700	0.498	14.913	47.559	0.116	56	61.306	-35.607	-0.705	9.940	50.543	0.001 ***	87
Performed below average in school	27.918	-12.560	-0.285	10.050	44.096	0.215	56	14.194	22.044	0.577	7.414	38.239	0.004 ***	87
Currently in school	93.123	4.183	0.221	4.679	18.898	0.374	56	97.902	-11.126	-0.472	5.262	23.550	0.037 **	87
Repeated a grade	17.446	12.745	0.405	10.740	31.497	0.239	56	10.738	9.707	0.301	9.318	32.280	0.300	87
Dropped out	1.944	1.268		2.138	0.000	0.555	56	4.000	2.857	0.121	4.091	23.550	0.487	87
Received special educational	_	_	_	-	-	_		_	_	_	-	-		-
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Behavior														
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
School behavior problems	59.927	-17.910	-0.355	13.684	50.395	0.194	56	27.755	32.774	0.681	9.587	48.159	0.001 ***	87
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Frequency of delinquent activity,														
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-

Table 4.3	(continued)
-----------	-------------

	MFIP Incentives Only											
			Long	g-term rec	ipients							
	Control	Impact	Effect	Standard	Standard	p-value	Sample					
Outcome	Mean	-	Size	Error	Deviation	-	Size					
School Outcomes												
School performance ^a	3.063	0.342	0.259	0.442	1.322	0.441	51					
Performed above average in school	21.810	24.924	0.524	16.800	47.559	0.142	54					
Performed below average in school	27.918	-5.292	-0.120	12.262	44.096	0.667	54					
Currently in school	93.123	5.646	0.299	5.261	18.898	0.286	54					
Repeated a grade	17.446	-10.801	-0.343	9.460	31.497	0.257	53					
Dropped out	1.944	0.195		2.548	0.000	0.939	54					
Received special educational												
services	-	-	-	-	-							
Suspended or expelled	-	-	-	-	-							
<u>Behavior</u>												
Trouble with the police	-	-	-	-	-							
School behavior problems	59.927	3.364	0.067	15.445	50.395	0.828	54					
Frequency of delinquent activity,												
aged 13-14	-	-	-	-	-							
Frequency of delinquent activity,												
aged 15-18	-	-	-	-	-							
Had or fathered a baby	-	-	-	-	-							
Any smoking	-	-	-	-	-							
Any drug use	-	-	-	-	-							
Drinks once a week or more	-	-	-	-	-							

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, MFIP, NEWWS, and SSP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Current analyses excluded the New Hope and WRP studies from calculations because the age and composition of siblings could not be precisely determined.

The Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN study was excluded from calculations because the sample was too small for analysis.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

See Appendix A for more information on the measures in this table.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

^aSchool performance is based on a single question that asked parents to rate their adolescent children's overall school performance on a scale ranging from 1 ("not very well at all") to 5 ("very well").

Unit 5

Impacts on Parent and Family Outcomes for the Full Adolescent Sample

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 5.1

Impacts on Selected Measures of Employment, Income, and Family Composition

for Parents of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program^a

	Ever H	Employed	Employed	l Full-Time	Number of N	Ionths Employed	Total	Earnings
	During Fo	ollow-Up (%)	During Fol	low-Up (%) ^b	During	Follow-Up ^c	During Fo	ollow-Up (%)
	Control		Control		Control		Control	
Program	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact
Jobs First	71.0	15.7 ***	58.7	15.0 ***	15.7	4.9 ***	18,622	5,092 ***
FTP	84.0	-4.3	77.8	-5.6	17.2	-0.2	22,992	-1,976
SSP	59.6	6.8 **	37.6	9.9 ***	5.8	2.6 ***	8,248	1,677 *
New Hope	95.3	1.4	89.9	-0.9	5.2	0.3	18,396	1,335
MFIP								
Full MFIP long-term recipients	68.9	9.6	56.3	0.8	13.2	3.3 *	10,585	1,990
Full MFIP recent applicants	85.7	5.5	65.0	11.6 *	20.3	1.0	25,518	-531
MFIP incentives only long-term recipients	68.9	7.4	56.3	-8.0	13.2	1.8	10,585	1,277
NEWWS								
Atlanta HCD	83.0	1.7	66.7	-5.4	7.9	1.1 *	17,002	4,416 *
Atlanta LFA	83.0	-8.2 **	66.7	-8.2	7.9	-0.4	17,002	672
Grand Rapids HCD	87.1	-0.1	72.4	-1.8	9.6	0.4	25,024	-1,955
Grand Rapids LFA	87.1	3.0	72.4	1.9	9.6	1.2 *	25,024	3,152
Riverside HCD	60.6	7.3	49.7	10.7 *	4.6	1.5 **	10,320	1,954
Riverside LFA	64.3	10.0 **	53.6	9.8 **	5.7	0.9	14,800	1,685
Portland	81.2	0.0	67.3	3.2	7.5	1.2	21,341	2,430
Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	55.3	12.9 **	42.2	13.7 **	5.3	2.2 **	6,543	4,159 ***
WRP								
Full WRP	79.7	7.9 *	58.7	5.0	6.6	0.9 *	16,458	2,286
WRP incentives only	79.7	-7.1	58.7	-6.9	6.6	-0.7	16,458	-111
								(continued)

	Total During Fo	Income llow-Up (%)	Ma or in Mo Follo	rried at onth Prior to w-Up (%)	Coha or in Mo Follov	biting at nth Prior to v-Up (%)
Program	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact
Johe First	36.281	6 687 ***	12.7	-4.0 *	8.8	_2 7
	28,281	0,087	12.7	-4.0	0.0	-2.7
FIP	28,880	-2,152	17.2	-0.3	8.8	0.0
SSP	33,177	3,538 ***	13.0	1.0	12.4	0.2
New Hope	28,326	626	12.4	-6.4	14.7	3.8
MFIP						
Full MFIP long-term recipients	29,979	5,696 ***	9.8	-4.2	12.2	-1.2
Full MFIP recent applicants	35,788	1,982	15.2	2.8	15.8	-5.2
MFIP incentives only long-term recipients	29,979	5,146 ***	9.8	4.5	12.2	-4.5
NEWWS						
Atlanta HCD	41,355	3,216	7.2	-0.5	7.7	-3.7
Atlanta LFA	41,355	866	7.2	1.6	7.7	-1.5
Grand Rapids HCD	45,077	-3,946 *	23.3	-4.7	13.7	-0.6
Grand Rapids LFA	45,077	-666	23.3	0.5	13.7	4.2
Riverside HCD	42,672	-3,362	19.9	1.4	8.4	1.7
Riverside LFA	43,980	-4,071	21.2	-5.8	9.1	1.4
Portland	44,007	-3,254	13.3	11.9	19.3	-4.5
Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	23,670	127	54.1	-0.9	6.2	1.7
WRP						
Full WRP	35,559	1,614	16.6	0.4	20.6	5.2
WRP incentives only	35,559	-346	16.6	4.9	20.6	7.5

 Table 5.1 (continued)

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

^aImpact on employment and income for each year of the follow-up are not shown.

^bAll values represent the percentage of ever having been employed throughout the follow-up, except for NEWWS and MFIP. The NEWWS and MFIP values indicate the percentage of those employed full-time at the time of follow-up.

^cThis measure is the total number of quarters employed during the follow-up for the following programs: New Hope, MFIP, NEWWS and VT WRP.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 5.2

Impacts on Residential Moves and Neighborhood Quality for Parents of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

	Move Follow	d During w-Up (%)	Neighborho Time of Follo	ood Quality at w-Up Interview	Neighorho Time of Follo	ood Safety at w-Up Interview	Zero Neight at Time of	orhood Problems Follow-Up (%)
Program	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact
Jobs First	61.2	-5.7	-	-	-	-	28.6	1.8
FTP	63.3	-1.8	-	-	-	-	29.4	-0.9
SSP	47.8	2.9	75.8	-4.5	-	-	-	-
New Hope	35.7	8.2	2.7	-0.3 **	-	-	-	-
MFIP Full MFIP long-term recipients Full MFIP recent applicants MFIP incentives only long-term recipients	68.5 68.6 68.5	-2.9 0.6 -4.1	3.3 3.4 3.3	-0.4 ** -0.2 ** -0.3 **	- -	- -	- -	- - -
NEWWS Atlanta HCD Atlanta LFA Grand Rapids HCD Grand Rapids LFA Riverside HCD Riverside LFA Portland	67.4 67.4 73.9 73.9 81.9 82.7 86.7	2.2 -2.5 5.0 7.1 -3.5 1.6 * -8.9	- - - - - - - -	- - - - -			- - - -	- - - - - -
Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN	-	-	2.7	0.3 **	3.7	0.3 **	-	-
WRP Full WRP WRP incentives only	60.1 60.1	-6.4 1.9	3.9 3.9	-0.1 -0.2	-	-	-	-

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, Los Angeles Jobs-First GAIN, MFIP, New Hope, NEWWS, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at followup (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; ** = 1 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.

How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 5.3

Impacts on Use of Child Care and After-School Activities for Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

	Jobs First		FTP		SSP		WRP			
							Full WRP		WRP Incentives Only	
	Control		Control		Control		Control		Control	
Outcome	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact	Mean	Impact
During month prior to follow-up interview:										
Used any child care (%)	7.5	7.6 ***	10.8	-0.9	-	-	-	-	-	-
Used informal child care (%)	7.3	7.3 ***	10.3	-1.7	12.5	-1.9	-	-	-	-
Used formal child care (%)	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.4	2.3	0.5	-	-	-	-
Hours in care	1.7	1.7 **	0.9	-0.2	1.6	1.9 ***	-	-	-	-
At time of follow-up interview:										
Involved in sports (%)	23.4	4.1	26.9	-4.4	-	-	45.9	-10.9 **	45.9	-1.7
Involved in clubs (%)	13.9	0.0	20.4	-1.2	-	-	24.5	4.5	24.5	7.5
Taking lessons (%)	-	-	10.1	-4.0	-	-	20.8	-4.6	20.8	-6.2
Any weekly activity (%)	-	-	-	-	91.0	-1.3	-	-	-	-
Work 20 or more hours per week (%)	-	-	-	-	8.1	6.9 **	-	-	-	-

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, SSP, and WRP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

"-" indicates these measures are not available.
How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents

Table 5.4

	Jol	bs First	FTP	
Outcomes	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact
Sibling care in the past month (%)	21.3	5.7	8.9	11.0 **
Primarily in sibling care in past month (%)	14.8	3.2	6.6	12.1 ***
In sibling care during the follow-up (%)	37.8	4.7	0.1	0.1 **

Impacts on Care of an Elementary School-Aged Sibling for a Subset of Adolescents Aged 12 to 18 at Follow-Up, by Program

		Full N	MFIP Incentives Only Long-Term Recipients			
	Long-Term Recipients				Recent Applicants	
Outcomes	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact	Control Mean	Impact
Sibling care in the past month (%)	17.5	-3.4	28.3	-4.2	17.5	-6.6
Primarily in sibling care in past month (%)	13.9	-4.8	18.6	-3.4	13.9	-9.3
In sibling care during the follow-up (%)	40.1	6.7	63.6	-24.8 **	40.1	10.2 **

SOURCES: MDRC calculations based on follow-up survey data from the following studies: FTP, Jobs First, and MFIP.

NOTES: In each study, adolescents were selected for inclusion in the sample on the basis of their age at random assignment (10-16 years) and their age at follow-up (12-18 years). See Table 1 in the report for details.

Two-tailed t-tests were applied to differences between the program and control group outcomes.

Statistical significance levels are indicated as: * = 10 percent; ** = 5 percent; *** = 1 percent.

Rounding may cause slight discrepancies in sums and differences.

Standard errors of the impact estimates for each program were adjusted to account for shared variance between siblings.